

Exploring the Bioactivity and Therapeutic Potential of Structurally Diverse Phytochemicals in Neurodegenerative and Gastrointestinal Disease

A thesis by

Dylan Thomas Marsh, B.Hlth.Sc. (Hons)

Discipline of Pharmacology

School of Biomedicine, Faculty of Health and Medical

Sciences

The University of Adelaide

August 2022

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Table of Contents

Publications included in this thesisiv
Abstractv
Declaration vii
Acknowledgements viii
Abbreviations ix
Chapter 1: General Introduction12
1.1 Dementia and Neurodegenerative Diseases12
1.1.1 Overview
1.1.2 Dementia and Alzheimer's Disease: Prevalence and Economic Impact12
1.1.3 Neuropathology of Alzheimer's Disease14
1.1.4 The Amyloid Hypothesis15
1.1.5 Mechanisms of amyloid neurotoxicity16
1.1.6 Alzheimer's Disease – Current Treatments17
1.1.7 Benefits of natural products in drug discovery17
1.2 Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) and Chemotherapy-induced Gastrointestinal
Mucositis (GIM)
1.2.1 Overview and Prevalence of IBD and GIM18
1.2.2 Pathobiology of IBD and GIM19
1.2.3 TNF α and IL-1 β as modulators of IBD, GIM and intestinal barrier permeability20
1.2.4 Current treatments for IBD and GIM22
1.2.5 Natural products as inhibitors of GI inflammation23
1.3 Research Aims

Chapter 2. Cannabis Phytochemicals: A Review of Phytocannabinoid C	chemistry and
Bioactivity as Neuroprotective Agents	29
Chapter 3: The structurally diverse phytocannabinoids cannabichrome	ne, cannabigerol
and cannabinol significantly inhibit Amyloid β -evoked neurotoxicity an	d changes in cell
morphology in PC12 cells	68
Chapter 4: Investigating the neuroprotective capacity of medicinal can	abis extract
formulations against Aβ1-42 and lipid peroxidation in vitro	94
Chapter 5: Comparing the efficacy of structurally diverse phytocannab	inoids as
inhibitors of SN-38- and cytokine-evoked increases in intestinal epitheli	al barrier
permeability	117
Chapter 6: The semi-synthetic flavone 2',3',4'-trihydroxyflavone (2-D08	8) inhibits both
SN-38- and cytokine-evoked increases in epithelial barrier permeability	in vitro i 135
Chapter 7: General Discussion	
7.1. Significant findings	157
7.2. Exploring the Link Between Intestinal Inflammation, Intestinal Bar	rier Permeability
and Alzheimer's Disease	
7.3. Study Limitations and Future Directions	161
Chapter 8: Appendices	165
Chapter 9: Bibliography	

Publications included in this thesis

 Marsh, D. T. and Smid, S. D. (2021) Cannabis Phytochemicals: A Review of Phytocannabinoid Chemistry and Bioactivity as Neuroprotective Agents. *Australian Journal of Chemistry*. 74, 388-404.

Abstract

Cannabis sativa is the source of over 540 natural products, including phytocannabinoids, terpenoids and flavonoids. These natural products have been ascribed protective properites in various contexts, including neurodegenerative and gastrointestinal diseases. However, the pharmacological diversity of Cannabis is yet to be truly explored, offering exciting potential in the treatment of such diseases.

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is the most common neurodegenerative disease, characterised by the progressive loss of cholinergic neuronal structure and synaptic function. The pathological hallmark of AD is the aggregation of amyloid β (A β) and its associated neurotoxicity, which result in this neruonal loss. Inflammation and oxidative stress are crucial factors not only in the progression of AD but also in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and gastrointestinal mucositis (GIM), resulting in reduced epithelial barrier function. Therefore, a drug which reducess the cytotoxicity of A β , maintains barrier function and possesses anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties may offer wide-ranging benefits in the amelioration of AD, IBD and GIM.

Treatment of PC12 cells with $A\beta$ results in significant loss of cell viability in the MTT assay, while also inducing key changes in neuronal cell morphology as determined by fluorescence microscopy. We identified novel bioactivity for the phytocannabinoids cannabigerol (CBG), cannabinol (CBN) and cannabichromene (CBC), which effectively prevented this loss of viability in a manner independent of either antioxidant capacity or direct interactions with $A\beta$, while also maintaining healthy cell morphology in the presence of $A\beta$. Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC) significantly inhibited $A\beta$ neurotoxicity, while cannabidiol (CBD) proved an effective antioxidant with no significant effect on $A\beta$ -evoked neurotoxicity; cannabidivarin (CBDV) reduced neuritic projections in PC12 cells without affecting cell viability.

To assess the neuroprotective capacities of whole botannical cannabis extracts, in comaprison with pure phytocannabinoids, five proprietary chemovars were selected. The Δ^9 -THC-dominant

chemovars BC-101, BC-201 and BC-401 prevented $A\beta$ -induced neurotoxicity in NSC-34 cells without inhibiting *tert*-butyl hydroperxoide (*t*bhp)-induced lip peroxidation; no significant protection was observed following treatment with the CBD-dominant chemovars BC-301 or BC-501; heating of each extract reduced their neuroprotective capacity.

The final two studies investigated phytocannabinoids and flavonoids as inhibitors of cytokine and 7-ethyl-10-hydroxycamptothecin (SN-38)-evoked decreases in epithelial barrier function in Caco-2 cells. We identified novel roles for CBD, CBG and CBDV as inhibitors of SN-38evoked increases in permeability, with each phytocannabinoid screened, including CBC, inhibiting cytokine-evoked increases in permeability; no antioxidant capacity was observed in the DCFDA assay. A novel role was identified for the flavonoid 2-D08 as a dual inhibitor of cytokine and SN-38-induced permeability increases, with novel protection also demonstrated for the flavonoids myricetin and transilitin against SN-38; each flavonoid significantly inhibited reactive oxygen species generation in the DCFDA assay.

In conclusion, this thesis demonstrates novel protective roles for phytocannabinoids as inhibitors of A β -evoked neurotoxicity and changes in neuronal morphology, as well as novel roles for select phytocannabinoids and flavonoids as inhibitors of cytokine and SN-38-evoked reductions in epithelial barrier function. These findings highlight the wide-ranging potential of natural products as protective agents in the context of AD, IBD and GIM, highlighting novel lead candidates for drug development targeting these conditions.

Declaration

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint-award of this degree.

I acknowledge that copyright of published works contained within this thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

I acknowledge the support I have received for my research through the provision of an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship.

19/09/22

Dylan Thomas Marsh

Date

Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Scott Smid, for his guidance and support throughout my candidature. Without this I would not have been able to successfully navigate the many challenges that have arisen while undertaking this project. I would also like to express my gratitude to my co-supervisor, Dr. Ian Musgrave, whose support, insight and advice was of immense help throughout my candidature.

This project would not have been possible without considerable financial support. I would like to thank the Australian Government for the provision of my RTP scholarship. Conferencerelated travel was assisted by the University of Adelaide, as well as the World Congress of Pharmacology committee for providing a congress bursary in support of my attendance and presentation at WCP2018, Kyoto.

I would like to thank Mr Chris Leigh and Dr Mayu Shibuta for their assistance with TEM imaging and Dr Jane Sibbons for her assistance with fluorescence microscopy. I would also like to thank Dr Peter Duggan for providing transilitin, which played an important role in the completion of this project. I would also like to express my thanks to Dr. Joanne Bowen for her assistance and advice, which helped to keep me on track through difficult times.

The journey through this PhD would never have been the same without my friends and colleagues, both in the Discipline of Pharmacology and beyond. Thank you to Toby, Srijan, Roger, Nathan, Sukanya, Rong, Masaya, Joel and everyone else along the way for the great conversations, constant support and welcomed distractions during trying times.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and loved ones for their ever-present support. To Mum, Dad, Daniel, Jessica and Camila, I express my deepest grattitude for your love and support throughout this journey. Thank you for putting up with all of my ranting and raving and for your constant willingess to lend a helping hand.

viii

Abbreviations

2-D08	2'3'4'-trihydroxyflavone	CBD	cannabidiol
3NP	3-nitropropionate	CBDA	cannabidiolic acid
5-LO	5-lipoxygenase	CBDV	cannabidivarin
5-HT1A	5-hydroxytryptamine	CBE	cannabielsoin
	receptor 1A	CBEA-A	cannabielsoic acid-A
6-OHDA	6-hydroxydopamine	CBEA-B	cannabielsoic acid-B
ACh	acetylcholine	CBG	cannabigerol
AChE	acetylcholinesterase	CBGA	cannabigerolic acid
AD	Alzheimer's disease	CBL	cannabicyclol
ALS	amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	CBLA	cannabicyclolic acid
APP	amyloid precursor protein	CBN	cannabinol
Αβ	amyloid beta	CBND	cannabinodiol
BACE	beta-secretase	CBR	cannabinoid receptor
BChE	butyrylcholinesterase	CBT	cannabitriol
BSA	bovine serum albumin	CD	Crohn's Disease
CB1R	cannabinoid 1 receptor	CFA	cannflavin A
CB2R	cannabinoid 2 receptor	СоА	coenzyme A
CBC	cannabichromene	COX-2	cyclooxygenase 2
CBCA	cannabichromenic acid		

DCFDA	2'7'-dichlorofluorescin	IL-1β	interleukin 1 beta
	diacetate	IL6	interleukin 6
DFT	density functional theory	iNOS	inducible nitric oxide
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified		synthase
	Eagle's Medium	LPS	lipopolysaccharide
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide	MAP	mitogen-activated protein
DSS	dextran sulphate sodium	MND	motoneurone disease
EGCG	epigallocatechin gallate	mPGES	microsomal prostaglandin
FAD	flavin adenine dinucleotide		E2 synthase
FBS	foetal bovine serum	MPP+	1-methyl-4-
FOLFIRI	folinic acid, 5-fluoruracil		phenylpyridinium
	and irinotecan	MTT	thiazolyl blue tetrazolium
GI	gastrointestinal		bromide
GIM	gastrointestinal mucositis	NEAA	non-essential amino acids
H_2O_2	hydrogen peroxide	NFTs	neurofibrillary tangles
HD	Huntington's disease	NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa B
HNE	4-hydroxyl-2-nonenal	OLA	olivetolic acid
HO-1	heme oxygenase 1	PBS	phosphate buffered saline
Hsp32	heat shock protein 32	PCA	principal component
IBD	inflammatory bowel disease	nCB	nalysis
IFNγ	interferon gamma	X	phytocalination

PD	Parkinson's disease	ΤΝΓα	tumour necrosis factor alpha
PPARγ	peroxisome proliferator- activated receptor gamma	TRPA1	transient receptor potential ankyrin 1
ROS	reactive oxygen species	TRPM8	transient receptor potential
RPMI-1640	Rose Park Memorial		melastatin 8
	Institute 1640	TRPV1	transient receptor potential
SN-38	7-ethyl-10-		vanilloid 1
	hydroxycamptothecin	UC	ulcerative colitis
SOD1	superoxide dismutase 1	UGT1A1	uridine diphosphate
<i>t</i> bhp	tert-butyl hydroperoxide		glucuronysyltransferase
TEER	transepithelial electrical resistance	ZO-1	zonula occludins 1
TEM	transmission electron	Δ^8 -THC	Δ^8 -tetrahydrocannabinol
	microscopy	Δ^9 -THC	Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol
ThT	thioflavin T	Δ^9 -THCA	Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinolic
			acid

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1 Dementia and Neurodegenerative Diseases

1.1.1 Overview

Dementia is a state of overall cognitive decline resulting from neurodegeneration, affecting the ability for the individual to function appropriately in social and occupational contexts. Neurodegeneration may be thought of as an umbrella term, describing a number of different disease states that directly and primarily affect the structure and function of neurons. As the term implies, neurodegeneration is progressive in nature and results in the eventual loss of specific neuronal populations within the brain, depending on the particular neurodegenerative disease. Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common neurodegenerative disease, representing between 60 and 70% of all dementia cases worldwide (World Health Organization, 2017). Alzheimer's-type dementia is characterised by impairment in episodic memory along with secondary impairments in word-finding skills, spatial cognition and executive functions such as behavioural control (Salmon and Bondi, 2009). Other major forms of dementia include Lewy body dementia, frontotemporal dementia and vascular dementia, although the boundaries between different forms of dementia are often indistinct (World Health Organization, 2017).

1.1.2 Dementia and Alzheimer's Disease: Prevalence and Economic Impact

Dementia represents an increasingly significant global health burden, with 1 in 10 Americans over the age of 65 suffering from Alzheimer's-type dementia (Alzheimer's Association, 2019). According to the World Health Organisation in 2015, 47 million people were affected by dementia worldwide (approximately 5% of the global elderly population), with this number predicted to increase to 75 million by 2030 and 135 million by 2050 (Prince et al., 2015a). According to the World Alzheimer Report 2015 (see Figure 1), 58% of all dementia worldwide occurred in low and middle-income countries, such as Bangladesh, Vietnam, China and India, with an expected increase to 68% by 2050 (Prince et al., 2015b). Although AD predominantly affects the elderly population, an estimated 200,000 Americans under the age of 65 are currently

suffering from younger-onset dementia (Alzheimer's Association, 2019). In 2015, an estimated 9.9 million new cases of dementia were reported worldwide, equating to approximately one new reported case every 3.2 seconds (Prince et al., 2015b).



Figure 1. Comparison and future predictions for global distribution of dementia in both developing and developed countries. *Source: (Prince et al., 2015b)*

Another important aspect of the overall burden of dementia is its economic impact, both nationally and globally. In 2016 the total cost of dementia in Australia was an estimated AUD\$14.25 billion, with this figure estimated to increase to more than AUD\$36.8 billion by 2056 (Brown et al., 2017). The global economic burden of dementia in 2015 was an estimated USD\$818 billion, which represents 1.09% of global GDP – an increase of 35% since 2010 (Wimo et al., 2017). The current economic burden of dementia has exceeded US\$1 trillion and continues to rise, with global costs expected to total more than USD\$2 trillion by the year 2030 (Figure 2) (Wimo et al., 2017). The following analogy serves to put these costs into perspective – if global dementia were a country, it would represent the 18th largest economy on Earth (Prince et al., 2015b).



Figure 2. Predicted global costs of dementia in USD, 2015 to 2030. *Source: (Wimo et al., 2017)*

1.1.3 Neuropathology of Alzheimer's Disease

Dementia is a leading cause of death in Australia and was second only to coronary heart disease in 2017 (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2019). There are two main pathological hallmarks associated with AD: senile (or neuritic) plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (NFT's) (Perl, 2010). Previous investigations have shown that these senile plaques consist primarily of a central core of beta-amyloid (A β) protein, surrounded by a corona of abnormally formed neuronal processes, such as dendrites or axons (Perl, 2010). A β itself is a 4kD protein, which displays a beta-pleated sheet configuration, is highly fibrillogenic and arranges in a radial fashion within the amyloid protein core. Microglial cells are also found at the periphery of these senile plaques along with reactive astrocytes, though the latter are typically less common (Perl, 2010). A β is also known to aggregate in another form, known as diffuse plaques, whereby diffuse deposits of A β may occur which lack the accompanying accumulation of dystrophic neurites (DeTure and Dickson, 2019). Interestingly, increases in intestinal permeability have been associated with increased amyloid deposition in AD patients, as well as increases in systemic and neuroinflammation (Ticinesi et al., 2018, Kowalski and Mulak, 2019). Various studies have investigated the link between intestinal permeability, inflammation and AD pathology, highlighting the potential role of the gut-brain axis (Escobar et al., 2022). Therapeutics that possess the ability to inhibit amyloid toxicity while also maintaining intestinal barrier function present as attractive lead candidates in the treatment of AD.

1.1.4 The Amyloid Hypothesis

In 1906, a clinical psychiatrist and neuroanatomist named Alois Alzheimer reported the case of a 50-year-old woman whom he had observed, who displayed signs of paranoia, memory disturbance, aggression and confusion prior to her death. Alzheimer reported the presence of distinct plaques and tangles in the brain histology (Hippius and Neundörfer, 2003). In 1911, Alzheimer documented a similar case where the brain histology of another patient displaying similar symptoms identified the presence of distinct plaques, this time in the absence of neurofibrillary tangles (Alzheimer, 1911). Today, we know these plaques to consist primarily of A β protein aggregates. The discovery of autosomal dominant mutations in the amyloid



Figure 3. Sequence of events of the amyloid cascade hypothesis leading to AD. *Source:* (*Hardy and Selkoe, 2002*)

precursor protein (APP) gene relating to familial AD have played an important role in developing our understanding of AD pathobiology and led to the development of the amyloid cascade hypothesis (Hardy and Higgins, 1992, Goate et al., 1991). The amyloid cascade hypothesis proposes that AD is caused by an imbalance between the production and clearance of A β , often occurring as an initiating factor in AD progression (Figure 3). Importantly, the amyloid cascade hypothesis suggests that processes such as tau accumulation and the development of neurofibrillary tangles occur subsequently to the aggregation of A β (Hardy and Selkoe, 2002).

1.1.5 Mechanisms of amyloid neurotoxicity

The mechanisms of A β neurotoxicity have been well established and are multifarious in nature. Determining which form of A β is primarily responsible for its neurotoxicity has sparked a great deal of debate. However, it has been suggested that small oligomeric conformations of A^β are more toxic than mature amyloid fibrils, due to their ability to form annular protofibrils or 'amyloid pores', which may interfere with membrane permeabilization (Lashuel et al., 2002, Bieschke et al., 2012). Moreover, oxidative stress plays a major role in the neurotoxicity of $A\beta$, whereby A β -evoked increases in reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation triggers apoptosis via the activation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (Kadowaki et al., 2005). A β has also been shown to induce 4-hydroxyl-2-nonenal (HNE) production via the damage of lipid membranes, which may then induce further A β misfolding (Murray et al., 2007). HNE has been shown to be increased in the AD brain, indicating a specific role of lipid peroxidation in the pathology of AD (Lovell et al., 1997). Another important facet of Aβ-induced neurodegeneration is the related alterations in neuronal cell morphology. Aß has been shown to cause dendritic spine loss, dendritic simplification and neuritic dystrophies via the activation of calcineurin (Wu et al., 2010, Umeda et al., 2015). Furthermore, Aβ has been shown to cause a decrease in neurite length and overall presynaptic integrity in primary cortical neurons; these changes in cell morphology are an important indicator of non-lethal cell injury (Nguyen et al.,

2012). It may be that an ideal candidate therapy would target both ROS generation and lipid peroxidation as well preventing A β -evoked changes in neuronal cell morphology.

1.1.6 Alzheimer's Disease - Current Treatments

Despite the considerable disease burden of AD, there is currently no disease-modifying treatment. Given that AD is associated with the death of cholinergic neurons and a subsequent decrease in cholinergic neurotransmission, inhibitors of acetylcholinesterase (AChE), the enzyme responsible for the synaptic degradation of acetylcholine (ACh), have been a major pharmacological focus (Vecchio et al., 2021). These AChE inhibitors include drugs such as donepezil, galantamine and rivastigmine which, along with the NMDA receptor antagonist memantine, are among the only FDA-approved treatments for AD (Atri, 2019). Memantine protects against neuronal loss caused by glutamate toxicity and has shown to be effective in this regard (Kishi et al., 2017). However, memantine does not alter the progression of the disease. Inhibitors of AChE aim to increase cholinergic neurotransmission by preventing the breakdown of ACh, thus increasing synaptic concentrations of this key neurotransmitter. This approach has been shown to mitigate cognitive decline in the early stages of AD progression (Yiannopoulou and Papageorgiou, 2020). However, these treatments have been associated with side effects including nausea, vomiting and diarrhoea and are not considered disease-modifying (Fan et al., 2020b). Other treatment options that have been explored include β -secretase (BACE) inhibitors such as lanabecestat, verubecestat and atabecestat, which aim to reduce the production of $A\beta$. However, these drugs have proven largely ineffective in clinical trials (Burki, 2018, Egan et al., 2019, Henley et al., 2019). In this light, there remains a clear need for the development of new, disease-modifying candidate treatments for AD that can demonstrate unequivocal efficacy and improvement in clinical outcomes

1.1.7 Benefits of natural products in drug discovery

Historically speaking, natural products have served as the basis for the development of numerous pharmaceuticals (Newman and Cragg, 2020). Given the vast structural diversity that

natural products provide, many of these compounds present as attractive lead candidates in the development of neuroprotective agents in the context of AD. Of particular importance in this regard are the multifarious mechanisms by which these natural products exert their effects. These mechanisms include the direct inhibition of A β aggregation, reduction in ROS generation and oxidative stress, and activity at various receptors and signalling pathways (Marsh and Smid, 2021). Plants such as cannabis sativa are known for their rich biochemical diversity and provide an extensive library of potentially bioactive small molecules. A detailed discussion of natural products as neuroprotective agents, with a particular focus on phytocannabinoids (pCBs), is provided in Chapter 2 of this thesis.

1.2 Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) and Chemotherapy-induced Gastrointestinal Mucositis (GIM)

1.2.1 Overview and Prevalence of IBD and GIM

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is an umbrella term that comprises two subtypes: ulcerative colitis (UC), which primarily affects the colon and Crohn's diseases (CD) which can affect any part of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract; the primary feature of these conditions being inflammation and ulceration of the gastric mucosa (Xavier and Podolsky, 2007). According to a recent study, approximately 653 patients per 100,000 in Australian general practice are suffering from some form of IBD (Busingye et al., 2021). Approximately 1.17 million people in the US suffer from IBS, with this number increasing by approximately 70,000 each year, while in the UK, rates of IBD have risen by 33.8% from 2006-2016; these data highlight the significant disease burden of IBD (Mehta, 2016, Freeman et al., 2021). In 2014, the total economic burden of IBD in the US was an estimated \$14.6 to \$31.6 billion USD, highlighting a considerable economic burden (Mehta, 2016). Although the mortality rate amongst IBD patients is only slightly higher than in healthy controls, IBD has a significant impact on quality of life, with patients reporting higher rates of comorbid anxiety and depression than healthy controls (Knowles et al., 2018, Card et al., 2003).

Chemotherapy-induced gastrointestinal mucositis (GIM) refers to the inflammation and ulceration of the GI mucosa resulting from the use of conventional chemotherapeutics. Chemotherapy-induced GIM is one of the most common toxicities among cancer patients, with an estimated 40% of cancer patients experiencing GIM following treatment with standard-dose, cycled chemotherapy (Cinausero et al., 2017). Chemotherapy-induced diarrhoea, a key clinical symptom of GIM, reportedly occurs in 89% of patients treated with FOLFIRI (a combination of folinic acid, 5-fluorouracil and irinotecan) for colorectal cancer (Keefe et al., 2014). Chemotherapy-induced GIM is associated with symptoms including pain, nausea and diarrhoea and has significant impacts on the quality of life of cancer patients (Dahlgren et al., 2021).

1.2.2 Pathobiology of IBD and GIM

The pathobiology of IBD involves a complex and multifaceted immune response. Key pathological features of UC include a change in microbial diversity (dysbiosis) in the intestinal lumen and impairment of epithelial barrier integrity via the disruption of tight junctions (TJs) (Yeshi et al., 2020). Cytokines such as interleukin-13 and tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) play an important role in UC via their ability to synergistically regulate the expression of genes responsible for the formation of TJs (Heller et al., 2005). The associated increase in intestinal



Figure 4. Schematic diagram of the pathophysiology of UC, highlighting the role of increased intestinal permeability and the associated immune response. *Source: (Yeshi et al., 2020)*

permeability allows for an enhanced influx of luminal antigens such as commensal intestinal microbiota, whereby immune cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells become activated upon recognizing non-pathogenic bacteria via Toll-like receptors (Yeshi et al., 2020). This process then triggers a further immune response resulting in the characteristic mucosal inflammation associated with UC (Figure 4). CD is also associated with an increase barrier permeability due to the disruption of tight junctions in a similar manner to UC. However, CD is associated with an increase in the expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as interferon gamma (IFN γ) and interleukin 17A, along with TNF α (Yeshi et al., 2020). Compared to UC, the clinical presentation of CD may be more subtle, often resulting in delayed diagnosis (Hendrickson et al., 2002).

Chemotherapy-induced GIM is characterised by crypt loss, villus atrophy, loss of renewal capacity and impaired intestinal barrier function (Sougiannis et al., 2021). The progression of GIM may be summarised as a five-phase sequence: 1) initiation, 2) upregulation and generation of messenger signals, 3) signalling and amplification, 4) ulceration and inflammation and 5) healing (Sonis et al., 2004). Following Stage 1, generation of ROS and activation of nuclear factor κ -B (NF- κ B) results in the upregulation of numerous messengers, including the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α and interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β) (Sougiannis et al., 2021).

1.2.3 TNF α and IL-1 β as modulators of IBD, GIM and intestinal barrier permeability TNF α and IL-1 β are important proinflammatory cytokines involed in the pathology of both IBD and GIM. In patients with IBD, an increase in the number of TNF α -producing macrophages and lymphocytes is observed in affected tissue, with concentrations of TNF α correlating with the grade of inflammation and disease severity (Olsen et al., 2007). The clinical efficacy of TNF α antibodies in IBD serve to highlight the importance of this cytokine in the progression of the disease (Kaser et al., 2010). Interestingly, both TNF α and IL-1 β have been identified as important indictors of relapse in IBD patients (Schreiber et al., 1999). Ma and colleagues found that TNF α has the ability to induce increased barrier permeability in Caco-2 cells via the downregulation of zonula occludins-1 (ZO-1) expression (Ma et al., 2004). Interestingly, TNF α has been shown to induce the redistribution of several TJ proteins, including ZO-1, occludins, claudins and E-cadherin to the basolateral membrane of intestinal epitheilal cells. Moreover, treatment with TNF α not only caused this redistribution of junctionl proteins, it also resulted in the shedding of whole cells from the intestinal epithelium; this event is preceded by the activation of caspase-3 due to the TNF α -induced activation of NF- κ B signalling (Marchiando et al., 2011). Similarly to TNF α , expression of IL-1 β is increased in IBD patients and has been shown to mediate chronic intestinal inflammation (Ligumsky et al., 1990, Mahida et al., 1989, Coccia et al., 2012). IL-1 β has the ability to cause an increase in intestinal barrier permeability via the degradation of occludin mRNA, as well as via the downregulation of various other TJ proteins including claudin-1 and claudin-3 (Rawat et al., 2020, Kaminsky et al., 2021). IL-1 β also has the ability to modulate intestinal inflammation via the activation of NF- κ B signalling, resulting in the production of various proinflammatory modulators (Kaminsky et al., 2021). Moreover, IL-1 β has been shown to modulate intestinal TJ barrier permeability in an NF- κ B-dependent manner in colonic epithelial Caco-2 cells (Al-Sadi et al., 2010).

In GIM, both TNF α and IL-1 β play key roles throughtout the pathogenesis of the disease. During the upregulation phase, NF- κ B signalling causes an increase in the gene expression and synthesis of various proinflammatory cytokines including IL-6, TNF α and IL-1 β . Next, during the upregulation phase, these cytokines act in a positive feedback loop to further promote NF- κ B activation, increasing cytokine production and thus exacerbating the overall inflammatory response and increasing apoptosis (Sultani et al., 2012). This increase in cytokine production leads to the aforementioned downregulation of TJ protein expression, resulting in reduced intestinal barrier integrity. Interestingly, inflammasome activation in irinotecan-induced mucositis has been shown to be dependent on ROS generation and is mediated through the actions of IL-1 β and IL-18 (Arifa et al., 2014).

1.2.4 Current treatments for IBD and GIM

There are several pharmacological treatment options available for the management of IBD and GIM. In IBD, treatment options include aminosalicylates, immunosuppressants and antibodies targeting $TNF\alpha$, as well as general anti-inflammatory agents such as corticosteroids.

Aminosalicylates such as sulfasalazine and 5-aminosalicylic acid have been used in the treatment of IBD for decades (Cai et al., 2021). The proposed mechanism of action of these drugs relates to their reported ability to inhibit inflammatory modulators such as cyclooxygenase (COX), IL-1, NF- κ B and TNF α , as well as their ROS-scavenging activity (Hanauer, 2004, Punchard et al., 1992). Although considered a first-in-line therapy in UC, aminosalicylates may be less efficacious in CD, with only 40-55% of patients experiencing a clinical response or remission in clinical trials focusing on mild-to-moderate CD (Hanauer, 2004). Unfortunately, there are a number of side effects associated with the use of aminosalicylates, including headaches, rashes, nausea, vomiting and abdominal pain (Shmueli and Record, 1994).

Corticosteroids such as prednisolone have also been used in the treatment of IBD, with efficacy shown in clinical trials for CD (Akobeng, 2008a). Corticosteroids possess a reported remission rate of 70-90% in mild-to-moderate CD, although this remission is not always evident by endoscopy (Modigliani et al., 1990). Corticosteroids may be used when rapid remission of inflammation in IBD is necessary. However, corticosteroids are associated with side effects such as hypertension, increased risk of infection and weight gain and are therefore not generally recommended for long-term use (Waljee et al., 2016, Gibson and Iser, 2005).

Given the role of TNF α in the pathogenesis of IBD, anti-TNF α antibodies such as infliximab, adalimumab and certolizumbab have been used as a treatment option for this disease. Infliximab is often used in patients who do not respond to corticosteroids and has been shown to induce remission in CD patients and is an effective treatment for fistulas in CD (Akobeng and Zachos, 2004, Present et al., 1999). Adalimumab has been shown to be effective in inducing remission in moderate-to-severe CD patients and has been shown to be effective for inducing remission in patients who either cannot tolerate infliximab or do not respond to infliximab therapy (Akobeng, 2008a). However, there are several drawbacks to the use of these therapies, including a potential increased risk of hepatosplenic T cell lymphoma and increased risk of infection (Akobeng, 2008b, Vulliemoz et al., 2020).

There remains a largely unmet need for the development of effective treatments for chemotherapy-induced GIM. Currently proposed treatment options focus primarily on symptomatic relief rather than disease modification. Such treatments include probiotic therapies which focus on introducing beneficial bacteria to the gut microbiome. Although partially effective in reducing the incidence of diarrhoea and quite promising in the modulation of the gut microbiome and pro-inflammatory cytokine production, these therapies have produced mixed results in clinical trials (Touchefeu et al., 2014, Prisciandaro et al., 2011). Antioxidant therapies, such as amifostine, have also been investigated in the context of GIM. Amifostine acts as a radical scavenger and thus may act to reduce the off-target toxicity of conventional chemotherapeutics (Bensadoun et al., 2006). Anti-inflammatory agents have also been employed as a means of combatting the pathogenic inflammation associated with GIM. Interestingly, IL-1 receptor antagonists have been shown to effectively reduce 5-fluorouracilinduced GIM in mice (Dahlgren et al., 2021). Moreover, COX-2 inhibition has been shown to reduce the histopathological changes and diarrhoea associated with both 5-fluorouracil and irinotecan-induced GIM (Dahlgren et al., 2021). It therefore stands to reason that a pharmacological candidate that possesses both anti-inflammatory and antioxidant abilities may be effective in the treatment and management of GIM.

1.2.5 Natural products as inhibitors of GI inflammation

Natural products such as flavonoids and phytocannabinoids (pCBs) have been ascribed antiinflammatory properties in various inflammatory disease contexts, including IBD. Given the vast library of natural products found in cannabis sativa, numerous pCBs have been investigated for their anti-inflammatory properties. The most widely studied pCBs are cannabidiol (CBD) and Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC), both of which have been studied extensively in the context of inflammation (Carvalho et al., 2020). CBD has been shown to possess antiinflammatory properties in acutely inflamed colonic tissue from IBD patients, with the ability to reduce cytokine production, with THC being shown to reduce colonic inflammation and functional disturbances associated with colitis (Couch et al., 2017, Jamontt et al., 2010). Aside from these two major players, many other pCBs have exhibited potent anti-inflammatory capacities. One such example is cannabigerol (CBG), which has been shown to attenuate murine colitis via reductions in nitric oxide production and ROS production in intestinal epithelial cells (Borrelli et al., 2013). The pCB cannabichromene (CBC) has also proven to be effective in the context of GI inflammation, with the ability to reduce inflammation-induced hypermotility in mice (Izzo et al., 2012). Along with these isolated phytocannabinoids, whole botanical extracts of cannabis have also been investigated for their anti-inflammatory capacity (Ahmed and Katz, 2016). A previous study demonstrated that a CBD-predominant cannabis extract was effective in the amelioration of inflammatory injury and hypermotility in a murine experimental colitis model (Pagano et al., 2016). Whole extracts of medicinal cannabis offer great potential due to their biochemical complexity, given the presence of various phytocannabinoids, terpenes, flavonoids and other phytochemicals. Given that many of the other major phytocannabinoids such as CBG and CBC have demonstrated anti-inflammatory effects, their inclusion in whole botanical extracts, along with the primary phytocannabinoids Δ^9 -THC and CBD, allow for a more holistic, "full-spectrum" treatment approach. The use of these full-spectrum extracts over isolated phytocannabinoids has led to their investigation in various clinical trials related to IBD, with mixed results (Naftali et al., 2011, Naftali et al., 2013, Irving et al., 2018).

Flavonoids have also been studied extensively for their anti-inflammatory properties and possess the ability to reduce inflammation through various pathways, including the inhibition

of NF-κB and mitogen-activated protein kinase (Vezza et al., 2016). The flavonoid fisetin has been shown to effectively ameliorate dextran sulphate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in mice via reductions in proinflammatory cytokine production and COX-2 expression; this effect was associated with reduced NF-κB signalling (Sahu et al., 2016). Moreover, the chalcone cardamonin, the flavonoid glycoside quercitrin and its aglycone quercetin have also been shown to inhibit GI inflammation in a DSS model of colitis via reductions in NF-κB activity (Vezza et al., 2016, Comalada et al., 2005). The flavonoid epigallocatechin gallate has been shown to reduce LPS-induced TNF α production via the inhibition of NF-κB (Yang et al., 1998). It is clear from the literature that both flavonoids and phytocannabinoids possess anti-inflammatory properties and thus present as potential candidates in the treatment of inflammatory diseases of the GI tract, such as IBD and GIM.

1.3 Research Aims

There remains an unmet need for effective treatment options for AD and IBD. Given the links between intestinal inflammation and barrier function and the development of AD, it stands to reason that a treatment which effectively inhibits amyloid toxicity and maintains intestinal barrier function may be a highly effective treatment for AD, as well as IBD. Phytocannabinoids and flavonoids have been ascribed wide-ranging therapeutic effects in various disease contexts, ranging from neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects to modulation of barrier permeability and gastrointestinal function. It is therefore logical to investigate the potential role of these natural products in the amelioration of these diseases. Here, we aim to investigate the broad protective capacities of these phytochemicals in the context of both neurodegenerative disease and inflammatory diseases of the gastrointestinal tract, in order to further establish their therapeutic potential as lead candidates.

Research aims addressed in Chapter 2:

- 1. Identify phytocannabinoids with high binding affinity for the $A\beta$ monomer and pentamer for use in later studies
- Identify structure-activity relationships for phytocannabinoids based on binding positions and other binding characteristics

Research aims addressed in Chapter 3:

- 1. Determine if the favourable binding characteristics of select phytocannabinoids from Chapter 2 translate to inhibition of $A\beta_{1-42}$ fibrillisation and aggregation.
- 2. Determine the protective capacity of select phytocannabinoids as antioxidant inhibitors of *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide-induce oxidative stress and cytotoxicity in PC12 cells.
- 3. Identify inhibitors of A β_{1-42} neurotoxicity in an *in vitro* neuronal PC-12 cell model of AD.

- a. Determine the effect of structural differences such as alkyl side chain length and C-ring aromatisation on the neuroprotective capacity of select phytocannabinoids
- 4. Identify morphological changes to neuronal PC-12 cells induced by incubation with $A\beta_{1-42}$:
 - a. Identify and determine morphological markers associated with $A\beta_{1\text{-}42}$ neurotoxicity
 - b. Determine the protective capacities of select pCBs such as cannabigerol, cannabichromene, cannabidiol, cannabidivarin, cannabinol and Δ^{9} -tetrahydrocannabinol in preventing A β_{1-42} -evoked changes in neuronal cell morphology

Research aims addressed in Chapter 4

- 1. Compare the efficacy of five medicinal cannabis preparations as antioxidant inhibitors of *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*bhp)-evoked neurotoxicity in motorneuronal NSC-34 cells
- 2. Compare the neuroprotective capacity of CBD-dominant and Δ^9 -THC-dominant medicinal cannabis preparation in the inhibition of A β_{1-42} neurotoxicity in NSC-34 cells
- 3. Determine the relative anti-aggregatory capacity of CBD-dominant and Δ^9 -THCdominant medicinal cannabis preparations
- 4. Determine the effect of heat exposure on the anti-aggregatory and neuroprotective profiles of CBD-dominant and Δ^9 -THC-dominant medicinal cannabis preparations
- 5. Determine whether whole botanical extracts of cannabis exhibit greater neuroprotection than the isolated phytocannabinoids studied in Chapter 3

- Compare the protective capacity of cannabigerol, cannabichromene and cannabidivarin with the well-characterised cannabidiol, against cytokine- and SN-38-evoked increases in barrier permeability
- 2. Determine the antioxidant capacity of each phytocannabinoid in inhibiting *in vitro* ROS generation
- Determine the impact of each phytocannabinoid on the cytotoxicity of the irinotecan metabolite SN-38 in Caco-2 cells

Research aims addressed in Chapter 6

- Compare the protective capacity of the novel flavonoids 2-D08 and transilitin with myricetin and quercetin in a model of cytokine- and SN-38-evoked increases in barrier permeability
- 2. Determine the antioxidant capacity of each flavonoid in the inhibition of *in vitro* ROS generation
- 3. Determine the impact of each flavonoid on the cytotoxicity of SN-38 in Caco-2 cells

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Cannabis Phytochemicals: A Review of Phytocannabinoid Chemistry and Bioactivity as Neuroprotective Agents		
Publication Status	Published Accepted for Publication		
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted w ork w ritten in manuscript style	
Publication Details	Marsh, D. T. and Smid, S. D. (2021) Cannabis Phytochemicals: A Review of Phytocannabinoid Chemistry and Bioactivity as Neuroprotective Agents. Australian Journal of Chemistry. 74, 388-404.		

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Dylan Thomas Marsh		
Contribution to the Paper	Conceptualisation, Methodology, Validation, Formal analysis, Data curation, Investigation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Visualisation		
Overall percentage (%)	85%		
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.		
Signature		Date	24/07/22

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contr bution.

Name of Co-Author	Scott Smid		
Contribution to the Paper	Conceptualisation, Resources, Writing - review & Funding acquisition	& editing, S	Supervision, Project administration,
Signature		Date	July 25, 2022

Chapter 2. Cannabis Phytochemicals: A Review of Phytocannabinoid Chemistry and Bioactivity as Neuroprotective Agents

Dylan T. Marsh¹ and Scott D. Smid¹

¹ Discipline of Pharmacology, Adelaide Medical School, Faculty of Health and Medical

Sciences, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia.

Published in Australian Journal of Chemistry

Marsh, D. T. and Smid, S. D. (2021) Cannabis Phytochemicals: A Review of Phytocannabinoid Chemistry and Bioactivity as Neuroprotective Agents. *Australian Journal of Chem*istry. 74, 388-404.

Abstract

With the advent of medical cannabis usage globally, there has been a renewed interest in exploring the chemical diversity of this unique plant. Cannabis produces hundreds of unique phytocannabinoids, which not only have diverse chemical structures but also a range of cellular and molecular actions, interesting pharmacological properties, and biological actions. In addition, it produces other flavonoids, stilbenoids, and terpenes that have been variably described as conferring additional or so-called entourage effects to whole-plant extracts when used in therapeutic settings. This review explores this phytochemical diversity in relation to specific bioactivity ascribed to phytocannabinoids as neuroprotective agents. It outlines emergent evidence for the potential for selected phytocannabinoids and other cannabis phytochemicals to mitigate factors such as inflammation and oxidative stress as drivers of neurotoxicity, in addition to focusing on specific interactions with pathological misfolding proteins, such as amyloid β , associated with major forms of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease.

Cannabis produces unique compounds with novel biological activity. We describe cannabis phytochemistry relative to neuroprotective properties through anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory actions and via inhibiting aggregation of misfolded neurotoxic proteins such as amyloid β in Alzheimer's disease. Such emergent phytocannabinoid research may afford new leads in the treatment of dementia.

Introduction

In recent years, medicinal cannabis has received a great deal of attention for its potential therapeutic benefits in a wide range of human diseases. *Cannabis* is known for its rich biochemical diversity, containing a variety of phytochemicals including terpenes, flavonoids and a range of phytocannabinoids (pCBs) (Brenneisen, 2007). To date, more than 540 compounds have been isolated and identified, more than 120 of which are phytocannabinoids (Hanuš et al., 2016). A number of *cannabis* phytochemicals have been investigated for their medicinal properties in a variety of contexts, from the management of obesity to the treatment of neurological diseases (Bielawiec et al., 2020, Maroon and Bost, 2018). In particular, pCBs have been variably shown to provide neuroprotection in a number of neurodegenerative disease models, both cell and animal, via a range of mechanisms (Casteels et al., 2015, Concannon et al., 2015, de Ceballos, 2015). Research in this field aims to exploit the biochemical diversity of *cannabis* in order to extend these promising results into viable treatments for neurodegenerative diseases.

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease characterized by accelerated cognitive decline coupled with the formation of extracellular β -amyloid (A β) plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles in the brain, as well as a significant degree of neuroinflammation. This characteristic cognitive decline has been directly linked to a reduction in cholinergic neurotransmission and neuronal cell death (Francis et al., 1999). It is clear that the likelihood of developing AD significantly increases with age, presenting an important and increasing health burden in an ageing society (Qiu et al., 2009). The Australian Institute of Health & Welfare has predicted the national prevalence of AD to reach 900,000 by the year 2050, with current global estimates in the range of 40-50 million (Health and Welfare, 2012, Nichols et al., 2019). In light of these figures, it is essential that an effective, disease-modifying treatment is developed. From a pharmacological perspective, natural products such as phytocannabinoids offer wide-ranging therapeutic potential in the context of AD via numerous

mechanisms when administered in a medicinal setting, using standardised formulations and titrated dosages. These mechanisms include direct interactions with the A β protein, which prevent oligomerization and aggregation, inhibition of acetylcholinesterase (AChE), prevention of tau hyperphosphorylation, inhibition of the neuroinflammatory response and more (Xiaoai et al., 2019).

Protein misfolding is a central factor in the pathogenesis of a number of neurodegenerative diseases, with perhaps the best-known example occurring in AD. This disease is associated with the aggregation of the A β protein, found primarily in 40 and 42 amino acid segments which form following the enzymatic cleavage of amyloid precursor protein (APP) by both β and γ secretases (De-Paula et al., 2012). Aß displays structural polymorphisms during aggregation, resulting in a heterogeneous population of small oligomers, protofibrils and other mature fibrillary conformations. Although it is currently unclear which form of A β is most responsible for the toxicity associated with AD, some evidence has indicated that the acceleration of fibril formation may actually reduce AB toxicity, suggesting that the intermediate oligomeric conformations are more toxic than the mature fibrils (Bieschke et al., 2012). This is likely due to the propensity for oligomers to form annular protofibrils, termed 'amyloid pores', which may result in inappropriate membrane permeabilization (Lashuel et al., 2002). In similar fashion, misfolding of α -synuclein into prefibrillar and oligometric conformations has been implicated in the progression of Parkinson's disease (PD) (Ingelsson, 2016). PD represents the second most common neurodegenerative disease behind AD, with an estimated global prevalence of 6.1 million in 2016; this figure is expected to reach 12 million by the year 2050 (Dorsey et al., 2018, Rocca, 2018). The characteristic motor symptoms of PD include rigidity, resting tremor and bradykinesia, along with significant dopaminergic neuronal loss in the substantia nigra pars compacta (Magrinelli et al., 2016). The accumulation and aggregation of α -synuclein has been directly linked to this neuronal loss via several mechanisms, including the impairment of synaptic function, diminished endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi function, impaired

mitochondrial function, promotion of tau aggregation and the inhibition of microtubule assembly (Oikawa et al., 2016, Wong and Krainc, 2017). Furthermore, the misfolding and aggregation of superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) is recognised as a pathological feature in the development of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), the most common form of motorneurone disease (MND), in a subset of patients (Benkler et al., 2018). ALS is characterised by the progressive loss of motor neurons, resulting in spasticity, weakness, muscle atrophy and ultimately paralysis, often leading to death by respiratory failure within 2-5 years symptom onset (Benkler et al., 2018, Gill et al., 2019). ALS exists in two categories: familial ALS, accounting for approximately 10% of all cases, and sporadic ALS, which accounts for the remaining 90% of ALS cases (Gill et al., 2019). Mutations in SOD1 and its subsequent aggregation are often reported as occurring in 2-3% of all ALS cases, though this figure likely ranges from in 0-7.3% of sporadic ALS cases and 12-23.5% of familial ALS cases (Andersen, 2006). This aggregation has been associated with the impairment of mitochondrial function, although the exact mechanisms of mutant SOD1 toxicity remain largely unknown (Vehviläinen et al., 2014). Protein aggregation has also been identified as a central pathological feature in Huntington's Disease (HD), a condition characterised by excessive and uncontrolled motor function, as well as significant cognitive and neuropsychiatric disturbances (McColgan and Tabrizi, 2018). In HD, inherited CAG trinucleotide repeat expansions in the huntingtin gene result in abnormal polyglutamine repeats in the resultant mutant huntingtin protein, making it more prone to misfolding and aggregation (McColgan and Tabrizi, 2018, Arrasate and Finkbeiner, 2012). The aggregation of this mutant huntingtin protein is associated with detrimental effects on cellular proteostasis, axonal transport, transcription and translation, as well as synaptic and mitochondrial dysfunction (McColgan and Tabrizi, 2018). Although their core pathologies manifest in different forms, the process of protein misfolding is a common feature in each of these neurodegenerative diseases. It therefore follows that compounds with the ability to disrupt or prevent this process may offer considerable benefits in the treatment of these diseases.

Natural phenolic compounds, including cannabinoids, have been ascribed neuroprotective properties in various neurodegenerative diseases (del Rosario Campos-Esparza and Adriana Torres-Ramos, 2010, Fernández-Ruiz et al., 2010). Several mechanisms have been associated with this protective effect, ranging from free radical scavenging and antioxidant effects to inhibition of the inflammatory response and direct structural modification of pathological proteins (Manoharan et al., 2016, Devi et al., 2017, Das et al., 2016, Velander et al., 2017). Natural polyphenolics such as epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) have been particularly implicated in this structural modification, displaying an ability to redirect amyloidogenic proteins into unstructured, off-pathway, and non-toxic protein assemblies (Ehrnhoefer et al., 2008). In the context of AD, compounds such as curcumin have proved effective in the inhibition of A β_{1-42} oligomerization, providing neuroprotection in neuronal cells (Yang et al., 2005). Various mechanisms have been proposed for the inhibitory effect of catechol-type flavonoids, including direct hydrogen-bonding interactions and adduct formation with key amino acid residues in the structure of A β_{1-42} , particularly Lys 16 and Lys 28 (Sato et al., 2013). Furthermore, non-catechol-type flavonoids have been shown to inhibit both the nucleation and elongation of A β_{1-42} via interactions with other residues, particularly Tyr 10-Gln 15 and Phe 19-Ala 21 (Hanaki et al., 2016). These examples serve to highlight the potential for structurally diverse natural phenolic compounds to inhibit amyloid protein misfolding through a variety of interactions, both secondary and covalent.

Several studies have aimed to determine the role of the endocannabinoid system (ECS) and cannabinoid receptors (CBRs) in neurodegenerative disease states (Aso and Ferrer, 2016, Fernández-Ruiz et al., 2015). Neuronal CB₂Rs are expressed predominantly in microglial cells and are associated with the regulation of inflammation, primarily by decreasing the production of pro-inflammatory mediators (Cabral and Griffin-Thomas, 2009). In the context of AD, significant increases in CB₂R expression have been observed in the post-mortem brain tissue of AD patients; this increase was positively correlated with increased levels of Aβ and senile

plaque score, two important molecular markers of AD (Solas et al., 2013). Furthermore, fatty acid amide hydrolase, an enzyme responsible for the degradation of several endogenous cannabinoids, is selectively overexpressed in neuritic plaque-associated glial cells, with increased activity also observed in surrounding areas (Benito et al., 2003). A recent review from Talarico and colleagues discusses the potential therapeutic benefits of modifying the ECS in AD (Talarico et al., 2019). Cannabinoid receptors have also been identified as potential therapeutic targets in the treatment of PD (Baul et al., 2019). In the initial stages of PD development, CB₁Rs are downregulated. However, as the disease progresses and characteristic Parkinsonian symptoms (such as bradykinesia) become apparent, both CB₁Rs and CB₂Rs are upregulated, as are the endocannabinoid ligands for these receptors (Garcia-Arencibia et al., 2009). Moreover, upregulation of CB_1R in the basal ganglia of PD patients and increased endocannabinoid signalling have been associated with movement suppression, providing a potential role for CB₁R modulation in the treatment of the motor symptoms associated with PD (Stampanoni Bassi et al., 2017, Fernández-Ruiz, 2009). The therapeutic potential of CBRs and the ECS in PD is further explored in a recent review from Han and colleagues (Han et al., 2020). Given the general role of CBRs and their selective overexpression in neurodegenerative disease, it is clear that the ECS represents a potential therapeutic target in the treatment of neurodegenerative disease.

Current treatment strategies for AD have focused primarily on acetylcholinesterase inhibition as a means of addressing the cognitive decline associated with AD progression (Sharma, 2019, Mendiola-Precoma et al., 2016). However, while these treatments are capable of providing a degree of symptomatic relief in AD, they have proven largely ineffective in their ability to modify or halt disease progression (Sharma, 2019, Knight et al., 2018). This has left a vital gap, which is yet to be filled by clinically viable alternatives. The use of pCBs and other natural products as inhibitors of protein misfolding and neuroinflammation provides an important avenue of exploration in this context. In this light, the current literature regarding
phytocannabinoids in AD is discussed, as well as the wider implication of these pCBs in other neurodegenerative diseases.

Phytocannabinoids

Phytocannabinoids are naturally occurring C₂₁ terpenophenolic compounds common to all major species of *cannabis* (Berman et al., 2018, Morales et al., 2017b). Phytocannabinoids are divided into groups based on their structure, of which there are currently eleven conventional subclasses. These subclasses include: (1) cannabigerol (CBG)-type, (2) (-)- Δ^9 -*trans*tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC)-type, (3) cannabidiol (CBD)-type, (4) cannabichromene (CBC)-type, (5) cannabinol (CBN)-type, (6) (-)- Δ^8 -*trans*-tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^8 -THC)-type, (7) cannabicyclol (CBL)-type, (8) cannabinodiol (CBND)-type, (9) cannabielsoin (CBE)-type, (10) cannabitriol (CBT)-type and (11) miscellaneous-type (ElSohly and Gul, 2014). These pCBs generally share common structural features including a dibenzopyran ring and an alkyl side chain (Morales et al., 2017b). The general phytocannabinoid structural motif is comprised of 3 moieties: the isoprenyl residue, the resorcinyl core and the alkyl side-chain (see **Figure 1**) (Hanuš et al., 2016).



Figure 1. Schematic of the general phytocannabinoid structure, consisting of the isoprenyl residue (A), the resorcinyl core (B) and the alkyl side chain (C).

These pCBs vary greatly in the arrangements of these moieties, with key differences relating to the length of the alkyl side chain, degree of aromatization and the nature of the pyran B ring (either opened, as in CBD, or closed, as in THC), among others; these structural differences directly impact the biological and pharmacological effects of pCBs (Stern and Lambert, 2007, Compton et al., 1993). The investigation of these structural differences and their corresponding effects on biological activity offers an exciting and important avenue for investigation into their use as therapeutic agents in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.



Figure 2. Structures of the major phytocannabinoids

Biosynthesis of Phytocannabinoids

The biosynthesis of phytocannabinoids begins with the formation of olivetolic acid (OLA) (ElSohly et al., 2017). Although the mechanism behind this is yet to be fully elucidated, Taura and colleagues have suggested that OLA may be synthesized by olivetol synthase from hexanoyl-CoA and three malonyl-CoA units via an aldol condensation of a polyketide intermediate (see **Figure 3a**) (Taura et al., 2009). OLA is then *C*-isoprenylated with geranyl diphosphate via the actions of geranyl-diphosphate:olivetolate geranyltransferase, resulting in the formation of cannabigerolic acid (CBGA) (Hanuš et al., 2016, ElSohly et al., 2017, Fellermeier and Zenk, 1998). CBGA may then undergo decarboxylation to form CBG, or be further processed in either of three distinct pathways, A, B or C, eventuating in the formation of each major phytocannabinoid subclass (**Figure 3b**) (Reekie et al., 2017). In pathway A,

CBGA undergoes oxidocyclization by the flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD)-dependent oxidase cannabichromenic acid (CBCA) synthase to form CBCA, which may then decarboxylate into CBC (ElSohly et al., 2017, Flores-Sanchez and Verpoorte, 2008). Pathway A is also responsible for the formation of cannabicyclolic acid (CBLA), via UV photoirradiation of CBCA, and cannabicyclol, either by UV photo-irradiation of CBC or via the decarboxylation of its carboxylic acid counterpart, CBLA (Lewis et al., 2017, Shoyama et al., 1972, Shoyama et al., 1968). Pathway B results in the initial formation of cannabidiolic acid (CBDA) via the oxidocyclization of CBGA by CBDA synthase (Flores-Sanchez and Verpoorte, 2008, ElSohly et al., 2017). CBDA may then undergo decarboxylation into CBD, which may be converted into CBE via photo-oxidation. Alternatively, photo-oxidation may also cause CBDA to undergo further cyclization, resulting in the formation of cannabielsoic acid-A (CBEA-A) or CBEA-B, both of which may then form CBE following decarboxylation (Lewis et al., 2017). Finally, pathway C is responsible for the formation of Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinolic acid (Δ^9 -THCA), following the Δ^9 -THCA synthase-mediated oxidocyclization of CBGA (ElSohly et al., 2017, Flores-Sanchez and Verpoorte, 2008, Hanuš et al., 2016). Δ^9 -THCA then undergoes a process of decarboxylation, resulting in the formation of Δ^9 -THC. From here, Δ^9 -THC may undergo isomerization into Δ^8 -THC, or oxidative aromatization into cannabinol, which may then be photo-chemically rearranged to form cannabinodiol (Reekie et al., 2017, Lewis et al., 2017, ElSohly and Slade, 2005, Robert J.J.Ch et al., 1977).



Figure 3. a) Biosynthesis of CBGA b) Biosynthesis of the major phytocannabinoids.

It is important to note the current assumption that all neutral phytocannabinoids originate in their carboxylated form, undergoing subsequent decarboxylation in a predominantly nonenzymatic manner, often induced by exposure to heat, light and/or atmospheric oxygen during the *cannabis* storage process (Hanuš et al., 2016, Pollastro et al., 2018). The structural changes caused by exposure to these factors are likely responsible, at least in part, for the structural diversity of the known phytocannabinoids.

Phytocannabinoids in Neurodegenerative Disease

Described by Raphael Mechoulam as a "pharmacological treasure trove", *cannabis* has been the source of a vast number of structurally diverse phytochemicals (Mechoulam, 2005). The following section introduces each major phytocannabinoid, along with a brief discussion of their general pharmacology, where known, and their applications in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.

Cannabigerol (CBG)

Cannabigerol is a non-psychotropic phytocannabinoid generally found only in trace amounts in cannabis. This is mainly due to the fact that its precursor, CBGA, serves as the parent compound to THC, CBD and CBC prior to its decarboxylation into CBG and is thus prone to degradation in order to fulfil this role (Russo, 2016). Structurally, CBG is characterised by the presence of a linear non-oxygenated isoprenyl residue. In general, CBG exhibits low CBR potency with low affinity for the CB₁ receptor, although it has been shown to act as a partial agonist at the CB₂ receptor (Navarro et al., 2018). Although CBG displays little affinity for the CB receptors, it is a potent Transient Receptor Potential Melastatin 8 (TRPM8) antagonist and acts to stimulate activity of both Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) and Transient Receptor Potential Ankyrin 1 (TRPA1) ion channels (De Petrocellis et al., 2011, Starkus et al., 2019). CBG has also been identified as a potent α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist and a moderate 5- HT_{1A} receptor antagonist, accounting for both its analgesic capacity and its ability to block the anti-emetic and anti-nausea effects of cannabidiol (Ligresti et al., 2016, Giovannoni et al., 2009, Rock et al., 2011, Cascio et al., 2010). CBG has also been studied in the context of neurodegenerative disease as a potential therapeutic, particularly in the context of PD, HD and ALS as detailed below. Despite this, the protective capacity of CBG in the context of AD has been understudied, presenting an avenue for future investigation.

One of the key pathological features common to many neurological and neurodegenerative diseases is neuroinflammation (Infante-Duarte et al., 2008). CBG has been demonstrated to target and increase the transcriptional activity of the nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma (PPAR γ), an attractive molecular target for the prevention and reduction of neuroinflammation due to its role as a modulator of proinflammatory cytokine expression (Granja et al., 2012, Jiang et al., 1998, O'Sullivan, 2016). Furthermore, a synthetic quinone derivative of CBG, VCE-003, has been shown to effectively ameliorate neuroinflammation in primary microglial cultures via activation of PPAR γ and the inhibition of cytokine production (Granja et al., 2012). Interestingly, PPAR γ activation has been associated with neuroprotection in an *in vitro* model of A β -induced neurotoxicity using human neural stem cells (Chiang et al., 2016). This perhaps suggests that compounds targeting PPAR γ , such as CBG, may afford a degree of neuroprotection in this disease model, although this requires further experimental investigation.

CBG has been widely investigated in the context of HD, owing largely to its anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties. Giacoppo and colleagues demonstrated that CBG was protective against hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂)-induced oxidative stress in murine RAW264.7 macrophages, likely via modulation of the CB₂R (Giacoppo et al., 2017). The authors also identified marked reductions in a number of oxidative stress markers including iNOS, nitrotyrosine and PARP-1 via inhibition of I κ B- α phosphorylation and translocation of nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B), highlighting the potent antioxidant capacity of CBG. A study investigating the protective effects of CBG in an *in vivo* model of HD found that treatment with 10mg/kg CBG significantly improved motor deficits in 3-nitropropionate-lesioned mice (Valdeolivas et al., 2015). CBG also prevented neuronal cell death in the striatal parenchyma of these 3NP-treated mice, as well as causing a significant reduction in the upregulation of inflammatory markers such as COX-2, TNF α , IL-6 and iNOS (Valdeolivas et al., 2015). Another study using a murine model of HD symptomology found that VCE-003.2, a novel synthetic, non-thiophilic derivative of VCE-003 successfully prevented quinolic acid-induced striatal neurodegeneration, while also improving motor function (Díaz-Alonso et al., 2016). Furthermore, oral administration of 10mg/kg VCE-003.2 has been shown to protect striatal neurons from mutant huntingtin-induced damage in male C57BL/6N mice while also promoting striatal neurogenesis (Aguareles et al., 2019).

CBG and its derivatives have also been investigated as potential therapeutics in PD, primarily for their anti-inflammatory properties. VCE-003.2 successfully attenuated the loss of tyrosine hydroxylase-containing neurons in the nigrostriatal neurons of LPS-lesioned mice (García et al., 2018). A recent study from Burgaz and associates confirmed the protective effect of VCE-003.2 in the same model, observing significant reductions in pro-inflammatory markers such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , iNOS and COX-2 following treatment with 20mg/kg VCE-003.2 (Burgaz et al., 2019). Of particular interest in this study was the development and use of an oral lipid formulation of the drug, which may perhaps lend itself to use in clinical applications due to the ease of administration and lack of invasiveness. Several in vitro studies have also shown CBG to be effective in the context of ALS. One such study demonstrated that pre-treatment with CBG (2.5 and 5µM) rescued NSC-34 motor neuronal cells from neuroinflammation induced by LPS-stimulated culture medium (Mammana et al., 2019). These findings are consistent with a study by Gugliandolo and colleagues using a similar model of neuroinflammation in NSC-34 cells. In this study, pre-treatment with 7.5µM CBG caused a marked reduction in neuronal cell death following treatment with culture medium from LPS-stimulated RAW264.7 macrophages, as well as a total reduction in the expression of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1β, TNFa and IFNy (Gugliandolo et al., 2018). Collectively, these studies demonstrate the exciting therapeutic potential for CBG in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases. Although these studies are generally promising, much remains unknown about the broad neuroprotective capacity of CBG, highlighting the necessity for further characterisation.

(-)- Δ^9 -trans-tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC)

 Δ^9 -THC is the major psychotropic component in cannabis and is also the most abundant phytocannabinoid, readily extracted from Cannabis Sativa (Reekie et al., 2017). First isolated by Adams and colleagues in 1942, its structure was fully elucidated in 1964 by Gaoni & Mechoulam (Adams, 1942, Gaoni and Mechoulam, 1964). The structure of Δ^9 -THC is thermodynamically unstable and readily degrades into its more stable isomer, Δ^8 -THC. This occurs via the isomerisation of its double bond and the resultant shift from position 9 to position 8 (Prandi et al., 2018). Following the discovery of specific cannabinoid receptors, it was suggested that THC was an agonist at the CB₁ receptor (Felder et al., 1992). However, over the years an increasing number of *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have suggested that Δ^9 -THC is in fact a partial agonist at both CB_1 and CB_2 receptors in the low nanomolar range, displaying preferential binding at the CB₁R (Shen and Thayer, 1999, Paronis et al., 2012, Kelley and Thayer, 2004). Interestingly, it has been noted that the *n*-pentyl chain at position C-3 is the key pharmacophoric feature of Δ^9 -THC's structure (Prandi et al., 2018). Modification of this side chain results in key changes to CB receptor affinity, selectivity and potency, where an increase in the number of carbon atoms (i.e. from pentyl to hexyl, heptyl or octyl) increases binding affinity and potency at CB receptors and a shorter alkyl group reduces potency (Martin et al., 1999, Razdan, 1986).

 Δ^9 -THC has been studied for its potential therapeutic effects in a variety of neurodegenerative disease models, including AD. One such study conducted by Eubanks and colleagues found that Δ^9 -THC significantly inhibits A β aggregation via its interaction with acetylcholinesterase (AChE), with a degree of efficacy exceeding both donepezil and tacrine, two drugs that have been approved for the treatment of AD (Eubanks et al., 2006). Δ^9 -THC has also been shown to prevent hydroperoxide-induced oxidative damage to an equal or greater degree than other common antioxidants, indicative of its antioxidant capacity (Hampson et al., 1998). It has also been suggested that Δ^9 -THC may act directly on A β to reduce its aggregation, as evidenced by

a reduction in Thioflavin T (ThT) fluorescence (Eubanks et al., 2006). However, a subsequent study from Janefjord et al found via transmission electron microscopy that little to no morphological change had occurred in the A β aggregates following treatment with Δ^9 -THC. despite observing a similar reduction in ThT fluorescence (Janefjord et al., 2014). This may suggest that Δ^9 -THC interacts with ThT itself rather than the aggregating protein, a known limitation in the ThT assay shared by a number of phenolic compounds (Hudson et al., 2009). Cao and colleagues have demonstrated that THC has the ability to prevent the production of phosphorylated tau protein *in vitro*, while also demonstrating neuroprotection against A β_{1-40} in neuronal N2A/ABPPswe cells (Cao et al., 2014). In animal studies using the 5XFAD APP transgenic mouse model of AD, once-daily treatment with $3mg/kg \Delta^9$ -THC significantly reduced Aβ plaque formation over the course of 4 weeks, likely via an increase in neprilysin, an endopeptidase responsible for the degradation of A β (Chen et al., 2013). Furthermore, older mice administered 3mg/kg THC showed improvements in cognition and memory corresponding to increased synaptic plasticity in the brain when compared to younger mice on an equivalent dose, suggesting that low dose THC may restore brain functions in the absence of any pathological disease burden (Bilkei-Gorzo et al., 2017). Interestingly, the lack of effect in younger mice was further explored by a study showing that Δ^9 -THC administration (also at 3 mg/kg) was associated with poorer behavioural and memory function in adolescent mice, although one that was offset by concurrent CBD administration (Murphy et al., 2017). Such distinct and contrasting age-related differences in Δ^9 -THC effects in the brain require further investigation.

The protective capacity of Δ^9 -THC in the context of PD has been relatively understudied. However, Δ^9 -THC has been shown to be neuroprotective against 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium (MPP⁺), lactacystin and paraquat toxicity in SH-SY5Y neuronal cells, while also reducing apoptosis and preventing oxidative stress (Carroll et al., 2012a). Although the CB₁ receptor was shown to be upregulated in response to neuronal injury, the protective effect of Δ^9 -THC was unable to be reproduced by the CB₁ agonist WIN55,212-2 and was unaltered by the addition of the CB₁ antagonist AM251, suggesting that this effect is largely CB_1 receptor-independent. Interestingly, the PPARy antagonist T0070907 dose-dependently blocked the neuroprotective effects of Δ^9 -THC, while the PPARy agonist pioglitazone was able to protect against MPP⁺-induced neurotoxicity. Furthermore, treatment with Δ^9 -THC also caused an increase in PPARy expression in SH-SY5Y cells exposed to MPP⁺. A more recent study from Zeissler and colleagues has suggested that Δ^9 -THC-mediated neuroprotection against MPP⁺ in SH-SY5Y cells likely occurs via the PPAR_γ-dependent restoration of mitochondrial activity (Zeissler et al., 2016). These findings suggest that the broader neuroprotective effects of Δ^9 -THC may also be mediated via activation of PPARy, although this requires further investigation. In potential contrast to these findings, Nguyen and colleagues found that Δ^9 -THC was able to ameliorate glutamate-induced toxicity and prevent apoptosis in murine primary mesencephalic cultures via the prevention of glutamate-induced mitochondrial membrane potential depolarization, in a CB₁ receptor-dependent manner (Nguyen et al., 2016). Together these findings exemplify the complexities of Δ^9 -THCmediated neuroprotection in PD, highlighting an important gap in our current understanding.

Cannabidiol (CBD)

Cannabidiol (CBD) is the second most abundant phytocannabinoid found in cannabis and the main generally non-psychotropic constituent. It has been widely studied in the context of neurodegenerative disease, primarily due to its neuroprotective, anti-inflammatory, antiepileptic, antipsychotic and analgesic capacities (Weston-Green, 2019). CBD was the first phytocannabinoid to be isolated by Adams and colleagues in 1940, yet its structure was only fully elucidated more than two decades later following the advent of NMR spectroscopy (Adams et al., 1940, Mechoulam and Shvo, 1963). Although CBD displays negligible affinity for either CB₁ or CB₂ receptors, it has been identified as a negative allosteric modulator of the CB₁ receptor (Laprairie et al., 2015). CBD readily penetrates the blood-brain-barrier following

both IP injection and oral administration in rats and mice and has an excellent safety profile with high tolerability in humans, making it an attractive lead candidate in the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders (Bloomfield et al., 2019, Deiana et al., 2012).

Numerous in vitro and in vivo studies have highlighted the neuroprotective capacity of CBD in the context of AD. In vitro studies have identified an ability for CBD to disrupt Aβ aggregation, as well as increasing the degradation and removal of preformed Aß aggregates (Schubert et al., 2019). A study using an *in vitro* model of Aβ-induced neurotoxicity found that CBD was able to significantly prevent PC12 neuronal cell death in a concentration-dependent manner, while also reducing ROS generation and lipid peroxidation (Iuvone et al., 2004). A follow up study from these authors identified two distinct pathways by which CBD may exert its anti-Aß effects. One potential pathway is via the inhibition of $A\beta$ -induced tau hyperphosphorylation, mediated through the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway (Esposito et al., 2006a). The Wnt/ β -catenin pathway has been implicated in the development of oxidative stress and neuroinflammation and has been shown to be downregulated in AD (Vallée and Lecarpentier, 2016). CBD may indirectly enhance Wnt/β-catenin signalling, an effect associated with protection against Aβ-induced neurotoxicity as well as the reversal of AD-related cognitive deficits (Vargas et al., 2014, Vallée et al., 2017). Another potential mechanism of CBD-evoked neuroprotection may be through the inhibition of iNOS expression and nitric oxide production, mediated by the inhibition of phosphorylated p38 MAP kinase and TNFkB activation (Esposito et al., 2006b). This in vitro evidence was later confirmed in vivo, where CBD was able to mitigate Aβ-induced neuroinflammation in C57BL/6J mice via inhibition of iNOS and IL-1ß expression, as well as nitric oxide release (Esposito et al., 2007). In line with previously mentioned studies, CBD has been shown to possess greater antioxidant potential than either ascorbate (vitamin C) or α tocopherol (vitamin E) (Hampson et al., 1998). Other studies have also suggested that CBD may also exert its anti-amyloid effect via the downregulation of AD-associated genes, including those coding for kinases responsible for the phosphorylation of tau and secretases responsible

for the cleavage and processing of Aβ, including BACE-1, PSEN1, PSEN2 and others (Libro et al., 2016). The authors also demonstrated that CBD is able to reduce the expression of GSK3β, an enzyme associated with the phosphorylation of tau, primarily by promoting PI3K/Akt signalling (Libro et al., 2016). Furthermore, there is *in vitro* evidence of CBD reducing the ADassociated increased in amyloid precursor protein (APP) in SH-SY5Y(APP⁺) cells (Scuderi et al., 2014). The authors proposed that this occurs via the ubiquitination of APP, leading to a significant reduction in the levels of APP full length protein and a subsequent reduction in Aß production. It was also noted that CBD could promote increased cell survival, with the authors attributing this to the selective activation of PPARy by CBD (Scuderi et al., 2014). It has also been demonstrated that CBD is able to reduce the neuroinflammatory response and associated reactive gliosis, promote neurogenesis and prevent the development of AD-associated cognitive deficits in an in vivo rodent model (Watt and Karl, 2017). This study also suggested that CBD possesses the ability to antagonise the negative psychotropic effects of Δ^9 -THC *in vivo*, while also showing evidence that a CBD: Δ^9 -THC combination may afford a greater degree of neuroprotection that either compound in isolation (Watt and Karl, 2017). It is therefore clear that CBD represents an exciting and important candidate in the development of novel pharmacotherapies targeting AD.

Along with promising results in the field of AD, CBD has also been ascribed therapeutic potential in the treatment of the non-motor symptoms of PD. In a double-blind trial, 300mg/day CBD was shown to increase the quality of life of PD patients without psychiatric comorbidities, as measured by the PDQ-39 Questionnaire (Chagas et al., 2014). However, this same study was unable to find any significant differences in motor and general symptom scores or plasma BDNF or H(1)-MRS levels, indicating that CBD was unable to affect the primary motor symptoms associated with PD. CBD also possesses the ability to protect against MPP⁺-induced neurotoxicity in PC12 cells (Santos et al., 2015). Several mechanisms have been proposed for this protective effect, including a reduction in caspase-3 activity in MPP⁺-treated cells,

promotion of cellular differentiation by CBD, upregulation of axonal (GAP-43) and synaptic (synaptophysin and synapsin 1) proteins and the induction of neuritogenesis, likely via activation of trkA receptors (Santos et al., 2015). This idea is supported by the fact that CBD is unable to protect against MPP⁺ toxicity in SH-SY5Y cells which do not express trkA receptors, suggesting that this receptor may play a role in CBD-mediated neuroprotection (Carroll et al., 2012a). A recent *in vivo* study also highlighted a potential role for CBD in preventing the reduction of the nociceptive threshold associated with Parkinsonism following exposure to 6hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) (Crivelaro do Nascimento et al., 2020). The authors suggest that this effect may be mediated via the activation of the TRPV1 receptor by CBD. Evidence from an in in vivo rodent model of PD found that CBD was able to attenuate dopaminergic neurodegeneration and the associated reductions in dopamine production and tyrosine hydroxylase expression following exposure to 6-OHDA (Lastres-Becker et al., 2005). A subsequent study using the 6-OHDA model of PD found that this reduction in neurodegeneration occurs in conjunction with increased mRNA expression of the antioxidant enzyme Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase in the substantia nigra of treated rodents (García-Arencibia et al., 2007). As CBD has low affinity for CB receptors, these findings suggest that the neuroprotective effects observed in this model are likely CB-receptor independent and possibly related to antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties instead.

The potential therapeutic effects of CBD in HD have been of considerable interest recently, with numerous studies investigating potential benefits in HD models. One such study evaluated the protective effects of CBD in PC12 cells expressing mutant huntingtin, the induction of which caused rapid cell death (Aiken et al., 2004). CBD significantly prevented mutant huntingtin-induced cell death, with the authors attributing this effect to antioxidant mechanisms. Furthermore, CBD was also able to provide protection against 3-nitropropionic acid (3-NP)-induced striatal damage *in vivo* in a CBR and TRPV1-independent manner (Sagredo et al., 2007). The authors of this study also attributed this protection exclusively to

48

the antioxidant properties of CBD. A subsequent preclinical study from this group investigated the potential role of Sativex (Nabiximols, 1:1 ratio Δ^9 -THC:CBD) in this model. Similarly to CBD alone, administration of Sativex was found to attenuate 3-NP-induced striatal pathology independent of CBR activation and primarily through antioxidant effects (Sagredo et al., 2011). Interestingly, the authors also highlighted a protective effect of Sativex in malonate-lesioned rats via a reduction in iNOS gene expression. This promising preclinical evidence of Sativex in HD has led to several small clinical trials being conducted. Unfortunately, one pilot study of 25 HD patients found no significant improvements in HD symptomology or clinically-relevant biomarkers following daily treatment with Sativex over the course of 12 weeks (López-Sendón Moreno et al., 2016). The authors suggest that further studies with higher doses and longer treatment periods are needed.

Cannabichromene (CBC)

First isolated in 1966 by Gaoni and Mechoulam, CBC was once thought to be the second most abundant phytocannabinoid in cannabis and is considered one of the *big four* of cannabis constituents, alongside CBD, THC and CBG (Gaoni and Mechoulam, 1966, Pollastro et al., 2018). However, CBC has been vastly understudied in comparison with these other, more abundant pCBs and much remains unknown about its biological activity. CBC appears to cause hypothermia, sedation and hypoactivity in mice, while also displaying anti-inflammatory and moderately analgesic effects *in vivo* (Turner et al., 1980, Davis and Hatoum, 1983). It is also a potent TRPA1 agonist, where it acts as a non-covalent modulator with an EC₅₀ value of 90nM as measured by a $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ functional assay (De Petrocellis et al., 2011). An *in* vivo study using the tail flick test as a measure of antinociceptive capacity found that CBC was able to elicit an antinociceptive response in anaesthetized rats, with a maximal response seen at 6nM (Maione et al., 2011). This antinociceptive response was blocked by the addition of a selective TRPA1 receptor antagonist, suggesting that CBC may exert its effect via the activation of this channel (Maione et al., 2011). CBC has been shown to significantly and dose-dependently reduce carrageenan-induced rat paw oedema (Wirth et al., 1980). In line with these results, CBC also significantly reduced LPS-stimulated inflammation in the paw oedema assay by a CBR-independent mechanism (DeLong et al., 2010). A recent *in vitro* study suggested that CBC also acts as a selective agonist at the CB₂R, with greater efficacy in hyperpolarising AtT20 cells than THC (Udoh et al., 2019). Further *in vitro* studies have revealed that CBC is able to reduce the expression of proinflammatory mediators, such as macrophage and mastocyte recruiter MCP-2, while also reducing the levels of proinflammatory cytokines including IL-6 and IL-8, evidencing a potential role for CBC as an anti-inflammatory agent (Petrosino et al., 2018).

CBC has been relatively understudied in the context of neurodegenerative diseases, with very few published studies. In an *in vitro* model of AD, whereby MC65 neuronal cells were induced to generate the C99 fragment of APP, CBC proved to be a highly potent inhibitor of amyloid toxicity, with an EC₅₀ of 100nM (Schubert et al., 2019). This study also highlighted the potent inhibitory effect of CBC on oxytosis, a programmed cell death pathway in which glutamate inhibits cysteine uptake into neuronal cells, causing a reduction in glutathione synthesis, which stimulates increased mitochondrial ROS production, leading to the onset of oxidative stress, intracellular calcium influx and eventual cell death (Schubert et al., 2019, Tan et al., 2001). The ability of CBC to inhibit this pathway presents an interesting avenue of exploration for future studies regarding pCBs and neurodegeneration. Another group found that 10µM CBC was able to protect against Aβ-induced toxicity in SH-SY5Y cells, while also showing that 10nM CBC significantly reduced nitrite production in Aβ-treated C6 glial cells (Iuvone et al., 2019). The reduction of intracellular nitrite levels is an important biomarker in the study of many neurodegenerative diseases including AD, PD, ALS and HD (Iuvone et al., 2019). These findings therefore suggest that CBC may afford neuroprotection in these disease models via this mechanism, though this concept requires further exploration.

Cannabinol (CBN)

Cannabinol was first the phytocannabinoid to be isolated from cannabis, a feat first achieved by Wood et al in 1896 following the purification of red oil derived from hemp (Wood et al., 1896). A partial structure for CBN was first reported by R.S. Cahn in 1933, with its structure fully elucidated by two groups in 1940 (Cahn, 1933, Adams et al., 1940, Jacob and Todd, 1940). CBN is found in large quantities in dried and aged cannabis material, owing to its nature as the primary degradation product of Δ^9 -THC; this degradation is thought to occur during storage (Harvey, 1990, Pertwee, 2006). Interestingly, high amounts of CBNA is also present in dried cannabis, although this readily decarboxylates into CBN due to its heat instability (Harvey, 1990). CBN is pharmacologically active at both the CB₁ and CB₂ receptor, acting as a weak partial CB₁ agonist but binding with much higher affinity at the CB₂ receptor (Felder et al., 1995, Maurya and Velmurugan, 2018). However, there are conflicting reports on the actions of CBN at the CB₂ receptor. Firstly, Munro *et al* reported that CBN and Δ^9 -THC were equipotent at the CB₂R, a finding which has since been disputed by Rhee and colleagues, who found CBN to be 2-4 times less potent (Munro et al., 1993, Rhee et al., 1997). Furthermore, in the cyclic AMP assay in COS-7 cells transfected with rat CB₂ receptors, CBN acted as a CB₂R agonist at 1µM, while in human CB2-transfigfected CHO cells, CBN acted as an inverse agonist in the GTPyS binding assay at sub-micromolar concentrations (Rhee et al., 1997, MacLennan et al., 1998). However, Turner and colleagues have suggested that this discrepancy may result from the differing concentration ranges used in each experiment, highlighting the relationship between ligand concentrations and variances in the conformational state of receptors in tissue (Turner et al., 2017, Kenakin, 2001). CBN has also been identified as a potent TRPA1 agonist, while also displaying inhibitory action at TRPM8 cation channels (De Petrocellis et al., 2011). The multifaceted receptor activity of CBN presents a vast and interesting area of exploration for future studies, with potential implications in the field of neuroprotection.

Although understudied in this context, CBN has been identified as neuroprotective in several neurodegenerative disease models. A study by Schubert and colleagues confirmed that CBN was able to afford neuroprotection via the inhibition of oxytosis, in similar fashion to CBC, with an EC₅₀ of 700nM (Schubert et al., 2019). This study also determined that CBN was neuroprotective against A β in vitro, with the ability to prevent protein aggregation as well stimulating the degradation and removal of pre-formed Aβ aggregates (Schubert et al., 2019). Importantly, it was also shown that substituting the hydroxyl group at position 1 of the aromatic ring in CBN with a methoxy group rendered the compound inactive. This inactivation was also observed in JWH133, a Δ^8 -THC analogue that lacks the aromatic hydroxyl group at position 1, along with the CB₁ agonists RCS-8 and MDA19 which also lack an aromatic hydroxyl group (Schubert et al., 2019). These findings suggest that the presence of an aromatic hydroxyl group is essential for neuroprotection. In a study using the SOD1 (G93A) mouse model of ALS, daily treatment with 5mg/kg CBN over 12 weeks was shown to significantly delay the onset of disease, though it was unable to prolong survival (Weydt et al., 2005). CBN has also been shown to be neuroprotective in an *in vitro* model of HD, where it acted to decrease LDH release from PC12 cells transfected with mutant huntingtin, with an EC₅₀ of 30µM (Aiken et al., 2004). Overall, CBN presents itself as a promising candidate in lead development for the treatment of a number of neurodegenerative diseases, particularly where it lacks the negative psychotropism of its progenitor, Δ^9 -THC.

Other pCBs and Cannabis Phytochemicals

Although major pCBs such as CBD and Δ^9 -THC have been studied extensively for their neuroprotective potential, the surface has barely been scratched when it comes many of the other less abundant pCBs, with a relative paucity of studies. Below is a summary of the general findings for these pCBs as they relate to neurodegeneration, as well as emerging information regarding other non-cannabinoid phytochemicals found in the cannabis plant.

(-)- Δ^8 -trans-tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^8 -THC)

 Δ^{8} -THC is a mildly intoxicating isomer of Δ^{9} -THC which provides for increased thermodynamic stability over its precursor, afforded by a change of its double bond from position 9 to position 8 (Prandi et al., 2018). Δ^{8} -THC is pharmacologically active at both CB₁ and CB₂ receptors, with equivalent potency to Δ^{9} -THC (Stern and Lambert, 2007, Howlett et al., 2002). This CBR activity is thought to be responsible for the anti-inflammatory effects of Δ^{8} -THC, as made evident by Thapa and colleagues (Thapa et al., 2018). The authors induced corneal hyperalgesia via chemical cauterization of the corneal epithelium in both wild-type and CB₂R knockout mice. Topical application of Δ^{8} -THC effectively reduced the pain score and neutrophil infiltration in wild-type mice. Interestingly, this antinociceptive activity was blocked by the addition of the CB₁ receptor antagonist AM251, while Δ^{8} -THC maintained its antinociceptive capacity in CB₂R knockout mice, indicating that the antinociceptive and antiinflammatory effects of Δ^{8} -THC are mediated by the CB₁ receptor (Thapa et al., 2018).

As with many pCBs, the potential capacity of Δ^8 -THC as a neuroprotective agent has been largely understudied. However, Δ^8 -THC has been identified as an effective inhibitor of oxytosis *in vitro* with an EC₅₀ of 400nM, while also effectively preventing Aβ-induced toxicity in MC65 cells with an EC₅₀ of 85nM (Schubert et al., 2019). Interestingly, Δ^8 -THC displayed lower EC₅₀ values than Δ^9 -THC in each of these settings, indicating increased potency of the isomer over its parent compound. In an *in vivo* model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, treatment with 40mg/kg Δ^8 -THC for up to 21 days was shown to significantly reduce the incidence and severity of neurological deficits in both Hebrew University and Lewis rats, while also increasing glucocorticoid secretion (Wirguin et al., 1994). The authors postulate that this increase in corticosterone secretion may be the mechanism by which Δ^8 -THC affords this neuroprotection, an idea supported by the work of MacPhee and colleagues (MacPhee et al., 1989). These studies indicate a range of potential mechanisms by which Δ^8 -THC may provide protection in neurodegenerative disease models, with further investigation required for confirmation and clarification.

Cannabicyclol (CBL), Cannabinodiol (CBND), Cannabitriol (CBT) & Cannabielsoin (CBE)

Cannabicyclol was first isolated by Korte and Sieper in 1964, with its structure later independently elucidated by both Clausen and colleagues and Gaoni and Mechoulam; CBL is found only in relatively minor concentrations in the cannabis plant (Korte and Sieper, 1964, Gaoni and Mechoulam, 1971, Claussen et al., 1968, Vree et al., 1972). Cannabinodiol is a derivative Δ^9 -THC, resulting from the photochemical conversion of CBN. Structurally, CBND presents as the fully aromatized form of CBD and was first isolated from a hexane-ether extract of Lebanese hashish by Lousberg et al in 1977 (Robert J.J.Ch et al., 1977). Cannabitriol was first reported in 1966 by Obata and Ishikawa, with its structure fully elucidated more than a decade later by the work of Chan and colleagues (Obata and Ishikawa, 1966, Chan et al., 1976). Bercht et al identified Cannabielsoin in an ethanolic extract of Lebanese hashish in 1973, with its structure determined by Uliss and colleagues in 1974 via synthesis from cannabidiol acetate; the carboxylic acid forms of CBE, CBEA-A and CBEA-B, were isolated and synthesized by Shani and Mechoulam in 1974 (Bercht et al., 1973, Uliss et al., 1974, Shani and Mechoulam, 1974). Surprisingly, none of these pCBs have been investigated for their biological effects, with the exception of CBE. A study by Yamamoto and colleagues identified CBE as a mammalian metabolite of CBD both in vitro and in vivo in the guinea pig (Yamamoto et al., 1988). This study also investigated the pharmacological effects of CBE on body temperature and pentobarbital-induced sleep; intravenous injection of 10mg/kg CBE had little effect in each case. Given the lack of investigation into the biological and pharmacological effects of these pCBs, it is clear that a large gap remains in our understanding of the bioactivity of such minor phytocannabinoids.

Cannflavin A & Canniprene

Although the phytocannabinoids tend to garner the majority of attention, *cannabis* is also the source of a vast array of other phenolic compounds with diverse biological and pharmacological profiles. One such example is cannflavin A (CFA), a geranylated flavonoid unique to cannabis sativa, which was isolated from an ethanolic extract by Barrett and colleagues in 1985, though a corresponding structure was first described by Crombie, Crombie and Jamieson in 1980 (Barrett et al., 1985, Russo and Marcu, 2017, Crombie et al., 1980). The biosynthesis of CFA differs from the phytocannabinoids in that it involves the enzymatic conversion of several flavonoid precursors, namely luteolin and chrysoeriol. Firstly, luteolin undergoes regiospecific methylation via the actions of C. sativa O-methyltransferase 21 (CsOMT21), resulting in the formation of chrysoeriol, which may then be geranylated by C. sativa prenyltransferase 3 (CsPT3) to form CFA (Rea et al., 2019). The addition of a prenylated side chain, such as the geranyl side chain of CFA, is thought to increase the lipophilicity of the compound and often results in altered biological activity in comparison to other flavonoids (Šmejkal, 2014). Barrett and colleagues also identified CFA as an inhibitor of prostaglandin production in vitro, where CFA was able to inhibit PGE₂ production in cultured synovial cells with an almost 30-fold increase in potency over aspirin (IC₅₀ values of 31ng/mL and 840ng/mL, respectively) (Barrett et al., 1985). Further investigation by Werz et al identified the inhibition of microsomal prostaglandin E₂ synthase (mPGES-1) and 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO) as the specific molecular mechanisms by which CFA exerts this effect (Werz et al., 2014). Although more than 30 years have lapsed since its discovery, CFA remains virtually unstudied in the context neurodegenerative disease. However, a recent study by Eggers et al found that 10µM CFA significantly inhibited A β_{1-42} -induced cytotoxicity in PC12 cells associated with reduction in the density of A β_{1-42} aggregates (Eggers et al., 2019). It is apparent from this study that CFA possesses some degree of neuroprotective potential in the context of AD.

Among the myriad of *cannabis* phenolics is the dihydrostilbene canniprene, an isoprenylated bibenzyl unique to cannabis first identified by Crombie and Crombie in 1978 (Crombie et al., 1978). As is the case for many cannabis constituents, canniprene has been relatively unstudied and much remains unknown about its biological and pharmacological effects. In one of the few studies of canniprene bioactivity, Allegrone and colleagues identified the compound as an inhibitor of inflammation (Allegrone et al., 2017). The authors demonstrated that canniprene was able to inhibit 5-LO activity with greater efficacy than CFA, however it was less effective in the inhibition of mPGES-1 activity than CFA (Allegrone et al., 2017). Although this study was limited in its scope it is clear that inflammation plays a vital role in neurodegeneration. Therefore, compounds with anti-inflammatory properties such as canniprene present as attractive and novel candidates for future study.

Cannabinoid SARs in AD: Insights from in silico Molecular Modelling

Given that a number of studies have investigated direct phytocannabinoid interactions with A β as a mechanism of neuroprotection, it follows that molecular modelling can be used to provide *in silico* insights and predictions to guide *in vitro* assays and potentially further preclinical development. Molecular modelling can provide information about ligand binding interactions with proteins such as A β , with particular relevance to fibril and aggregate formation. Furthermore, this *in silico* approach provides information on possible protein binding domains for small molecule interactions, which may then be used to interpret the potential molecular basis for neuroprotection, allowing for efficient, iterative lead development with relatively high throughput. As A β is capable of adopting multiple structural conformations of varying (and contestable) neurotoxicity during fibrillogenesis, modelling is presented here for pCB ligand interactions with both the monomeric and oligomeric species of A β_{1-42} , the major isoform found in the human brain.

Molecular Modelling: Results

The ten major phytocannabinoids were docked with the A β_{1-42} monomer (PDB ID: 1IYT) and pentamer (PBD ID: 2BEG) using CLC Drug Discovery Workbench (v2.4.1), as described previously (Marsh et al., 2017). The Δ^9 -THC homologue tetrahydrocannabivarin (THCV) and the CBD homologue cannabidivarin (CBDV) were also included in this docking summary in order to identify differences in binding properties afforded by the presence of an *n*-propyl side chain at position 3 (THCV and CBDV) rather than an *n*-pentyl side chain (Δ^9 -THC and CBD).



Figure 4. Docking positions for the phytocannabinoids with the $A\beta_{1-42}$ monomer (PDB ID: 1-IYT). (a) CBG, (b) Δ^9 -THC, (c) CBD, (d) CBC, (e) CBN, (f) Δ^8 -THC, (g) CBL, (h) CBND, (i) CBE, (j) CBT, (k) THCV, (l) CBDV. Most pCBs bound within the centre of the monomer, with variable hydrogen bonding and steric interactions noted.

Docking results for each pCB with the $A\beta_{1-42}$ monomer (**PDB ID: 11YT**) are summarised in Table 1. CBG (**Fig. 4a**) possessed the highest affinity for the monomer (docking score of -55.87), followed by CBN (-50.07), with CBDV (-35.01) (**Fig. 4e and l**) displaying the lowest binding affinity of all pCBs. The majority of pCBs bound towards the centre of the monomer, displaying diverse hydrogen bonding interactions (Figure 3). Notable exceptions include CBG and CBE (**Fig. 4i**) (-48.92), neither of which displayed any degree of hydrogen bonding with the monomer. However, a high degree of steric interaction for these pCBs was noted, with scores of -57.84 and -50.13, respectively. In contrast, CBT (**Fig. 4j**) (-46.83) alone bound towards the *N*-terminus, interacting with residues Glu 3, His 6 and Asp 7. Several pCBs, such as CBN (**Fig. 4e**), Δ^9 -THC (**Fig. 4b**) (-48.28), THCV (**Fig. 4k**) (-47.51), Δ^8 -THC (**Fig. 4f**) (-45.29) and CBD (**Fig. 4c**) (-44.46) formed hydrogen bonds with the key Lys 16 residue with several others, such as CBC (**Fig. 4d**) (-48.40) and CBL (**Fig. 4g**) (-45.47) binding in close proximity. CBND (**Fig. 4h**) (-42.81) bound further towards the centre of the monomer, interacting with Phe 19 and Asp 23.

рСВ	Structure	Docking	Steric	H-bond	H-bond
		Score	Interaction	Forming	Score
			Score	Residues	
CBG) OH	-55.87	-57.84	None	0.00
Δ ⁹ -THC	J → H →	-48.28	-45.93	Gln 15, Lys 16	-3.48
CBD	OH OH OH	-44.46	-43.47	Lys 16	-2.00
СВС	OH Of of of	-48.40	-46.07	Glu 11, Val 12, Gln 15	-4.16
CBN	HO OH	-50.07	-47.17	Gln 15, Lys 16	-3.30
Δ ⁸ -THC	HO OH	-45.29	-40.07	Val 12, Gln 15, Lys 16	-5.66
CBL	¢ ↓ ↓	-45.47	-45.57	Gln 15	-2.00

CBND	OH OH	-42.81	-45.58	Phe 19, Asp 23	-4.00
CBE	OH COH	-48.92	-50.13	None	0.00
CBT	OHOH OH CHOH	-46.83	-39.01	Glu 3, His 6, Asp 7	-8.00
THCV	OH COH	-47.51	-44.51	Gln 15, Lys 16	-3.38
CBDV		-35.01	-38.91	Glu 11, His 14	-6.00

Table 1. Docking profiles of phytocannabinoids with the $A\beta_{1-42}$ monomer (**PDB ID: 1-IYT**).

Docking results for the pCBs with the A β pentamer (**PDB ID: 2BEG**) are summarised in Table 2. This oligomeric structure is comprised of five aligned and segmented A β monomers (chains A, B, C, D and E), each consisting of residues 17-42 of the full A β_{1-42} structure. In accordance with the monomer docking results, CBG (**Fig. 5a**) bound to the pentamer with the highest affinity of all pCBs by a considerable margin (docking score of -87.92), followed by CBN (**Fig. 5e**) (-76.66), with CBDV (**Fig. 5l**) (-44.46) again displaying the lowest affinity. All of the pCBs interacted with the hydrophobic groove of the A β oligomer, with CBG exhibiting the greatest degree of hydrogen bonding, interacting with Leu 17, Val 18 and Phe 19 of Chain D, along with Gly 38 of Chain E. CBDV, THCV (**Fig. 5k**) (-51.07) and Δ^9 -THC (**Fig. 5b**) (-57.27) each bound

exclusively with Leu 17 of Chain C, with CBL (**Fig. 5g**) (-54.59) and Δ^8 -THC (**Fig. 5f**) (-58.76) binding exclusively with Leu 17 of Chain E. Other pCBs including CBT (**Fig. 5j**) (-56.00) and CBND (**Fig. 5h**) (-49.17) also bound to Leu 17 of Chain C, while also interacting with Val 18 of Chain B and D, respectively. Both CBN and CBC (**Fig. 5d**) (-72.70) also bound to Val 18 of Chain D, with CBN also forming hydrogen bonds with Phe 19 of Chain D and Leu 17 of Chain E; CBC also bound to Leu 17 and Phe 19 of Chain E. CBE (**Fig. 5i**) (-60.12) formed hydrogen bonding interactions exclusively with Chain E, where it interacted with Leu 17, Phe 19 and Gly 37. Of all the pCBs, CBD (**Fig. 5c**) (-47.21) alone displayed no hydrogen bonding interactions with the Aβ pentamer, although a relatively high steric interaction score of -49.57 was observed.



Figure 5. Docking positions for the phytocannabinoids with the A β pentamer (PDB ID: 2BEG). (a) CBG, (b) Δ^9 -THC, (c) CBD, (d) CBC, (e) CBN, (f) Δ^8 -THC, (g) CBL, (h) CBND, (i) CBE, (j) CBT, (k) THCV, (l) CBDV. Cannabigerol (CBG) exhibited the greatest steric interaction score, a feature noted with extensively prenylated tails. This enables an avid binding to the hydrophobic groove in the oligomeric amyloid β sheet.

рСВ	Structure	Docking	Steric	H-bond	H-bond
		Score	Interaction	Forming	Score
			Score	Residues	
				(Chain)	
CBG	J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J	-87.92	-84.97	Leu 17, Val 18, Val 39 (D), Gly 38 (E)	-7.23
Δ ⁹ -THC	CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH C	-57.27	-55.81	Leu 17 (C)	-2.00
CBD	OH OH OH	-47.21	-49.57	None	0.00
CBC		-72.70	-69.03	Val 18, Phe 19 (D), Leu 17 (E)	-5.96
CBN	H ^o OH	-76.66	-72.92	Val 18 (D), Leu 17, Phe 19 (E)	-4.97
Δ ⁸ -THC		-58.76	-57.59	Leu 17 (E)	-2.00
CBL	OH C	-54.59	-53.78	Leu 17 (E)	-2.00
CBND	ЭН ОН ОН ОН ОН	-49.17	-51.71	Leu 17, Val 18 (C)	-5.77

CBE	OH OH	-60.12	-56.07	Leu 17, Phe 19, Gly 37 (E)	-5.56
CBT	OH OH OH	-56.00	-51.56	Val 18 (B), Leu 17 (C)	-5.54
THCV	OH +O	-51.07	-50.82	Leu 17 (C)	-0.64
CBDV	OH H H H	-44.46	-52.77	Leu 17 (C)	-1.60

Table 2. Docking profiles of phytocannabinoids with the A β pentamer (PDB ID: 2BEG)

Molecular Modelling: Discussion

Modelling with both the $A\beta$ monomer and pentamer revealed that each of these pCBs interacted with the $A\beta$ protein primarily via steric and hydrogen bonding interactions. The results showed that CBG bound with the highest affinity of all the pCBs in this study. This is likely due to the presence of a geranyl side chain in the structure of CBG, as this side chain is associated with increased lipophilicity and may therefore increase the propensity for binding within the hydrophobic groove of the amyloid β pentamer (Šmejkal, 2014). Of particular interest in this study was the relationship between alkyl side chain length and $A\beta$ biding affinity. A consistent pattern was identified in both the monomer and pentamer modelling, whereby increased alkyl chain length was associated with an increase in binding affinity. This is made evident by the higher docking score of pCBs containing a pentyl side chain, such as Δ^9 -THC and CBD, when compared to their propyl side chain counterparts, THCV and CBDV. Interestingly, this increase in binding affinity correlates with the increased cannabinoid receptor potency observed with increased side chain length (Martin et al., 1999, Prandi et al., 2018, Razdan, 1986). Increased alkyl chain length has been associated with increased hydrophobicity in other contexts (Wang and Gao, 2018, Gao et al., 2017). This may therefore serve as a possible explanation for the higher binding affinity of the pentyl chain-possessing pCBs modelled in this study, particularly for those interactions with the hydrophobic groove of the amyloid pentamer. An interesting point to note from the docking simulation is that the degree of aromatisation appears to impact binding affinity. This is most evident in the comparison between Δ^9 -THC and CBN, its fully aromatised counterpart, where CBN bound with much higher affinity, most notably with the Aβ pentamer. The increased binding affinity may perhaps be afforded by the full resonance distribution and high degree of planarity of the fully aromatised C ring, increasing hydrophobicity and thus allowing for greater propensity for binding within the hydrophobic groove of the amyloid pentamer. This effect was also noted in the comparison between CBD and the fully aromatised CBND, where CBND bound with higher affinity to the A β pentamer. Another point identified in this study is the fact that pCBs with closed ring structures, such as THC, THCV and CBN, bound with higher affinity than those with open-ring structures, such as CBD, CBDV and CBND; this effect remained consistent across both monomer and pentamer modelling interactions. A comparison of several studies reveals that these pCBs with closedring structures, particularly THC and THCV, also generally exhibit higher affinity for cannabinoid receptors than those with open-ringed structures, such as CBD and CBDV (Rosenthaler et al., 2014, McPartland et al., 2015). Although the correlation between these two observations is indirect, it does highlight the notion that alterations in the pyran B ring correlate with differences in pharmacological activity; further investigation into this relationship as it relates to $A\beta$ binding, aggregation and toxicity is therefore warranted.

Another important insight gained from this study relates to the binding positions of particular pCBs, namely CBN, Δ^9 -THC, THCV, Δ^8 -THC and CBD, each of which bound directly to Lys 16. A paper from Sinha and colleagues identified Lys 16 as a key residue in the assembly and toxicity of A β (Sinha et al., 2012). Therefore, compounds with an ability to interact with this

residue may prevent the self-assembly of A β , thus preventing the associated aggregation and subsequent toxicity. Furthermore, inhibition of A β_{1-42} nucleation and elongation by noncatechol-type flavonoids has been directly linked to interactions with the regions between Tyr10 and Gln 15, as well as Phe 19 to Ala 21 (Hanaki et al., 2016). A number of the pCBs modelled in this study, each of which lack a catechol moiety, were shown to bind to residues within these regions, perhaps suggesting that they may also possess an inhibitory effect on A β_{1-42} fibril formation via this mechanism. However, further *in vitro* and *in vivo* investigation is required in order to explore this concept. Collectively, these points serve to highlight the exciting potential for a number for these pCBs to inhibit the assembly and aggregation of A β , thus providing additional avenues of investigation into the neuroprotective capacity of these compounds in the context of AD and in neurodegenerative disease more generally.

Conclusion

In any discussion regarding the potential use of a cannabis products in a therapeutic setting, it is important to distinguish this from findings in studies investigating recreational cannabis consumption, particularly the variable impacts associated with long-term and heavy adult use of smoked cannabis in the brain (Solowij et al., 2013, Jager et al., 2006, Yücel et al., 2008). Such discourse forms the basis of a narrative often juxtaposed with clinical settings under which medicinal cannabis or phytocannabinoids may be prescribed. The authors feel, however, that significant differences between the two settings make such comparisons problematic. The medicinal cannabis setting encompasses the use of pharmaceutical-grade products prescribed under clinical guidance, with standardised products and dosing, dose titration and patient monitoring for both efficacy and safety. Notwithstanding this setting, areas of caution surrounding the longer-term neurodevelopmental impacts of cannabis use should not be understated, particularly in the young and adolescent, whereas the limited preclinical evidence more promisingly suggests a relatively benign or beneficial profile when applied to dementia models with ageing.

In conclusion, phytocannabinoids are a unique class of cannabis phytochemicals that display an enormous structural diversity. These structural differences correspond with differences in biological activity, including changes not just in receptor binding affinity but also conferring activity at a broad range of cellular and molecular targets. Although initial studies into the use of these compounds in the treatment of neurodegenerative disease have been promising, extensive knowledge gaps remain, presenting opportunities for new discoveries and further exploration. As we learn more and more about the therapeutic potential of phytocannabinoids and cannabis phytochemicals more generally, further research has the potential to capitalise on the rich biochemical diversity of this plant to develop new therapeutic applications in the treatment of neurodegenerative and other diseases.

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	The structurally diverse phytocannabinoids cannabichromene, cannabigerol and cannabin significantly inhibit Amyloid β -evoked neurotoxicity and changes in cell morphology in PC cells.	
Publication Status	Published	C Accepted for Publication
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	Manuscript submitted	to the Journal of Cannabis Research

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Dylan Thomas Marsh		
Contribution to the Paper	Conceptualisation, Methodology, Validation, Formal analysis, Data curation, Investigation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Visualisation		
Overall percentage (%)	70%		
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.		
Signature	Date 11/07/2022		

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Scott Smid
Contribution to the Paper	Conceptualisation, Resources, Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition
Signature	Date July 19, 2022

Name of Co-Author	Yuta Imai		
Contribution to the Paper	Methodology, Software, Data cura	ation, Formal analysis, Visualisation	
Signature		Date 19 July 2022	
lease cut and paste additional co	author panels here as required.		
Contribution to the Paper	Methodology, Software, Data cura	ation, Formal analysis, Visualisation	
Signature		Date 19 July 202	

Name of Co-Author	Ryuji Kato		
Contribution to the Paper	Methodology, Software, Data curation, Resources, Supervision, Funding acquisition		
Signature	Date		
	19 July 2022		

Chapter 3: The structurally diverse phytocannabinoids cannabichromene, cannabigerol and cannabinol significantly inhibit Amyloid β-evoked neurotoxicity and changes in cell morphology in PC12 cells.

Dylan T Marsh¹, Ayato Sugiyama², Yuta Imai², Ryuji Kato^{2,3,4} & Scott D Smid¹

¹Discipline of Pharmacology, School of Biomedicine, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

²Department of Basic Medicinal Sciences, Graduate School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Nagoya University, Tokai National Higher Education and Research System, Furocho, Chikusa-ku, Nagoya, Aichi 464-8601, Japan

³Institute of Nano-Life-Systems, Institutes of Innovation for Future Society, Nagoya University, Tokai National Higher Education and Research System, Furocho, Chikusa-ku, Nagoya, Aichi 464-8601, Japan

⁴Institute of Glyco-core Research (IGCORE), Nagoya University, Tokai National Higher Education and Research System, Furocho, Chikusa-ku, Nagoya, Aichi 464-8601, Japan

Abstract

Phytocannabinoids (pCBs) have been shown to inhibit the aggregation and neurotoxicity of beta amyloid (A β), the pathological hallmark of Alzheimer's disease (AD). However, many promising pCBs have been understudied in the context of AD, with a particular lack of research investigating their effect on A β -evoked changes in neuronal cell morphology. Here, we aimed to characterise the capacity of six pCBs, cannabichromene (CBC), cannabigerol (CBG), cannabinol (CBN), cannabidivarin (CBDV), cannabidiol (CBD) and Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol $(\Delta^9$ -THC) to disrupt A β aggregation and protect against neuronal PC12 cell lipid peroxidation, Aβ-evoked neurotoxicity and changes in cell morphology in vitro. CBD inhibited tert-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*bhp)-induced lipid peroxidation with no significant effect on Aβ toxicity in PC12 cells, while CBN, CBDV and CBG provided modest protection against tbhp. CBC, CBG and CBN inhibited A β_{1-42} -induced neurotoxicity in PC12 cells, as did Δ^9 -THC, CBD and CBDV to a lesser extent. CBC, CBN and CBDV inhibited Aß aggregation, with CBG and CBD having no effect, while Δ^9 -THC reduced aggregate density whilst increasing the preponderance of fibrils. Treatment with $A\beta_{1-42}$ resulted in significant morphological changes to PC12 cells, including a marked reduction in neuritic projections and a more rounded morphology. CBC and CBG inhibited this effect, maintaining control-like cell morphology as shown by principle component analysis (PCA). Δ^9 -THC, CBD and CBDV afforded no significant alteration to the effects of A β_{1-42} on cell morphology. These findings highlight the potential for CBC, CBG and CBN as novel cannabis-derived neuroprotective phytocannabinoids in AD.
1. Introduction

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is the most common neurodegenerative disease characterised by accelerated cognitive decline resulting from the formation of intracellular neurofibrillary tangles and the deposition of the neurotoxic β -amyloid (A β) peptide. This A β -induced neurotoxicity has been associated with several factors including the formation of small oligomers and protofibrils, induction of oxidative stress via the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the onset of synaptic dysfunction (Carrano et al., 2011, Ono and Tsuji, 2020, Mucke and Selkoe, 2012). This characteristic A β -evoked loss of synaptic function has been associated with changes in neuronal cell structure, including abnormalities in dendritic branching and neurite degeneration (Tsai et al., 2004, Spires and Hyman, 2004, Spires et al., 2005). An estimated 40-50 million people are currently living with AD worldwide, with this number expected to reach 131.5 million by the year 2050 (Wu et al., 2017, Nichols et al., 2019). It is clear that the risk of developing AD increases significantly with age, presenting an important and increasing health burden in an ageing society (Qiu et al., 2009).

Oxidative stress has been implicated as a key factor in normal age-related neurodegeneration and in the pathogenesis of AD (Tönnies and Trushina, 2017) and has also been closely linked to the production and toxicity of A β (Zhao and Zhao, 2013). With this in mind, researchers have aimed to identify antioxidants as a means of reducing the impact of ROS generation and



Cannabigerol (CBG)

 $\Delta 9\text{-}Tetrahydrocannabinol~(\Delta 9\text{-}THC)$

Cannabidiol (CBD)



Cannabichromene (CBC)



ΩН

Cannabidivarin (CBDV)

Fig.1. Structures of the phytocannabinoids used in this study

oxidative stress in the neurodegeneration associated with AD (Feng and Wang, 2012). The development of a treatment strategy focusing on compounds with a dual antioxidant and anti-amyloid effect provides a promising avenue of exploration in this context.

Natural products provide a rich source of antioxidant and anti-amyloid molecules which have been widely investigated for their therapeutic potential in AD (Bui and Nguyen, 2017, Mancuso et al., 2007, Habtemariam, 2019). Among these myriad natural products are the phytocannabinoids (pCBs), a class of naturally occurring and diverse compounds found in cannabis which have been ascribed emerging protective properties in neurodegenerative disease models but are relatively novel and understudied (Marsh and Smid, 2021).

Cannabidiol (CBD) is perhaps the most well studied in the context of AD and has been shown to protect against A β *in vitro* via a range of mechanisms, including activation of the nuclear peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ), inhibition of caspase-3, reduction in lipid peroxidation and more (Scuderi et al., 2014, Iuvone et al., 2004, Janefjord et al., 2014). Furthermore, CBD has been identified as an antioxidant with greater potency than both ascorbate (vitamin C) and α -tocopherol (vitamin E) and is able to effectively reduce ROS generation and lipid peroxidation in PC12 cells (Hampson et al., 1998, Iuvone et al., 2004). The most abundant phytocannabinoid, Δ^9 -THC, has been shown to prevent amyloid plaque formation and improve cognition and memory *in vivo*, while also possessing antioxidant properties (Chen et al., 2013, Bilkei-Gorzo et al., 2017, Hampson et al., 1998). Other lesser studied and structurally varying compounds such as cannabigerol (CBG), cannabichromene (CBC), cannabinol (CBN) and cannabidivarin (CBDV) have been investigated to a far lesser extent.

In the present study the neuroprotective capacities of selected phytocannabinoids (**Fig. 1**) were characterised in an *in vitro* model of lipid peroxidation and amyloid β -evoked neurodegeneration in neuronal PC12 cells. Their effects on A β -evoked neurite damage and overall cell morphology were also assessed. Additionally, the effect of each pCB on A β

aggregation was evaluated as a means of identifying a potential relationship between direct structural modification of the $A\beta$ protein by each phytocannabinoid and their neuroprotective capacity.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials and Reagents

The phytocannabinoids used in this study include cannabigerol, cannabichromene, cannabidivarin, cannabinol (Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), cannabidiol (Australian Government National Measurement Institute, Lindfield, NSW, Australia) and Δ^9 -THC (Cerilliant, Round Rock, TX, USA). Human A β_{1-42} protein was obtained from BioLegend (San Diego, CA, USA). Thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT), *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*bhp), trypan blue, Rose Park Memorial Institue-1640 (RPMI-1640), uranyl acetate, phosphate buffered saline (PBS), non-essential amino acids (NEAA), penicillin/streptomycin, bovine serum albumin (BSA), 1×Trypsin-EDTA, TRITC-phalloidin and acridine orange were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was obtained from ChemSupply (Gillman, SA, AUS) and foetal bovine serum (FBS) from Fisher Biotec (Wembley, WA, AUS).

2.2 Preparation of Aβ₁₋₄₂ and pCBs

Lyophilised human $A\beta_{1-42}$ was prepared by dissolving in 100% DMSO to a concentration of 3.8mM. This stock solution was then diluted to 100µM in sterile PBS, dispensed into aliquots and frozen at -80°C until required. CBD, CBDV and CBG arrived as powdered stocks and were initially dissolved in 100% DMSO, CBC arrived as a 5mg stock in 100µL acetonitrile, CBN as 10mg/1mL in 100% methanol and Δ^9 -THC as 1mg/mL in 100% methanol. Each pCB was then further diluted to appropriate working solutions in sterile PBS and progressively lower concentrations of solvent and vortexed thoroughly as required. Final solvent concentrations

were reduced to sub-toxic levels in each assay as determined by cell viability data obtained prior to the commencement of this study.

2.3 Neuronal Cell Culture

Rat phaeochromocytoma cells (Ordway PC12) displaying a semi-differentiated phenotype were kindly donated by Professor Jacqueline Phillips (Macquarie University, NSW, Australia). Cells were maintained in complete RPMI-1640 media containing 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% non-essential amino acids (NEAA) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. For cell viability measurements, PC12 cells (up to passage 39) were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 2×10^4 cells per well in complete RPMI-1640 and allowed to equilibrate for 24 hours prior to treatment.

2.4 Transmission Electron Microscopy

Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) was used to directly visualise changes in A β_{1-42} aggregate morphology following treatment with each pCB. Samples were prepared by incubating native A β_{1-42} (10µM) in PBS, alone or in the presence of each of the test compounds (10µM) for a period of 48 hours at 37°C. After incubation, a 5µL sample of each solution was taken and added onto a 200-mesh formvar carbon-coated nickel electron microscopy grid (Proscitech, Kirwan, QLD, AUS) and allowed to stand for 1 minute. Following this, the sample was blotted off using filter paper and 10 µL of a contrast dye containing 2% uranyl acetate was added. This dye was then blotted off after 1 minute and sample slides were loaded into an FEI Tecnai G2 Spirit Transmission Electron Microscope (FEI, Milton, QLD, AUS). Sample grids were scanned extensively for the presence of the target protein, with final representative images taken at 18,500× magnification.

2.5 Cell treatment and assessment of cell viability

PC12 cells were treated with each pCB at 10μ M (1μ M for CBG) 15 minutes prior to treatment with either *t*bhp (0-250 μ M) or A β_{1-42} (0-1.5 μ M). Concentrations were based on concentrationresponse data collected prior to conducting these experiments (data not shown). Following treatment, cells were incubated for either 24 hours (*t*bhp) or 48 hours ($A\beta_{1-42}$) at 37°C, 5% CO₂ prior to measurement of cell viability using the thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. After incubation, media was removed and replaced with serum-free media containing 0.25mg/mL MTT and incubated for two hours at 37°C, 5% CO₂. MTT solution was then removed and the cells lysed with DMSO, with absorbance values measured at 570nm using a Synergy MX microplate reader (Bio-Tek, Bedfordshire, UK).

2.6 Fluorescence microscopy

PC12 cells were seeded on 12-well chambered microscopy slides (Ibidi) in complete RPMI-1640 media at a density of 1×10^4 cells per well and left to incubate for 24 hours prior to treatment. Cells were then treated with A β_{1-42} (1 μ M) \pm pCBs at 10 μ M (CBG at 1 μ M) and incubated for 48 hours at 37°C, 5% CO₂. Following treatment media was aspirated and cells were fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde for 10 minutes at room temperature. Cells were then washed twice with PBS and permeabilised using 0.1% Triton X-100 for 10 minutes at room temperature. Non-specific binding of fluorescence stains was prevented by blocking with 2% BSA for one hour at room temperature, before being washed twice with PBS. For staining, cells were then washed with PBS before the addition of 2 μ g/mL acridine orange and left for a further 20 minutes in the dark at room temperature. Finally, the cells were washed once more with PBS before imaging using an Olympus FV3000 confocal microscope with a 60× oil immersion lens. Fluorophores were excited using an argon laser: TRITC-phalloidin (Ex: 540, Em: 573) and acridine orange (Ex: 503, Em: 530).

2.7 Morphological Analysis

Morphological analysis was conducted in order to quantitatively assess the effect of selected pCBs on PC12 morphology in the presence and absence of A β_{1-42} . Fluorescence images (green: acridine orange, red: TRITC-phalloidin) were separately processed to recognize the

fluorescently stained area as "masks" (**Fig. 2a**). For the nucleus mask, nuclei areas were manually lined using Image J (<u>https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/</u>). For the actin mask, intensity binarization was processed by original Python code using py-opencv (ver.3.4.1). From the masked area, morphological parameters were assessed and measured for individual cells. Seven morphological parameters were measured for both masks per cell: area, length, width, length-width ratio, perimeter, compactness, and solidity defined in opencv. Compactness was defined as (perimeter)²/area, and solidity defined as area/convex hull area. For nuclei analysis, area and



Fig.2. Schematic diagram of (a) fluorescence image-based morphological analysis of PC12

cells and (b) methodology for principal component analysis.

compactness from the nuclei masks were used. For actin analysis, solidity of the actin mask was used.

Principal component analysis (PCA) was performed using R (version 3.4.1) (R Development Core Team, <u>https://www.r-project.org/</u>), whereby five cells per condition were randomly selected from the image pool and their seven morphological parameters for both masks (actin and nucleus) were measured (**Fig. 2b**). The summarized profile (mean and standard deviation) was then obtained for each parameter, giving 28 total parameters which were used to describe each condition in the PCA plot.

2.8 Data and Statistical Analysis

For morphological analysis, data was analysed by one-way ANOVA using Dunnett's multiple comparisons test vs A β_{1-42} (p<0.05). Data obtained from the MTT assay was analysed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Dunnett's multiple comparisons test used to determine significance values versus control (p<0.05). GraphPad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, USA) was utilised for data analysis and the production of graphs.

3. Results

3.1 Effects of phytocannabinoids on thep-evoked neurotoxicity in PC12 cells

The addition of the lipid peroxidising agent *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*tbhp*; 0-250 μ M) resulted in a concentration-dependent loss of PC12 cell viability to a maximum of 29.15% (**Fig. 3**). Both CBG and CBN provided a small degree of significant protection at 150 μ M *t*bhp, maintaining cell viability at 80.63% and 85.83%, respectively versus control (68.92%); Δ^9 -THC (**Fig. 3a**) exhibited no significant protective capacity against *t*bhp. CBD appeared to increase cell viability above 100% at 50 and 100 μ M *t*bhp and provided the most consistent protective effect, with significance observed at 50, 100 and 150 μ M *t*bhp, while CBDV was protective only at 150 μ M *t*bhp; CBC provided no significant protection (**Fig. 3b**).



Fig.3. MTT assay of cell viability following 24hr incubation with *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*bhp) (0–250 μ M), alone and in the presence of selected phytocannabinoids: **(a)** CBG (1 μ M), CBN (10 μ M), Δ^9 -THC (10 μ M) and **(b)** CBD (10 μ M), CBDV (10 μ M), CBC (10 μ M). Mean (SD), n = 5 replicate plates. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 vs vehicle.

3.2 Neuroprotective effects of phytocannabinoids against $A\beta_{1,42}$ -induced toxicity in PC12 cells.

Incubation with $A\beta_{1.42}$ (0-1.5µM) over 48 hr produced a concentration-dependent reduction in cell viability to a maximum of 71% (Fig 4). Of the six pCBs selected for the study, CBG, CBC and CBN exhibited the greatest degree of neuroprotection, maintaining 89.74%, 92.32% and 96.5% cell viability at 1.5µM A $\beta_{1.42}$, respectively (Fig. 4a). CBD and CBDV provided only

modest neuroprotection compared to control (77.13%), maintaining cell viability at 81.78% and 81.94%, respectively; Δ^9 -THC displayed a slightly greater degree of protection at 83.7% viability (**Fig. 4b**). Statistical significance was observed only at the highest concentration of A $\beta_{1.42}$ (1.5µM) in each case.



Fig.4. MTT assay of cell viability following 48hr incubation with $A\beta_{1-42}$ (0-1.5 µM), alone and in the presence of selected phytocannabinoids: **(a)** CBG, CBC, CBN and **(b)** Δ^9 -THC, CBD, CBDV (each at 10µM, CBG at 1µM). Mean (SD), n = 4 replicate plates. *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001 vs vehicle.

3.3 Phytocannabinoids protect against A β_{1-42} -induced morphological changes and neurite

damage in PC12 cells





Fig.5. Fluorescence imaging with TRITC-phalloidin (red, F-actin) and acridine orange (green, nucleic acid) demonstrating the effects of selected phytocannabinoids (each at 10µM, CBG at 1µM) on A β_{1-42} -induced (1µM) neurite damage in PC12 cells following 48hr incubation. White arrow indicates example of neuritic projection/filopodium; growth cone indicated by white triangle. Each treatment condition is displayed as individual stains plus the corresponding overlap – scale bar 10µm. (a) control, (b) A β_{1-42} , (c) CBG, (d) CBG + A β_{1-42} , (e) CBC, (f) CBC + A β_{1-42} , (g) CBN, (h) CBN + A β_{1-42} , (i) Δ^9 -THC, (j) Δ^9 -THC + A β_{1-42} , (k) CBDV, (l) CBDV + A β_{1-42} , (m) CBD and (n) CBD + A β_{1-42} . Representative images selected from at least 3 independent replicate slides per treatment condition.

Fluorescence imaging with TRITC-phalloidin and acridine orange (**Fig. 5**) showed that incubation with A β_{1-42} (1µM) resulted in a clear loss of neuritic projections in PC12 cells (**Fig. 5b**) versus control (**Fig. 5a**). Treatment with each pCB alone (**Fig. 5c, e, g and i**) had little effect on overall PC12 morphology with the exception of CBDV (**Fig. 5k**), which caused a loss of neuritic projections in similar fashion to A β_{1-42} . Treatment with CBC, CBG, CBN and Δ^9 -THC (**Fig. 5d, f, h and j**) prevented the loss of neuritic projections caused by A β_{1-42} , with CBDV-treated cells again displaying a clear lack of neuritic projections and filopodia following co-incubation with A β_{1-42} . There was also an increase in the prevalence of growth cones in cells treated with CBC, CBG, CBN and Δ^9 -THC, indicative of an increase in neurite outgrowth.

<u>3.4 Phytocannabinoids protect against A β_{1-42} -induced morphological changes in PC12 cells</u>

Analysis of PC12 cell fluorescence images highlighted a distinct effect of A β_{1-42} on several key morphological parameters. Treatment with A β_{1-42} caused significant increases in the nucleus area of PC12 cells compared to control (****p <0.0001), which was variably affected by treatment with selected pCBs (**Fig. 6a**). Of the pCBs selected, CBD proved most effective in preventing this increase (***p = 0.0009) followed by CBC (*p = 0.0336) and CBDV (*p = 0.0125), while Δ^9 -THC and CBG exhibited no significant difference vs A β_{1-42} . Treatment with A β_{1-42} also resulted in a significant increase in nucleus compactness vs control (*p = 0.0471) (**Fig. 6b**). Of all pCBs screened, only Δ^9 -THC significantly inhibited this increase (**p = 0.0057).

Treatment with amyloid β also resulted in a significant increase in actin solidity compared to control (****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 6c**). Increased actin solidity indicates a reduction in the number of neuritic projections and thus a more rounded cell morphology. This increase was most significantly inhibited by treatment with CBC (****p <0.0001), CBD (****p <0.0001), and Δ^9 -THC (****p <0.0001). CBG also significantly inhibited this increased actin solidity (***p = 0.0008) along with CBN (*p = 0.0435), while no significant difference was observed following treatment with CBDV.

The actin:nucleus area ratio, a measure of the area of the cell nucleus relative to the actin area, was significantly increased by treatment with A $\beta_{1.42}$ (**p = 0.0080) (**Fig. 6d**). This increased ratio indicates that the nuclei of A $\beta_{1.42}$ -treated cells occupies a greater area within the cell body relative to control. This effect was inhibited by treatment with both Δ^9 -THC (***p = 0.0002)



Fig. 6. Morphological analysis highlighting the effect of selected phytocannabinoids on (a) nucleus area, (b) nucleus compactness, (c) actin solidity and (d) the nucleus: actin area ratio in PC12 cells in the presence and absence of A β_{1-42} . n = at least 4 cells per treatment condition. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001 vs A β_{1-42} .

and CBD (**p = 0.0066), with no significant difference observed following treatment with either CBC, CBG or CBDV.



Fig. 7. Principle component analysis of overall morphological characteristics of PC12 cells following treatment with selected pCBs in the presence and absence of $A\beta_{1-42}$. Data points within the black dotted circle indicate morphological similarity with the control condition. Data points within the red circle indicate morphological similarity to the $A\beta_{1-42}$ treatment group.

Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to plot overall morphological differences between treatment conditions (**Fig. 7**). PCA showed a clear distinction between $A\beta_{1-42}$ -treated cells and those in the control condition, indicating significant overall morphological differences between the two groups. The relative position of each treatment cluster may be interpreted as a measure of the degree of efficacy by each phytocannabinoid in preventing morphological changes caused by incubation with $A\beta_{1-42}$. Cells co-incubated with CBC and $A\beta_{1-42}$ displayed considerable morphological similarity to the control condition, indicative of a general protective effect. A similar pattern was observed in the CBG + Amyloid β treatment condition, which also displayed a high degree of morphological similarity to the control condition. Cells treated with CBD and A β_{1-42} showed a tendency to cluster between the control and A β_{1-42} group, indicating a lesser degree of protective effect vs CBC and CBG. Finally, a lack of efficacy was observed in the Δ^9 -THC + Amyloid β and CBDV + Amyloid β treatment groups, both of which displayed little to no morphological similarity to control.

<u>3.5 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) of A β_{1-42} fibril and aggregate morphology</u>

TEM imaging showed varying degrees of morphological change following treatment with the pCBs. CBC exerted the greatest effect on A β_{1-42} aggregation, with a marked reduction in both the degree of aggregation and aggregate density (**Fig. 9c**). CBN-treated samples showed a similar reduction in aggregate formation and density, while also displaying a comparatively greater number of fibrils (**Fig. 9g**). Similarly, treatment with CBDV resulted in a reduction in aggregate density and an increase in the prevalence of amyloid fibrils (**Fig. 9e**). In contrast, neither CBG nor CBD had any effect on A β_{1-42} morphology, displaying similar degrees of aggregation and aggregate density as the control (**Fig. 9a, b and d**). Treatment with Δ^9 -THC resulted in the preponderance of amyloid fibrils, displaying a densely stained meshwork with limited aggregates.



Fig.9. Transmission electron micrographs demonstrating the effects of selected phytocannabinoids (each at 10 μ M) on A β_{1-42} (10 μ M) aggregation and morphology following 48hr incubation (scale bar = 200nm). (a) Control, (b) CBG, (c) CBC, (d) CBD, (e) CBDV, (f) Δ^9 -THC and (g) CBN.

4. Discussion

The findings of this study highlight a novel neuroprotective role for cannabichromene (CBC), cannabinol (CBN) and cannabigerol (CBG) against A β -induced neurotoxicity and neurite damage, as well as a novel anti-aggregatory role for CBC, CBN and cannabidivarin (CBDV). The modest protective effect and lack of anti-aggregative capacity of cannabidiol (CBD) observed in this study is in contrast to several previous studies, which have demonstrated a protective capacity against A β -evoked neurotoxicity and the ability to reduce protein aggregation (Iuvone et al., 2004, Schubert et al., 2019). To our knowledge, this study presents the first direct characterisation of the anti-aggregatory capacity of CBG, CBC, CBDV and CBN, as well as the first morphological characterisation of the impact of these pCBs on A β -evoked neurite damage.

Cannabidiol provided the greatest degree of protection against *t*bhp-induced lipid peroxidation. This is in accordance with other studies which have demonstrated the antioxidant activity of CBD and its ability to protect against lipid peroxidation in neuronal cells (Sun et al., 2017, Atalay et al., 2019). Interestingly, the capacity for CBD to protect against oxidative stress has been linked to its ability to induce heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) (Duvigneau et al., 2020). HO-1, also known as heat shock protein 32 (Hsp32), is an inducible form of HO that is upregulated in response to oxidative stress and inflammation and may confer neuroprotection via its antioxidant capacity (Colín-González et al., 2013, Schipper, 2004). CBD has also been shown to possess intrinsic free radical scavenging capacity (Pereira et al., 2021), which may further explain the effect observed in the present study. Cannabidivarin, cannabinol and cannabigerol were also protective against *t*bhp, although each to a lesser extent than cannabidiol and with cannabichromene providing no significant protection. These results are in accordance with a recent study which found that selected pCBs exhibited considerable *in vitro* antioxidant capacity (Dawidowicz et al., 2021). Although that study did not directly investigate protective capacity against lipid peroxidation in a cell culture model, it is clear that these compounds

possess considerable antioxidant potential. Notably, Δ^9 -THC has previously been shown to possess intrinsic antioxidant capacity in cell-free assays while also protecting against cellular oxidative stress (Hampson et al., 1998, Carroll et al., 2012b). However, the results of the current study indicate a lack of efficacy of Δ^9 -THC to protect against lipid peroxidation. In fact, other studies have suggested that Δ^9 -THC may actually increase *in vitro* ROS generation and subsequent oxidative stress (Walker et al., 2021, Wolff et al., 2015). It is difficult to ascertain the reason behind these differing results, however it may relate to variations in the models being utilised in each study.

Interestingly, the ability for these pCBs to protect against lipid peroxidation did not correlate with the ability to protect against $A\beta$ -evoked neurotoxicity or neurite damage. This was exemplified by the fact that CBG, CBC and CBN proved to be potent anti-amyloid compounds in this regard, while providing either modest or no protection against the provided lipid peroxidation. This therefore suggests that their potent neuroprotection against $A\beta$ is likely independent of their antioxidant effects. Conversely, CBD was highly efficacious against the whilst providing only modest protection against A β_{1-42} . This contrasts with previous studies which have suggested that CBD possesses the ability to protect against Aβ-induced toxicity in PC12 cells (Iuvone et al., 2004, Esposito et al., 2006a). However, a previous study found CBD to be a potent inhibitor of the pevoked neurotoxicity but with no significant neuroprotective effect against A β in PC12 cells (Harvey et al., 2012). It is unclear why the disparity between antioxidant capacity and anti-amyloid effect is so great, given the close association of oxidative stress and A^β toxicity in the pathophysiology of AD (Zhao and Zhao, 2013). Previous studies have highlighted a synergistic relationship between the two, whereby Aβ deposition increases lipid peroxidation and oxidative damage, while oxidative stress further increases A^β production by downregulating α -secretase expression and upregulating the activity of γ -secretase, β secretase and BACE1 (Behl et al., 1994, Matsuoka et al., 2001, Smith et al., 1998, Quiroz-Baez

et al., 2009, Chen et al., 2008). However, despite the seemingly inextricable link between these factors, it is clear that antioxidant capacity alone is insufficient to surmount the toxicity of Aβ.

This study also highlighted a number of structure-activity relationships (SARs) among the selected compounds. One such example would be the reduced anti-amyloid efficacy of Δ^9 -THC in comparison to its fully aromatised analogue CBN, an effect mirrored by a previous study which found CBN to be a more potent anti-amyloid compound than Δ^9 -THC in MC65 cells (Schubert et al., 2019). Moreover, we have previously shown that CBN also possesses far greater binding affinity for both monomeric and pentameric conformations of $A\beta_{1-42}$ (Marsh and Smid, 2021). This may be due to the increased hydrophobicity afforded to CBN by the aromatisation of its C ring, allowing for better binding within the hydrophobic groove of the A β_{1-42} peptide. This correlates with the inhibition of A β_{1-42} aggregation seen in the present study, though further comparisons between the two pCBs is necessary in order to confirm this. This study also highlighted the fact that the shortening of the alkyl side chain at position 3 from an *n*-pentyl chain, as in CBD, to an *n*-propyl chain as in CBDV had no significant effect on neuroprotection against A β_{1-42} , although CBDV was able to reduce A β aggregation to a greater extent than CBD. Further studies examining the effect of alkyl side chain length on amyloid aggregation and neuroprotection more generally may be of interest, given that increased side chain length is associated with increased potency at cannabinoid receptors (Prandi et al., 2018, Martin et al., 1999). These findings lay a foundation for further exploration of phytocannabinoid SARs in the context of AD.

A previous study found both CBG, CBN and CBC to be significantly protective against A β toxicity in MC65 cells, while also clearing pre-formed aggregates (Schubert et al., 2019). This study also found that CBD was the most potent anti-amyloid compound tested, with an IC₅₀ value of 30nM, two-to-three times more potent than either CBG, CBN or CBC. In direct contrast to these results, TEM imaging and cell viability data from the present study showed that CBG possesses a far greater neuroprotective capacity than CBD, despite being unable to

affect A β aggregation. Previous studies in other neurodegenerative disease contexts have suggested that the neuroprotective effect of CBG may be due, in part, to its anti-inflammatory effects (Giacoppo et al., 2017, Valdeolivas et al., 2015, Mammana et al., 2019). More specifically, CBG has been shown to inhibit inflammation by targeting and increasing the transcriptional activity of nuclear peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ (PPAR γ), which acts as a modulator of proinflammatory cytokine release (O'Sullivan, 2016, Jiang et al., 1998). This idea is further consolidated by the fact that PPAR γ activation has been shown to be neuroprotective against A β in human neural stem cells (Chiang et al., 2016). This finding suggests that CBG may also exert its protective effect via this mechanism, although this requires further investigation.

The therapeutic potential of CBC in the context of neurodegenerative diseases has been understudied. One study found that CBC was able to protect MC65 cells against A β toxicity, while also protecting HT22 cells against oxytosis, a programmed cell death pathway associated with oxidative stress (Schubert et al., 2019). Furthermore, CBC was shown to be an inhibitor of inflammation in several disease models, with the capacity to reduce LPS-stimulated inflammation by a CBR-independent mechanism and reduce the expression of proinflammatory cytokines (DeLong et al., 2010, Petrosino et al., 2018, Izzo et al., 2012). This anti-inflammatory effect may be of particular relevance in AD, as the generation of A β has been associated with an inflammatory response which results in reductions in neuronal cell viability (Currais et al., 2016). Moreover, CBC was able to increase the viability of nestin-positive neural stem progenitor cells and is a potent TRPA1 agonist, a receptor that may play a crucial role in regulating inflammation in AD (Shinjyo and Di Marzo, 2013, De Petrocellis et al., 2011, Lee et al., 2016). Although the present study did not elucidate the mechanisms behind the observed neuroprotection, this data coupled with the relevant literature regarding CBC highlights the neuroprotective potential for CBC in the context of AD. Given that CBC, CBN and CBG also lack the negative psychotropism associated with Δ^9 -THC, the potent neuroprotective effect observed in this study warrants further exploration.

Image-based morphological analysis has been used as a predictor of numerous cell effects, including the differentiation potential of neuronal stem cells and myogenic differentiation of myoblasts (Ishikawa et al., 2019, Fujitani et al., 2017). However, using quantitative, imagebased morphological analysis as a means of assessing the neurotoxicity of A β_{1-42} has not been studied extensively. This study employed the use of a novel algorithm designed to extract morphological data from fluorescence images, allowing for the quantitative analysis of these otherwise qualitative data. Initial qualitative assessment of fluorescence microscopy images demonstrated a marked reduction in the prevalence of neuritic projections in A β_{1-42} -treated PC12 cells compared to control. Morphological analysis showed that treatment with AB resulted in a simultaneous increase in nucleus area along with increased actin solidity, indicating an enlarged nucleus and a reduction in the number of neuritic projections and growth cones. Growth cones are essential in the formation of axons and A β treatment has been shown to cause axonal degeneration, reduced numbers of neuritic projections and growth cone collapse (Dent et al., 2011, Kuboyama, 2018, Eggers et al., 2019). Principal component analysis highlighted CBC as the most efficacious of the pCBs screened in this study in preventing Aβ-evoked morphological changes. A previous study demonstrated that CBC is able to raise the viability of neural stem progenitor cells while also inducing ERK phosphorylation (Shinjyo and Di Marzo, 2013). The activation of the ERK signalling pathway is a key aspect in neurite outgrowth, with its inhibition resulting in reduced neurite outgrowth (Wang et al., 2011). The ability for CBC to induce ERK phosphorylation may therefore play a role in the protective effect observed in the present study.

Cannabigerol also proved effective in preventing $A\beta$ -evoked morphological changes overall. A transcriptomic study by Gugliandolo and colleagues identified a role for CBG as an influencer of several synaptic pathways in NSC-34 cells (Gugliandolo et al., 2020). However, the direct

effect of CBG on neurite morphology has not been studied previously. Interestingly, actin solidity data showed that treatment with CBDV alone resulted in a significant decrease in neuritic projections, an effect that was not seen following treatment with its *n*-pentyl analogue CBD. One possible explanation for this difference may stem from the actions of these phytocannabinoids at GPR55, a cellular target generally considered to be a cannabinoid receptor, though this issue is somewhat contentious (Ross, 2009, Henstridge, 2012). GPR55 is expressed endogenously in PC12 cells and plays an important role in regulating neurite outgrowth and growth cone morphology, with antagonism associated with a loss of neuritic projections (Obara et al., 2011, Cherif et al., 2015). Previous research has shown CBDV to be a potent inhibitor of 1-a-lysophosphatidylinositol (LPI)-induced ERK1/2 phosphorylation, a primary downstream signalling pathway associated with LPI-induced GPR55 activation with potency far in excess of CBD (Anavi-Goffer et al., 2012). It is also interesting to note that pCBs with an *n*-propyl side chain were consistently more potent than their *n*-pentyl counterparts, highlighting a fascinating structure-activity relationship worthy of further exploration. The combination of these two factors may explain the differential effects of CBDV and CBD observed in this study. There are inherent difficulties associated with the interpretation of morphology data with regards to inferences on neuronal cell viability and function. For example, Δ^9 -THC has been shown to induce ectopic formation of filopodia and altered axon morphology (Tortoriello et al., 2014). However, surface-level assessment of morphology alone may be insufficient to detect such changes. It is therefore important to note that the morphology data presented in this study would benefit from further investigation into possible pCB-evoked alterations in protein expression and downstream signalling pathways associated with neurite outgrowth and axonal morphology, to elucidate the mechanisms behind the changes observed in the present study. However, compounds with the ability to inhibit amyloid toxicity, preserve and promote growth cone formation and prevent neurite damage such as CBG, CBC and CBN may be efficacious in the treatment of AD. This study presents the first morphological

characterisation of CBC, CBG and CBDV as protective agents against $A\beta_{1-42}$ -evoked neurite damage.

Transmission electron microscopy indicated that CBC, CBN and, to a lesser extent, CBDV, were able to inhibit A β_{1-42} aggregation, while CBD, CBG and Δ^9 -THC proved ineffective in this regard. This is line with previous studies which have demonstrated a lack of efficacy for both CBD and Δ^9 -THC in the inhibition of A β_{1-42} aggregation (Janefjord et al., 2014, Harvey et al., 2012). This data is also supported by previously published molecular modelling data, where we identified CBN and CBC as high-affinity binders with various conformations of the Aβ peptide (Marsh and Smid, 2021). Interestingly, this modelling data also found CBG to be the highest-affinity $A\beta$ binder of all the pCBs screened, yet the present study showed that it lacks the ability to prevent protein aggregation in vitro. This suggests that the potent neuroprotective effect of CBG is entirely independent of its ability to disrupt protein aggregation and that *in silico* predictions of binding affinity alone may not accurately predict inhibition of A β aggregation. Furthermore, comparisons between TEM images and cell viability data highlighted a lack of direct correlation between anti-aggregatory capacity and neuroprotection. This was perhaps most evident in the examples of CBG, which was highly neuroprotective against $A\beta_{1-42}$ but had no effect on protein aggregation and CBDV, which reduced protein aggregation but had only a modest impact on cell viability in the presence of A β_{1-42} . A similar lack of direct correlation has been observed in previous studies, suggesting that inhibition of aggregation alone may not be a particularly accurate predictor of neuroprotection against A β_{1-42} (Eggers et al., 2019, Janefjord et al., 2014).

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that selected phytocannabinoids provide varying degrees of neuroprotection against A β_{1-42} , highlighting the efficacy of cannabigerol, cannabichromene and cannabinol in particular that is likely independent of their antioxidant capacity. Given that these pCBs proved effective in preventing A β -induced toxicity, A β -evoked neurite damage and

variably amyloid aggregation, they present as potential leads warranting further investigation and development in the treatment of AD.

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Investigating the neuroprotective capacity of medicinal cannabis extract formulations against $A\beta_{1\text{-}42}$ and lipid peroxidation in vitro			
Publication Status	Published	Accepted for Publication		
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style		
Publication Details				

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Dylan Thomas Marsh			
Contribution to the Paper	Conceptualisation, Methodology, Validation, Fo Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing,	ormal anal Visualisati	ysis, Data curation, Investigation, ion	
Overall percentage (%)	85%			
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.			
Signature		Date	24/07/22	

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contr bution.

Name of Co-Author	Scott Smid		
Contribution to the Paper	Conceptualisation, Resources, Writing - review & Funding acquisition	& editing, S	Supervision, Project administration,
Signature		Date	July 25, 2022

Chapter 4: Investigating the neuroprotective capacity of medicinal cannabis extract formulations against Aβ₁₋₄₂ and lipid peroxidation in vitro

Dylan T Marsh¹ & Scott D Smid¹

1 Discipline of Pharmacology, School of Biomedicine, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

Introduction

Cannabis sativa (*C. sativa*) has garnered considerable interest for its potential therapeutic benefits in a variety of disease contexts (Zuardi, 2006, Cassano et al., 2020, Ahmed and Katz, 2016). *Cannabis* is known for its rich biochemical diversity and is the source of hundreds of structurally diverse compounds, including various terpenes, flavonoids and phytocannabinoids (pCBs) (Brenneisen, 2007). To date, more than 540 individual compounds have been extracted and isolated from cannabis, with more than 120 of these considered to be pCBs (Hanuš et al., 2016). The classical phytocannabinoids are a group of C₂₁ terpenophenolic compounds found in all major species of cannabis that share several common structural features, including a dibenzopyran ring and an alkyl side chain (Morales et al., 2017a, Berman et al., 2018). These pCBs also vary in their structure in many ways, including differences in alkyl side chain length, degree of aromatisation and the nature of the dibenzopyran B ring, whether open, as in cannabidiol (CBD), or closed, as in Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC) (**Fig. 1**). Moreover, it is currently believed that all phytocannabinoids originate as carboxylated precursors which then undergo decarboxylation to 'neutral' forms in a predominantly non-enzymatic manner via



Cannabidiol (CBD)



 Δ 9-Tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ 9-THC)





exposure to light, heat and/or atmospheric oxygen during the storage process (Hanuš et al., 2016, Pollastro et al., 2018). These structural changes account, at least in part, for the structural diversity of the known phytocannabinoids.



Tetrahydrocannabivarin (THCV)

Fig.2. Structures of other phytocannabinoids present in the Bedrocan products used in this study, including the non-classical phytocannabinoids CBG, CBGM and CBC.

Phytocannabinoids such as cannabidiol (CBD) and Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC) have been shown to inhibit the neurotoxicity associated with β -amyloid (A β), the hallmark protein associated with Alzheimer's Disease (AD) (Cassano et al., 2020, Janefjord et al., 2014). These phytocannabinoids exert their effects via their actions at numerous receptors and pathways. including activation of PPARy, CB₁ and CB₂ receptors, inhibition of caspase-3 and reductions in oxidative stress (O'Sullivan, 2016, Iuvone et al., 2004, Aso and Ferrer, 2016, Vallée et al., 2017). However, although there is a wealth of literature regarding the neuroprotective potential of specific phytocannabinoids, both in isolation and in combination, far less research has been conducted to determine the possible therapeutic benefits of whole botanical extracts in the context of AD and neurodegenerative diseases more generally.

While specific phytocannabinoids have been shown to possess considerable therapeutic potential in isolation, it has been suggested that these compounds may be more effective when used in combination with one another in the form of whole botanical extracts (Bonn-Miller et al., 2018, Russo, 2019). This concept is termed the "entourage effect" and refers to the manner in which combinations of phytocannabinoids and various cannabis terpenes work in concert with one another to provide a greater degree of protection than that afforded by the use of phytocannabinoids in isolation (Russo, 2011, Ferber et al., 2020). Interestingly, previous research in other neurological disease contexts has suggested that CBD-rich extracts may possess greater therapeutic potential than purified CBD, likely through the actions of this entourage effect (Pamplona et al., 2018). Furthermore, cannabis terpenes (Fig. 3) have been ascribed cannabimimetic properties with the ability to selectively enhance cannabinoid activity in vivo (LaVigne et al., 2021). Whole botanical extracts have been ascribed neuroprotective capacity, with the ability to attenuate oxidative stress in neuronal cell lines (Raja et al., 2020). Moreover, chemovars of various types have also been shown to reduce cytokine expression and alter Aβ processing in transgenic mouse models of AD, highlighting their therapeutic potential in the treatment of this disease (Aso et al., 2015). Interestingly, Sativex, a cannabis extract



Fig.3. Structures of the primary terpenes found in each of the Bedrocan products used in this study.

containing both Δ^9 -THC and CBD has been effective in the treatment of other neurodegenerative diseases including spasticity control in patients with multiple sclerosis (Patti et al., 2016). However, there is a considerable lack of data available on the general neuroprotective properties of whole botanical cannabis extracts, highlighting the need to identify and develop novel candidate chemovars.

Cannabis chemovars may be differentiated by their relative phytocannabinoid content, with type I chemovars characterised by the predominance of Δ^9 -THC, type II containing both Δ^9 -THC and CBD and type III being CBD-predominant (Lewis et al., 2018). Variations in the method of cultivation of medicinal cannabis chemovars are largely responsible for their diverse phytocannabinoid and terpene profiles (Lewis et al., 2018). It has previously been shown that heat exposure in cannabis extracts results in altered cannabinoid content due to the thermochemical conversion of phytocannabinoid acids to their neutral bioactive forms; heating may also affect the pharmacokinetic and metabolic profile of these extracts (Olejar and Kinney, 2021, Eichler et al., 2012). Moreover, heating has been shown to significantly reduce the terpene content of cannabis, given their volatile nature (Chen et al., 2021). However, very little research has been performed investigating the effects of heat exposure on the bioactivity of cannabis extracts in the context of neuroprotection.

In the present study, we characterised the protective capacity of extracts of five proprietary cannabis chemovars in an *in vitro* model of *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*bhp)-evoked oxidative damage and A β -induced neurotoxicity, as well as comparing the effect of heat exposure on the bioactivity of each extract. In addition, we compared the *in silico* binding profiles of the predominant phytocannabinoids in these medicinal cannabis formulations, Δ^9 -THC and CBD and their carboxylated precursors THCA and CBDA, with the A β protein. This study presents the first characterisation of these proprietary medicinal cannabis formulations in the context of A β -evoked neuronal cell damage and provides a comparative insight into the variable bioactivity of these botanical extracts.

Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

Cannabis chemovars used in this study were sourced from Bedrocan International (Veendam, Groningen, NL) and are commercially available (see Section 2.2 for more product details). Human $A\beta_{1-42}$ protein was purchased from rPeptide (Bogart, GA, USA) with thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT), trypan blue, *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*bhp), Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 (RPMI-1640) medium, uranyl acetate, phosphate buffered saline (PBS), non-essential amino acids (NEAA), penicillin/streptomycin, 1× Trypsin EDTA and foetal bovine serum (FBS) obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was obtained from ChemSupply (Gillman, SA, AUS).

2.2 Cannabis Extract and AB1-42 Preparation

Lyophilised human $A\beta_{1-42}$ was prepared by dissolving in 100% DMSO to a concentration of 3.8mM. This stock solution was then diluted to 100µM in sterile PBS, dispensed into aliquots and frozen at -80°C until required.

Cannabis from five commercial chemovars arrived in either flos or granulate form and underwent ethanolic extraction prior to use in the study. Briefly, 1g dry, macerated and powdered biomass was added per 10mL ethanol and vortexed thoroughly before being placed on a platform roller for 30 minutes. This mixture was then centrifuged for 5 minutes and decanted to remove remaining biomass; the final solution was then filtered into aliquots using a 0.45µm filter. The Δ^9 -THC:CBD ratio varied between chemovars: Bedrocan® (BC-101, sativa) – 22%:<1%, Bedrobinol® (BC-201, sativa) – 13.5%:<1%, Bediol® (BC-301, sativa) – 6.3%:8%, Bedica® (BC-401, indica) 14%:<1%, and Bedrolite® (BC-501, sativa) <1%:9% (see **Table 1.**); the full terpene profile for each chemovar is listed in **Table 2** and is also available on the manufacturer's website (<u>https://bedrocan.com/</u>). To determine the effect of heat exposure, a portion of each chemovar was heated at 130°C for 10 minutes to allow for the majority conversion from carboxylated phytocannabinoid acid precursors to 'neutral', decarboxylated phytocannabinoids (Wang et al., 2016, Veress et al., 1990).

BC-101	BC-201	BC-301	BC-401	BC-501
(~%)	(~%)	(~%)	(~%)	(~%)
0.5	0.5	_	0.5	_
0.5	0.5	8	0.5	9
0.5	0.5	1	0.5	1
_	_	0.5	_	0.5
22	13.5	6.3	14	0.5
2	0.5	0.5	1	0.5
	BC-101 (~%) 0.5 0.5 - 22 2	BC-101 BC-201 (~%) (~%) 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 22 13.5 2 0.5	BC-101 BC-201 BC-301 (~%) (~%) (~%) 0.5 0.5 - 0.5 0.5 8 0.5 0.5 1 - 0.5 22 13.5 6.3 2 0.5 0.5	BC-101 BC-201 BC-301 BC-401 (~%) (~%) (~%) 0.5 0.5 - 0.5 0.5 0.5 8 0.5 0.5 0.5 1 0.5 0.5 0.5 1 0.5 - 0.5 - 22 13.5 6.3 14 2 0.5 0.5 1

Table 1. Manufacturer-reported percentages for the phytocannabinoids present in each of the

 Bedrocan medical cannabis products used in this study.

Terpene	BC-101	BC-201	BC-301	BC-401	BC-501
	(~mg/g)	(~mg/g)	(~mg/g)	(~mg/g)	(~mg/g)
α-2-pinene	0.75	2	0.75	3.5	0.35
β-2-pinene	1.5	0.75	0.35	1	0.35
Myrcene	5	10	7.5	17.5	1.5
α-phellandrene	0.35	_	_	_	_
∆-3-carene	0.35	_	_	_	_
R-limonene	1.5	0.2	0.35	_	0.2
Cis-ocimene	3.5	0.5	0.5	2	0.2
γ-terpinene	0.2	_	_	_	-

Terpinolene	5	_	0.75	_	0.35
(-)linalool	0.2	_	_	0.75	_
β-fenchol	0.1	_	_	_	_
Camphor	-	-	0.2	-	0.2
Borneol	0.75	-	_	_	_
α-terpineol	_	_	0.5	0.2	0.1
β Caryophyllene	1.5	1	0.75	1.5	0.75
Trans-bergamotene	0.35	-	0.2	0.2	0.1
α-guaiene	0.35	-	0.35	-	0.1
α-humulene	0.5	0.35	0.35	0.5	0.35
Trans-β-farnesene	0.35	-	0.35	0.1	0.35
γ-selinene	0.5	0.2	0.35	0.35	_
γ-cadinene	0.35	0.35	0.2	0.2	_
Eudesma-3,7(11)-diene	0.35	0.35	_	0.75	_
γ-elemene	1	0.35	0.2	0.5	_
β -caryophyllene oxide	-	-	_	-	0.2
Guaiol	-	-	_	0.5	_
γ-eudesmol	_	0.1	_	0.5	_
β-eudesmol	-	-	_	0.35	_
α Bisabolol	_	-	_	1	-

Table 2. Manufacturer-reported terpene profiles for each of the Bedrocan medical cannabis products used in this study.

Mouse neuroblastoma × spinal cord cells (NSC-34) were cultured and maintained in complete medium (Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium, supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum, 1% non-essential amino acids and 1% penicillin/streptomycin) and subcultured every 2-3 days as necessary. We have previously established the use of these cells in an *in vitro* model of Alzheimer's disease (Laws III et al., 2022). For cell viability measurements, cells were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 3×10^5 cells/well and left to equilibrate for 24 hours at 37° C and 5% CO₂ prior to treatment.

2.4 Transmission Electron Microscopy

Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) was used to directly visualise changes in A β_{1-42} aggregate morphology following treatment with each extract. Samples were prepared by incubating native A β_{1-42} (10µM) in PBS, alone or in the presence of the extracts (10µM principal component) for a period of 48 hours at 37°C, 5% CO₂. Following incubation, a 5µL sample of each solution was added onto a 400-mesh formvar carbon-coated nickel electron microscopy grid (Proscitech, Kirwan, QLD, Australia) and left for one minute. Samples were then blotted off and 10 µL of a contrast dye containing 2% uranyl acetate was added. After 1 minute, the contrast dye was blotted off and sample loaded into an FEI Tecnai G2 Spirit Transmission Electron Microscope (FEI, Milton, QLD, AUS). Each grid was scanned extensively for the presence of the target peptide and representative images taken at 18,500× magnification.

2.5 MTT Assay

Cell viability was determined using the thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. After equilibration, each well was treated with cannabis extracts at 10 μ M principal component or a vehicle control and left to equilibrate for a further 15 minutes before being treated with A $\beta_{1.42}$ (0, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.5 & 1 μ M) or *t*bhp (0-150 μ M). After treatment the plates were incubated for

48 hours at 37°C and 5% CO2. Following incubation, culture medium was removed from each well and replaced by serum-free medium containing 0.25mg/ml MTT. Plates were then incubated for a further 2 hours, after which MTT solution was aspirated and cells were lysed with DMSO. Absorbance readings were taken at 570nm using a Synergy MX microplate reader (Bio-tek, Bedforshire, UK).

2.6 Computational modelling of extract principal component binding with AB1-42

Molecular modelling simulations were conducted as described previously (Marsh et al., 2017). Briefly, equilibrium geometries for the principal components of each chemovar, namely Δ^9 -THC, THCA, CBD and CBDA, were optimised using density functional theory (DFT) utilising the Becke-Lee-Yang-Parr three-parameter hybrid functional, commonly referred to as B3LYP (Kohn et al., 1996). A large basis set, aug-cc-pVDZ was used to approximate molecular orbitals in optimised geometry for each compound, with all computations carried out using the Gaussian 09 package of codes. Optimised structures were then modelled for their binding affinity with both the A $\beta_{1.42}$ monomer (PDB ID: 1IYT) and an A $\beta_{17.42}$ oligomer comprised of parallel β sheet structures (PDB ID: 2BEG), using CLC Drug Discovery Workbench v2.4.1. Since A $\beta_{1.42}$ contains no specific pharmacophore, a large search space covering the entire peptide was used in each case; each ligand was also kept flexible to allow for rotation of bonds during docking simulations. Docking simulations were repeated five times with 1000 iterations per simulation and the binding pose with the highest overall docking score for each ligand was selected for representative imaging.

2.7 Statistical Analysis

Cell viability data from the MTT assay was analysed via a two-way ANOVA using Dunnett's multiple comparisons test to determine significance vs treatment (A β_{1-42} or *t*bhp). Modelling data was analysed by one-way ANOVA with significance determined by Tukey's multiple comparisons test. All data is presented as mean ± SD, with results deemed significant if p <0.05.

Data analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism v.9.0.0 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego, USA).

Results

3.1 The Δ^9 -THC-dominant chemovars BC-101, and BC-201 provide the greatest degree of neuroprotection against A β_{1-42} in NSC-34 cells; heat exposure generally decreases the bioactivity of cannabis extracts

Incubation with $A\beta_{1-42}$ (0-1.5µM) over 48 hours resulted in a concentration-dependent reduction in NSC-34 cell viability to a maximum of 75.38% initial viability (****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 4**). Of the five unheated extracts screened in this study, the Δ^9 -THC-dominant chemovars BC-101 and BC-201 consistently provided the greatest degree of neuroprotection across the full range of $A\beta_{1.42}$ concentrations, maintaining cell viability at 86.27% and 85.96%, respectively, at 1.5µM $A\beta_{1.42}$ (****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 4a**). The Δ^9 -THC-dominant BC-401 extract also significantly inhibited the cytotoxicity of $A\beta_{1.42}$ at 0.5, 1 and 1.5µM, maintaining cell viability at 88.26%, 83.36% and 83.93% initial, respectively (*p = 0.0268, **p = 0.0097 and ****p <0.0001 vs control). The BC-301 extract exhibited similar efficacy as an inhibitor of $A\beta_{1.42}$ cytotoxicity, maintaining cell viability at 88.69%, 84.34% and 82.95% initial at 0.5, 1 and 1.5µM $A\beta_{1.42}$, respectively (*p = 0.0139, **p = 0.0018 and ***p = 0.0004 vs control), while the CBD-dominant BC-501 extract displayed only modest protection, with significance seen only at the highest concentration of $A\beta_{1.42}$ (80.5% initial, *p = 0.0263).

The neuroprotective profile of each extract displayed similar trends in efficacy following heat exposure. H-BC-101 extract displayed the greatest neuroprotective capacity of all heated extracts, significantly inhibiting A β_{1-42} cytotoxicity at each amyloid concentration. Significant neuroprotection was also observed following treatment with H-BC-201 extract, with cell viability maintained at 89.25%, 84.5% and 84.85% initial at 0.5, 1 and 1.5µM A β_{1-42} , respectively (**p = 0.0019, ****p <0.0001 and ****p <0.0001 vs control). H-BC-401 extract
provided significant protection at 0.5, 1 and 1.5 μ M A $\beta_{1.42}$, maintaining NSC-34 cell viability at 87.75%, 83.39% and 82.95%, respectively (*p = 0.0378, ***p = 0.0002 and ***p = 0.0001 vs control). The CBD-dominant H-BC-301 extract provided significant protection only at 1 and 1.5 μ M A $\beta_{1.42}$, maintaining cell viability at 81.4% and 81.56%, respectively (*p = 0.0138 and **p = 0.0032 vs control); H-BC-501 extract displayed no significant neuroprotection.



Fig. 4. MTT assay of cell viability following 48hr incubation with $A\beta_{1-42}$ (0-1.5µM) alone and in the presence of various (a) unheated and (b) heated cannabis extracts (10µM PC). Mean (SD), n = 5. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001 vs vehicle.

Interestingly, a significant decrease in NSC-34 viability was seen after treatment with H-BC-301 extract alone (88.89% initial, ****p < 0.0001); this was also observed at 0 and 0.2 μ M A β_{1-} 42 in the case of H-BC-501 extract (94.28% and 88.03% initial, **p = 0.0011 and **p = 0.0076).

3.2 Cannabis extracts provide no significant protection against *t*bhp-induced neurotoxicity in NSC-34 cells; heat exposure increases the cytotoxicity of CBD-dominant chemovars.

Incubation with *t*bhp (0-150 μ M) over 24 hours resulted in a concentration-dependent decrease in cell viability to a maximum of 9.4% initial viability (****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 5** and **Fig. 6**). None of the chemovars tested provided any significant protection against *t*bhp-induced



Fig. 5. MTT assay of cell viability following 24hr incubation with *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*bhp) (0-150 μ M) alone and in the presence of various cannabis extracts (10 μ M PC): (a) BC-101, (b) BC-201, (c) BC-301, (d) BC-401, (e) BC-101. Mean (SD), n = 4. *p <0.05, **p <0.01 vs vehicle.

cytotoxicity. However, significant increases in toxicity were observed at 25μ M (82.36% initial vs 87.13%, *p = 0.0305) and 150 μ M *t*bhp (7.3% initial vs 12.74%, *p = 0.01) following treatment with the CBD-dominant BC-501 extract (**Fig. 5e**).

Heat exposure resulted in a notable increase in the cytotoxicity of CBD-dominant chemovars. H-BC-301 extract displayed intrinsic toxicity while also increasing the toxicity of 25μ M *t*bhp (86.95% initial vs control, ****p <0.0001 and 75.02% initial vs 87.84%, ****p <0.0001, respectively) (**Fig. 6c**). A similar pattern was observed in H-BC-501-treated cells, which also displayed intrinsic toxicity (88.24% initial vs control, ***p =0.0002) as well as reducing cell



Fig. 6. MTT assay of cell viability following 24hr incubation with *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*bhp) (0-150 μ M) alone and in the presence of various heated cannabis extracts (10 μ M PC): (a) H-BC-101, (b) H-BC-201, (c) H-BC-301, (d) H-BC-401, (e) H-BC-101. Mean (SD), n = 5. *p <0.05, **p <0.01, ***p <0.001, ****p <0.0001 vs vehicle.

viability to 83.74%, 65.66% and 35.32% initial at 25, 50 and 100 μ M *t*bhp, respectively (**p = 0.0038, *p = 0.0192 and *p = 0.0145).

<u>3.3. Cannabis extracts exert little effect on A $\beta_{1.42}$ aggregation, with modest effects on aggregate</u> density and overall morphology

The cannabis extracts screened in this study generally exerted little effect on the overall morphology of A β_{1-42} (**Fig. 7**). Some slight differences were observed, with BC-401 extract effectively reducing the overall degree of aggregation (**Fig. 7e**); however, the overall effect of each extract was relatively modest.



Fig. 7. Transmission electron micrographs demonstrating the effect of unheated (b-f) and heated (g-k) cannabis extracts (10 μ M PC) on the aggregation and morphology of A $\beta_{1.42}$ (10 μ M). (a) control, (b) BC-101, (c) BC-201, (d) BC-301, (e) BC-401, (f) BC-501, (g) H-BC-101, (h) H-BC-201, (i) H-BC-301, (j) H-BC-401, (k) H-BC-501.

3.4. Comparative molecular modelling of binding interactions between carboxylated and decarboxylated phytocannabinoids and the A β protein

The amyloid binding characteristics of the phytocannabinoids Δ^9 -THC and CBD were compared with their carboxylated precursors THCA and CBDA (**Figs 8, 9** and **10**). In the A β_{1-} 42 monomer, both Δ^9 -THC and CBD bound towards the centre of the protein, interacting with the key Lys16 residue via hydrogen bonding (**Fig. 9a** and **c**), although Δ^9 -THC displayed



Fig.8. *In silico* modelling of binding interactions between Δ^9 -THC, THCA, CBD and CBDA with A β (a) monomer (PDB ID: 1IYT) and (b) pentamer (PDB ID: 2BEG). Data presented as median (i) best docking score and the corresponding (ii) hydrogen bonding score and (iii) steric interaction score from n = 5 independent simulations. *p <0.05, **p <0.01, ****p <0.001, ****p <0.0001.

slightly greater binding affinity over CBD (*p = 0.0147) (**Fig. 8a (i)**). A similar relationship was observed between Δ^9 -THC and THCA, whereby both molecules bound towards the centre of the A β_{1-42} monomer, although THCA bound at slight opposition to Δ^9 -THC and did not form hydrogen bonds with Lys16; no significant difference was observed between the docking scores of Δ^9 -THC and THCA. CBD possessed greater affinity for the A β_{1-42} monomer than CBDA (**p = 0.0011) (**Fig. 8a (i)**), despite the similarity in binding pose and position (**Fig. 9c** and **d**). Of particular note was the relationship between THCA and CBDA, whereby THCA displayed significantly greater affinity for the A β_{1-42} monomer (****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 8a (i)**), perhaps due primarily to differences in steric interactions (*p = 0.0483) (**Fig. 8a (iii**)).

In the pentamer, Δ^9 -THC displayed far greater affinity than both CBD and THCA (****p <0.0001), with no significant difference observed between CBD and CBDA nor between THCA and CBDA (**Fig. 8b (i)**). The carboxylated phytocannabinoids THCA and CBDA displayed significantly greater hydrogen bonding potential than their decarboxylated counterparts (****p <0.0001), while Δ^9 -THC displayed great hydrogen bonding than CBD (****p <0.0001) and THCA significantly greater than CBDA (****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 8b (ii**)). Δ^9 -THC also displayed considerably greater steric interaction scores than all other phytocannabinoids screened (****p <0.0001), likely contributing to its relative binding potency (**Fig. 8b (iii**)). Each phytocannabinoid bound in a similar position within the hydrophobic groove of the A β pentamer, with all but CBD displaying hydrogen-bonding interactions with Leu 17 (**Fig. 10**).



Fig. 9. Representative images of the most favourable binding interactions between (a) Δ^9 -THC, (b) THCA, (c) CBD and (d) CBDA with A β_{1-42} monomer (PDB ID: 1IYT); images presented with (i) ribbon structure and (ii) bubble.



Fig. 10. Representative images of the most favourable binding interactions between (a) Δ^9 -THC, (b) THCA, (c) CBD and (d) CBDA with A β_{17-42} pentamer (PDB ID: 2BEG); images presented with (i) ribbon structure and (ii) bubble.

Discussion

The results of this study highlight the novel neuroprotective effects of ethanolic extracts of the type I cannabis chemovars BC-101, BC-201 and BC-401 against $A\beta_{1-42}$ -evoked neurotoxicity. No significant protective effect was observed in *t*bhp-treated cells following co-incubation with any of the cannabis extracts screened in this study, suggesting that this neuroprotection is likely independent of antioxidant capacity. These extracts exerted minimal qualitative effects on the fibrillisation and aggregation of $A\beta$, indicating that this protective effect is also independent of direct interactions with the amyloid protein. This study presents the first characterisation of these five proprietary cannabis chemovars in the context of neuronal cell-based models of Alzheimer's disease neurotoxicity.

The Δ^9 -THC-predominant chemovars BC-101, BC-201 and BC-401 significantly inhibited the neurotoxicity of A β_{1-42} in NSC-34 cells, with the type II chemovar BC-301 providing a lesser degree of protection; no significant neuroprotection was observed following treatment with the type III chemovar BC-501. This pattern suggests that Δ^9 -THC-predominant cannabis extracts may provide a greater degree of neuroprotection against Aβ-evoked toxicity than CBDpredominant extracts. This finding is in line with previous studies from our laboratory, which have demonstrated no significant neuroprotective capacity for CBD against A β_{1-42} (Harvey et al., 2012)(see Chapter 3 of this thesis). Interestingly, none of the extracts screened in this study provided any protection against the lipid peroxidising agent *t*bhp in NSC-34 cells. This is in contrast to the findings of a previous study which highlighting the particular efficacy of Δ^9 -THC-dominant extracts in reducing H₂O₂-induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation (Raja et al., 2020). This difference may, in part, be attributed to factors including the different cell types used in these studies, the different pro-oxidants stressors used and possible variations in the degree of cell differentiation. However, the authors noted the particular lack of efficacy of CBD-dominant extracts as antioxidants, a trend that was observed in the present study. Interestingly, previous research from our laboratory has shown that CBD possesses the ability

to protect neuronal PC12 cells from *t*bhp-evoked cytotoxicity, while affording no significant neuroprotection against $A\beta_{1-42}$ (see Chapter 3 of this thesis), suggesting either possible differences in pro-oxidant resilience between these phenotypically distinct neuronal cell lines or the differential expression of targets or operant pathways for CBD-based neuroprotection, whereby the definitive pharmacological target(s) for CBD's action remains unclear.

Given their lack of efficacy in the inhibition of both amyloid aggregation and *t*bhp-induced cytotoxicity, it is clear that these extracts mediate their protective effects via other mechanisms. Both Δ^9 -THC and CBD have been shown to exert their neuroprotective effects via the activation of numerous receptor targets, including cannabinoid receptor 1 and 2 subtypes (CB_1 and CB_2) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARy) (Zou and Kumar, 2018, O'Sullivan, 2016). Interestingly, the non-selective cannabinoid receptor agonist WIN55212-2 has been shown to reduce $A\beta$ -evoked neuroinflammation via the activation of both CB_1 and CB₂ receptors, as well as increased PPARy signalling (Fakhfouri et al., 2012). Moreover, activation of the CB₂ receptor has been associated with the reversal of AD-associated memory impairment, with CB₂ receptor deficiency being shown to worsen the pathological progression of AD in vivo (Wu et al., 2013, Koppel et al., 2013). Such studies highlight the potential importance of cannabinoid and PPARy receptors as targets in AD. Interestingly, a study from Finlay and colleagues found that the entourage effect of cannabis terpenes was not mediated by their activity at cannabinoid receptors (Finlay et al., 2020). However, future studies may employ the use of selective cannabinoid and PPARy receptor antagonists to determine their role in the neuroprotection afforded by the particular chemovars used in this study.

Interestingly, a general trend was observed whereby heating of each extract reduced their overall neuroprotective effects, even increasing the toxicity of CBD-dominant extracts. One possible explanation for this effect is the possible decrease in terpenoids in the heated extracts, as heating of cannabis has been shown to reduce terpene retention, given their volatile nature (Chen et al., 2021). Moreover, heat exposure may result in the formation of oxidation products

such as hydroperoxides (e.g. limonene hydroperoxide) which have been associated with ROSinduced cytotoxicity via lipid peroxidation (Maggini et al., 2022). This would be consistent with the prevailing theory of the entourage effect, whereby the presence of such terpenoids may act to synergistically enhance the protective effects of cannabinoids (Russo, 2011). This effect highlights the potential therapeutic benefits of using whole botanical cannabis extracts over phytocannabinoids in isolation. It is particularly interesting to note the potential role of such cannabis terpenes in the neuroprotection observed in this study. Terpenes such as myrcene have been shown to possess neuroprotective qualities in *in vivo* models of oxidative neuronal damage and AD, with the terpenes α -bisabolol and β -caryophyllene providing significant neuroprotection against A β_{1-42} in NSC-34 cells (Kumar et al., 2021, Ciftci et al., 2014, Laws III et al., 2022). Moreover, both α -pinene and β -pinene have been ascribed neuroprotective properties, with α -pinene providing *in vivo* neuroprotection via the suppression of the TNFα/NF-κB pathway (Khan-Mohammadi-Khorrami et al., 2022, Shin et al., 2020). Interestingly, it has been suggested that cannabis terpenes including α -humulene, linalool and β -pinene have cannabimimetic properties, with the ability to produce cannabinoid tetrad behaviours in mice suggestive of an ability to enhance cannabinoid activity (LaVigne et al., 2021). Each of these terpenes are found in the chemovars used in this study, suggesting they may play a role in the observed neuroprotection. Future in vivo studies may consider using standardised combinations of these terpenes in the presence and absence of Δ^9 -THC and CBD, in order to further assess their therapeutic potential in AD as well investigating any possible therapeutic synergism.

Modelling with A β revealed that, despite binding at similar positions, Δ^9 -THC possesses significantly greater binding affinity for both the monomer and pentamer than both THCA and CBD. We have previously shown that Δ^9 -THC possesses greater binding affinity for both the A β monomer and pentamer than does CBD (Marsh and Smid, 2021). However, to our knowledge, this study presents the first comparative insights into the amyloid binding affinities for Δ^9 -THC and CBD against their carboxylated precursors. It was observed that THCA and CBDA possess significantly lower binding affinity for the Aβ protein than their decarboxylated counterparts, suggesting that unheated extracts, which likely contain a greater proportion of THCA and CBDA, should be less efficacious as inhibitors of amyloid aggregation than heated extracts. However, an interesting lack of correlation was observed between this modelling data and the morphological data obtained via TEM. Only the unheated BC-401 exerted any effect on A β_{1-42} aggregation and morphology, an effect which was not observed following heat exposure. In any case, it is clear that the neuroprotection against A β_{1-42} observed in this study is independent of any direct interactions with the A β_{1-42} protein. This is consistent with previous studies which have found both Δ^9 -THC and CBD to have negligible effects on A β_{1-42} aggregation (Janefjord et al., 2014)(see Chapter 3 of this thesis). Moreover, we have found that Δ^9 -THC, not CBD, is able to inhibit the neurotoxicity of A β_{1-42} in neuronal PC12 cells without affecting protein aggregation, consistent with the results of the present study (see Chapter 3 of this thesis).

In conclusion, this study demonstrated the novel neuroprotective capacities of the proprietary type I chemovars BC-101, BC-201 and BC-401 against A β -evoked neurotoxicity, an effect that was reduced following heat exposure, is independent of antioxidant capacity and is unrelated to direct interactions with the A β_{1-42} protein. Given the protective effect observed in this study and the considerable interest surrounding medicinal cannabis and the therapeutic use of whole botanical extracts, further research into the neuroprotective efficacy of medicinal cannabis extracts is warranted. As our understanding of medicinal cannabis and the entourage effect continues to grow, so too does the need for further *in vivo* studies of whole botanical extracts in the context of AD. Such studies may provide considerable insight into the true therapeutic potential of medicinal cannabis, presenting an important avenue for future exploration.

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Comparing the efficacy of structurally diverse phytocannabinoids as inhibitors of SN-38- and cytokine-evoked increases in intestinal epithelial barrier permeability		
Publication Status	Published Accepted for Publication		
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted w ork w ritten in manuscript style	
Publication Details			

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Dylan Thomas Marsh		
Contribution to the Paper	Conceptualisation, Methodology, Validation, Fo Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing,	ormal anal Visualisat	ysis, Data curation, Investigation, ion
Overall percentage (%)	85%		
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.		
Signature		Date	24/07/22

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contr bution.

Name of Co-Author	Scott Smid		
Contribution to the Paper	Conceptualisation, Resources, Writing - review & Funding acquisition	& editing, \$	Supervision, Project administration,
Signature		Date	July 25, 2022

Chapter 5: Comparing the efficacy of structurally diverse phytocannabinoids as inhibitors of SN-38- and cytokine-evoked increases in intestinal epithelial barrier permeability

Dylan T Marsh¹ & Scott D Smid¹

¹ Discipline of Pharmacology, School of Biomedicine, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

Abstract

Irinotecan and its active metabolite SN-38 have been linked to the development of gastrointestinal toxicity and inflammation, known as gastrointestinal mucositis (GIM). Phytocannabinoids have been ascribed anti-inflammatory effects in models of gastrointestinal inflammation, with the ability to reduce inflammation and maintain epithelial barrier function. However, there have been few studies regarding their potential role in ameliorating irinotecan-induced GIM. Here, we aimed to characterise the protective capacity of the phytocannabinoids cannabigerol, cannabichromene and cannabidivarin in comparison with cannabidiol in a model of intestinal epithelial barrier integrity. Caco-2 cell viability in the presence of SN-38 (1-5 μ M) was assessed using the thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. Transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) was measured to determine changes in epithelial permeability in the presence of SN-38 (5 μ M) or the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-1 β (each at 100ng/mL). The DCFDA assay was used to determine the ROS-scavenging ability of each phytocannabinoid following treatment with 200 μ M *t*bhp. MTT and TEER data were analysed by two-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test versus control; data from the DCFDA assay were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test.

Each phytocannabinoid provided significant protection against cytokine-evoked increases in epithelial permeability, with cannabigerol proving most effective. Cannabidiol, cannabidivarin and cannabigerol were able to significantly inhibit SN-38-evoked increases in permeability, while cannabichromene had no significant effect. None of the tested phytocannabinoids were able to significantly inhibit *t*bhp-induced ROS generation. These results highlight a novel role for cannabidiol, cannabidivarin and cannabigerol as inhibitors of SN-38-evoked increases in epithelial permeability. These results support the rationale for further investigations into the use of phytocannabinoids as potential adjunct therapeutics in the management of irinotecan-associated mucositis and intestinal inflammation more generally.

118

1. Introduction

Gastrointestinal inflammation plays an essential role in the pathology and progression of numerous diseases, including inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and chemotherapy-induced gastrointestinal mucositis (GIM). In the case of GIM, treatment with conventional chemotherapeutic drugs may initiate the onset of chronic inflammation, as well as the development of severe diarrhoea, rectal bleeding and infection (Dahlgren et al., 2021, Sougiannis et al., 2021). The development of GIM symptomology often results in dose reductions and delays in treatment, which can negatively affect clinical outcomes (Lalla et al., 2014). Several chemotherapeutic agents have been implicated in the development of GIM, with perhaps the most common being irinotecan, a drug used in the treatment of various forms of cancer, including colorectal, gastric, pulmonary and ovarian (Gibson et al., 2003, Kciuk et al., 2020). Irinotecan is a prodrug which undergoes enzymatic decarboxylation by carboxylesterases 1 and 2 to its active metabolite, 7-ethyl-10-hydroxycamptothecin (SN-38), before being inactivated via glucuronidation to SN-38 glucuronide (SN-38G) by uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase 1A1 (UGT1A1) (Alfirevic and Pirmohamed, 2016). Following this, SN-38G may be reactivated by bacterial β -glucuronidases, resulting in the deposition of active SN-38 into the intestinal lumen (Bailly, 2019, Wallace et al., 2010). As a result, intestinal exposure to SN-38, an established causative factor in the onset of diarrhoea following treatment with irinotecan, is dramatically increased (Sun et al., 2020). Despite its offtarget toxicity, irinotecan remains a common and effective treatment for a variety of solid tumours, highlighting the need for ways to minimise its off-target toxicity and the development of GIM (Fujita et al., 2015, Pizzolato and Saltz, 2003).

Treatment with irinotecan results in increased expression of nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B), as well as numerous pro-inflammatory cytokines, including interleukin 1- β (IL-1 β) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF α); these cytokines have been linked to increases in intestinal permeability *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Al-Sadi et al., 2009, Chelakkot et al., 2018, M Logan et al.,

2008). Furthermore, TNFα and IL-1β have been implicated in the pathogenesis of irinotecaninduced GIM, highlighting their importance as potential therapeutic targets (Melo et al., 2008). These pro-inflammatory cytokines are also key players in the development of IBD-related symptomology, with the ability to increase epithelial permeability; increased intestinal levels of TNFα and IL-1β is also associated with increased disease severity (Al-Sadi et al., 2008, Mao et al., 2018, Sands and Kaplan, 2007, Arifa et al., 2014). Interestingly, the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the development of oxidative stress are causative factors in the development of both IBD and chemotherapy-induced GIM, with antioxidant therapies showing great promise as mucoprotective agents (Arifa et al., 2016, Al-Asmari et al., 2015, Ashcraft et al., 2015). Upstream ROS generation may activate NF- κ B, resulting in the increased transcription of numerous genes, including those coding for TNFα and IL-1β, resulting in the upregulation of these cytokines (Sonis, 2004, Lingappan, 2018). The subsequent upregulation of TNFα may then activate caspase pathways and generate a feedback loop on NF- κ B, leading to an exacerbated inflammatory response (Cinausero et al., 2017). It therefore follows that



Fig.1. Structures of the phytocannabinoids cannabigerol (CBG), cannabichromene (CBC), cannabidiol (CBD) and cannabidivarin (CBDV).

compounds with the ability to inhibit ROS generation and mediate the associated inflammatory response may be beneficial in the treatment and management of GIM.

Cannabis sativa (*C. sativa*) is the source of over 540 distinct phytochemicals, more than 120 of which are considered phytocannabinoids (pCBs) (Marsh and Smid, 2021). Numerous studies have investigated the therapeutic potential of *cannabis* in the treatment of GI inflammation, particularly in the context of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis (Naftali, 2020, Couch et al., 2018, Ahmed and Katz, 2016, Pagano et al., 2016). Phytocannabinoids possess the ability to maintain barrier integrity in models of colitis via a multitude of mechanisms, including inhibiting ROS production and reducing expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Borrelli et al., 2009, Cocetta et al., 2021, Pereira et al., 2021). Although pCBs have shown great promise as mucoprotective, anti-inflammatory and antioxidant agents, the majority of studies have focused on the specific actions of cannabidiol (CBD) and Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC), leaving the plethora of other pCBs largely unexplored. In this light, given the anti-inflammatory

and mucoprotective properties ascribed to pCBs in models of IBD, we hypothesise that these compounds may also be protective against SN-38-evoked reductions in barrier integrity via similar mechanisms.

In the present study, we characterised the mucoprotective capacities of the phytocannabinoids cannabidivarin, cannabigerol and cannabichromene in comparison with the well-characterised cannabidiol (**Fig. 1**). We determined the effect of each pCB on the cytotoxicity of SN-38 and assessed their ability to maintain epithelial barrier integrity in the presence of SN-38 and the proinflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-1 β . Finally, the ability for each pCB to inhibit *in vitro* ROS generation was also investigated. This study presents the first characterisation of cannabigerol, cannabichromene and cannabidivarin as mucoprotective agents against SN-38-evoked reductions in epithelial barrier integrity and aims to inform future investigations regarding the therapeutic use of phytocannabinoids in the context of chemotherapy-induced GIM.

2. Methods and Materials

2.1 Materials and Reagents

The phytocannabinoids used in this study include cannabigerol, cannabichromene, cannabidivarin (Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and cannabidiol (Australian Government National Measurement Institute, Lindfield, NSW, Australia). Thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT), trypan blue, Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM), DMEM without phenol red, tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin 1- β (IL-1 β), phosphate buffered saline (PBS), non-essential amino acids (NEAA), penicillin/streptomycin, 1xTrypsin-EDTA, 7-ethyl-10-hydroxycamptothecin (SN-38), 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin diacetate (DCFDA) and amphotericin B were also purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). NuncTM polycarbonate cell culture inserts and carrier plates were purchased from ThermoFisher Scientific (Scoresby, VIC, AUS), black, clear-bottom 96-well plates from

Greiner Bio-One (Kremsmünster, AUT), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) from Adelab Scientific (Thebarton, SA, AUS) and foetal bovine serum (FBS) from Fisher Biotec (Wembley, WA, AUS). The EVOM2 epithelial voltohmeter with chopstick electrode was purchased from World Precision Instruments (Sarasota, FL, USA).

2.2 Caco-2 Cell Culture

Human colonic carcinoma (Caco-2) cells obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Manassas, VA, USA) were cultured in complete DMEM, containing 10% FBS, 1% NEAA and 1% penicillin/streptomycin and maintained at 37° C, 5% CO₂. For cell viability measurements, Caco-2 cells were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 2×10^4 cells per well in complete DMEM and left to equilibrate for 24 hours prior to treatment.

2.3 Cell Viability Measurements

Caco-2 cells were treated with each phytocannabinoid at varying concentrations and allowed to equilibrate for 15 minutes, prior to the addition of SN-38 (0, 1, 2 & 5μ M). Test concentrations for SN-38 and each phytocannabinoid were selected based on concentration-response data collected prior to conducting these experiments (data not shown).

Following treatment, cells were incubated for 48 hours at 37°C with 5% CO₂, at which time cell viability was measured using the thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. Briefly, culture media was removed and replaced with serum-free media containing 0.25mg/mL MTT and incubated for a further 2 hours at 37°C, 5% CO₂. MTT solution was then removed and the cells lysed with DMSO, with absorbance values measured at 570nm using a Synergy MX microplate reader (Bio-Tek, Bedfordshire, UK).

2.4 Epithelial Permeability Measurements

Caco-2 cells were cultured until they reached 80% confluence, then washed in PBS, detached using trypsin-EDTA and centrifuged for 5 minutes at $150 \times g$ before being resuspended in

complete DMEM. Experiments were conducted using 24-well plates containing Nunc[™] polycarbonate cell culture inserts (0.4µm pore size, 0.47cm² culture area). The basolateral compartment was filled with 1mL of complete DMEM containing 1% amphotericin B. Cells were seeded in the apical compartment at a density of 5×10^4 cells per cm² in 300µL of culture medium; one insert contained media only for the purpose of normalising TEER values. Plates were incubated for 6 hours at 37°C, 5% CO₂, before the apical media was replaced to remove non-adherent cells and prevent excessive clumping. (Hubatsch et al., 2007) Media was changed every 2 days for up to 25 days until the cells reached confluence and differentiated; all subsequent media changes were supplemented with 1% amphotericin B to avoid fungal contamination. Transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) was measured using the EVOM2 epithelial volt/ohm meter with chopstick electrode (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL, USA). Initial resistance values for each monolayer were normalised to the blank well using the formula: $R_{MONOLAYER}(\Omega) = R_{INITIAL}(\Omega) - R_{BLANK}(\Omega)$. Final TEER values were calculated using the formula: $TEER_{FINAL}(\Omega.cm2) = R_{MONOLAYER}(\Omega) \times A_{CULTURE AREA}(cm^2)$. Before TEER measurements were taken, media was replaced with complete DMEM without amphotericin B. Only inserts with TEER values over $500\Omega/cm^2$ were used in experiments.

Once cells reached threshold TEER values, they were treated with either TNF α and IL-1 β (each at 100ng/mL) or SN-38 (5 μ M). Cytokines were added to the basolateral compartment, with vehicle (0.2% DMSO in PBS) and SN-38 applied apically; TEER measurements were taken 2, 6, 24 and 48 hours post-treatment. Cells were treated apically with phytocannabinoids (1 μ M) 15 minutes prior to cytokine or SN-38 addition to allow for drug equilibration; each phytocannabinoid was also tested without cytokines/SN-38 to determine their intrinsic effects on epithelial permeability.

2.5 DCFDA fluorescence Assay

Caco-2 cells were passaged and prepared at a density of 1×10^6 cells per mL in PBS. Cells were then washed twice via centrifugation in PBS at $150 \times g$ for 5 minutes to remove phenol-red containing media. Cells were then resuspended in 20µM DCFDA solution (20µM DCFDA in PBS) and incubated in the dark at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 30 minutes. Cells were then washed twice by centrifugation in PBS to remove remaining DCFDA solution. Cells were then resuspended at 1×10^6 cells/mL in complete DMEM without phenol red. Next, 100µL of cell suspension per well was added to a black, clear-bottom 96-well plate (1×10^5 cells/100µL). Cells were then treated with each phytocannabinoid (1μ M) $\pm t$ bhp (200µM) and incubated in the dark for 4 hours at 37°C, 5% CO₂. Fluorescence was measured using a Synergy MX microplate reader with excitation and emission filters set to 485nm and 535nm, respectively.

2.6 Statistical Analysis

Data from MTT and TEER assays were analysed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Dunnett's multiple comparisons determining significance versus control for cell viability and versus cytokine/SN-38 treatment for TEER data (p<0.05). Data from the DCFDA assay were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test (p<0.05).

3. Results

3.1. SN-38 causes a concentration-dependent reduction in Caco-2 cell viability that was enhanced by co-incubation with cannabidiol and cannabidivarin

Incubation with SN-38 (0-5 μ M) caused a concentration-dependent reduction in Caco-2 cell viability to a maximum of 25.78% (74.22% viability, *p*<0.0001), which was variably affected by co-incubation with the selected phytocannabinoids (**Fig. 2**). At 1 μ M SN-38, treatment with 10nM, 100nM and 1000nM CBD each significantly increased the cytotoxicity of SN-38 (83.85%, 80.12% and 80.77% viability, respectively, vs 88.74% with SN-38 alone) (**Fig. 2a**). A similar effect was observed at 2 μ M SN-38, with 84.85% viability observed for SN-38 alone and 79.24% and 80.07% following treatment with 100nM and 1000nM CBD, respectively; only



Fig 2. MTT assay of Caco-2 cell viability following 48hr incubation with SN-38 (0-5 μ M) alone and in the presence of selected phytocannabinoids (10-1000nM): (a) cannabidiol, (b) cannabidivarin (c) cannabichromene, (d) cannabigerol. Data presented as mean ± SD, n = 4. *p < 0.05, **p <0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001 vs vehicle.

1000nM CBD showed a significant difference vs 5μM SN-38 (76.42% vs 80.12% for SN-38 alone) (Fig. 2a).

Treatment with each test concentration of CBDV resulted in a significant increase in the toxicity of 1µM SN-38 (90.86% viability), with 84.89%, 80.66% and 79.54% viability observed following co-incubation with 10nM, 100nM and 1000nM CBDV, respectively (**Fig. 2b**). A significant decrease in cell viability was also observed at 2µM SN-38 following co-incubation with 1000nM CBDV (80.32% viability vs 85.85% with SN-38 alone), though no significance was observed at any other concentration (**Fig. 2b**). For the CBC (**Fig. 2c**) and CBG (**Fig. 2d**) treatment groups, no significant difference was observed at any concentration of SN-38. 3.2. Cannabidiol, cannabidivarin and cannabigerol significantly inhibit SN-38-evoked increases in Caco-2 monolayer permeability

Exposure to SN-38 (5µM) over a period of 48 hours resulted in significant reductions in the TEER of Caco-2 monolayers, with the greatest reduction observed at 24 hours (83.57% initial, ****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 3**). Of the four phytocannabinoids selected for this study, cannabidiol (1µM) provided the greatest degree of protection against this decrease in TEER, with significant protection observed at 6 hours (98.88% initial vs 90.24% for SN-38 alone), 24 hours (99.19% initial vs 83.57%) and 48 hours (99.88% initial vs 86.89%) (**Fig. 3a**). A similar pattern of protection was observed following treatment with cannabidivarin (1µM), with significant protection observed at 6 hours (94.77% initial vs 90.24% for SN-38 alone), 24 hours (90.70%



Fig 3. Caco-2 monolayer permeability as determined by TEER measurements during 48hr incubation with SN-38 (5 μ M) alone and in the presence of selected phytocannabinoids (1 μ M): (a) cannabidiol, (b) cannabidivarin (c) cannabigerol, (d) cannabichromene. Data presented as mean \pm SD, n = 3. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001 vs SN-38 alone. # represents comparison to control, * represents comparison to SN-38 + pCBs.

initial vs 83.57%) and 48 hours (96.99% initial vs 86.89%) (**Fig. 3b**). A lesser degree of protection was observed following treatment with cannabigerol (1 μ M), with significant protection observed at 24 hours (91.26% initial vs 83.57%) and 48 hours (92.74% initial vs 86.89%) (**Fig. 3c**). Treatment with 1 μ M cannabichromene resulted in a modest protective effect at 48 hours (91.43% initial vs 86.89); CBC exhibited no significant effect at any other time point (**Fig. 3d**).

3.3. Phytocannabinoids exhibit potent anti-inflammatory capacity against cytokine-evoked increases in Caco-2 monolayer permeability

Incubation with the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-1 β (each at 100ng/mL) resulted in a significant decrease in TEER over 48 hours to a maximum of 70.87% initial at 24 hours (****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 4**).



Fig 4. Caco-2 monolayer permeability as determined by TEER measurements during 48hr co-incubation with TNF α and IL-1 β (each at 100ng/mL) alone and in the presence of selected phytocannabinoids (1 μ M): (a) cannabidiol, (b) cannabidivarin (c) cannabigerol, (d) cannabichromene. Data presented as mean \pm SD, n = 3. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ****p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001 vs cytokines alone. # represents comparison to control, * represents comparison to treatment group.

Cannabidiol (1 μ M) offered significant protection against this decrease in TEER at 6 hours (88.48% initial, vs 80.58% for the cytokines alone), 24hrs (86.13% initial vs 70.87%) and 48hrs (89.60% initial vs 75.08%) (**Fig. 4a**). In line with the SN-38 results, a similar pattern of protection was again observed following treatment with cannabidivarin (1 μ M), with significance at 6 hours (87.81% initial vs 80.58%), 24 hours (82.34% initial vs 70.87%) and 48 hours (86.10% initial vs 75.08%). Cannabigerol provided the most consistent protection across the 48-hour incubation period, with significance observed at 6hrs (91.57% initial vs 80.58%), 24hrs (83.837% initial vs 70.87%) and 48hrs (89.16% initial vs 75.08%) (**Fig. 4c**). Finally, in contrast with the SN-38 results, cannabichromene (1 μ M) proved significantly protective, exhibiting statistical significance at 6 hours (85% initial vs 75.08%) (**Fig. 4d**).

3.4 Phytocannabinoids have no significant effect on ROS generation

Treatment with *t*bhp for a period of 4 hours resulted in a 477% increase in DCFDA fluorescence versus control (****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 5**). No significant reduction in ROS generation was observed following treatment with either of the pCBs screened in this study, although significant variability was observed in the CBDV treatment group. No significant increase in ROS generation was observed in Caco-2 cells following treatment with SN-38, TNF α or IL-1 β either alone or in combination (data not shown).



Fig 5. ROS generation in Caco-2 cells as determined by DCFDA fluorescence following 4hr incubation with *t*bhp (200 μ M) alone and in the presence of selected phytocannabinoids (1 μ M). Data presented as mean ± SD, n = 4. ****p <0.0001, ns = not significant vs *t*bhp.

4. Discussion

The anti-inflammatory capacity of phytocannabinoids has been well established in models of IBD, providing protection via numerous mechanisms (Esposito et al., 2013, Ahmed and Katz, 2016, Couch et al., 2018). A similar effect was observed in this study, whereby each phytocannabinoid maintained barrier integrity following treatment with the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-1 β . However, the efficacy of these pCBs as anti-inflammatory and mucoprotective agents in the context of irinotecan-induced GIM has not yet been investigated. In the present study, we identified novel roles for CBD, CBDV, and CBG as inhibitors of SN-38-evoked increases in epithelial barrier permeability and confirmed the established anti-inflammatory efficacy of each test pCB. To our knowledge, this study presents the first

characterisation of CBG, CBC and CBDV as protective agents in the context of SN-38-evoked changes to epithelial barrier function.

Both CBD and CBDV significantly increased the toxicity of low micromolar concentrations of SN-38 in Caco-2 cells. This is in line with a previous study by Alsherbiny and colleagues which identified an ability for CBD to synergistically enhance the cytotoxicity of SN-38 in MCF-7 cells (Alsherbiny et al., 2021). Interestingly, the ability for CBD to enhance the cytotoxicity of anti-cancer drugs has also been noted in a model of human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (Go et al., 2020). CBD has also demonstrated intrinsic anti-proliferative and proapoptotic effects, along with the ability to dose-dependently reduce viability of cancer cells but not normal human colorectal cells (Seltzer et al., 2020, Jeong et al., 2019). The cytotoxicity of CBDV in colorectal cell lines has not been studied extensively. A study from Russo and colleagues found that CBDV is less cytotoxic than CBD in a range of cell lines, including Caco-2 cells (Russo et al., 2021). This is supported by another study by Borelli et al, which showed IC₅₀ values of approximately 4µM and 10µM in Caco-2 cells for CBD and CBDV, respectively (Borrelli et al., 2014). However, with the exception of the present study, there is currently no data investigating the effect of CBDV on the cytotoxicity of common chemotherapeutic drugs. Interestingly, none of the pCBs screened in this study had any significant effect on ROS generation, although previous studies have suggested that both CBD and CBDV possess a degree of antioxidant capacity (Russo et al., 2021). The lack of efficacy noted in this study likely relates to variations in drug concentrations and the different assays used in each case. However, it is clear that the inhibition of ROS generation is unlikely to have played any significant role in the effects observed in this study.

Each of the phytocannabinoids screened in this study significantly inhibited cytokine-evoked increases in epithelial permeability. This was unsurprising, as the ability for phytocannabinoids to protect against the deleterious effects of colitis-associated inflammation has been well characterised (Couch et al., 2018, Naftali, 2020). Although the majority of previous works have

focused on the efficacy of CBD and Δ^9 -THC, several studies have highlighted a promising antiinflammatory role for CBG in models of colitis (Borrelli et al., 2013, Pagano et al., 2021). Moreover, CBDV has been ascribed anti-inflammatory properties with the ability to reduce proinflammatory cytokine expression and overall inflammation in models of ulcerative colitis, while CBC has been shown to ameliorate murine colitis, with an ability to inhibit nitric oxide production (Pagano et al., 2019, Romano et al., 2013). Interestingly, CBG proved to be the most efficacious inhibitor of cytokine-evoked increase in epithelial permeability in the present study, further establishing its therapeutic potential in the context of GI inflammation. The results of this study emphasise the anti-inflammatory properties ascribed to these pCBs, highlighting their ability to maintain epithelial barrier function in the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines. However, despite their established roles as anti-inflammatory agents in GI disease models, these pCBs had not yet been investigated for their potential to ameliorate the epithelial damage and consequent increase in membrane permeability associated with irinotecan-induced GIM. We therefore aimed to characterise the ability for these pCBs to maintain barrier integrity in the presence of the irinotecan metabolite SN-38.

Of the pCBs screened, all but CBC were able to maintain the integrity of Caco-2 monolayers in the presence of SN-38; CBDV proved highly effective in this regard. This effect may be related to the known activity of CBDV at transient receptor potential (TRP) channels, particularly TRPA1 (De Petrocellis et al., 2011). Interestingly, Alvarenga et al showed that carvacrol is able to reduce irinotecan-induced GIM via TRPA1 activation (Alvarenga et al., 2016). Moreover, it has been shown that TRPA1 is upregulated in response to intestinal inflammation and its activation exerts a protective effect by reducing the expression of proinflammatory cytokines (Kun et al., 2014). These findings indicate a potential role for TRPA1 in the observed effect of CBDV in the present study. CBD proved to be the most effective inhibitor of SN-38-evoked increase in epithelial permeability. This was somewhat predictable, given the relative abundance of studies highlighting the protective effect of CBD in models of GI inflammation (Martínez et al., 2020, Esposito et al., 2013). The anti-inflammatory effect of CBD has been linked to a variety of mechanisms, including reductions in the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase, inhibition of ROS generation and activation of receptors such as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR- γ) (Cocetta et al., 2021, De Filippis et al., 2011). The results of the present study do not support the inhibition of ROS production as a causative factor in maintaining barrier integrity, given the lack of direct antioxidant capacity observed for each of the pCBs in this study. However, the potential involvement of PPAR- γ is of considerable interest in this context, given that PPAR- γ agonism has been shown to strengthen intestinal barrier function in Caco-2 cells, with its inhibition resulting in impaired barrier function (Zong et al., 2019). Furthermore, PPAR- γ is widely expressed in colonic epithelial cells and is an important mediator of intestinal inflammation, making it an attractive target in the treatment of GI inflammation (Annese et al., 2012, Decara et al., 2020). Several pCBs including CBD and CBG have demonstrated activity as PPAR- γ agonists, with CBG possessing the greatest potency at this receptor (O'Sullivan et al., 2009, Granja et al., 2012, O'Sullivan, 2016). It is also interesting to note that treatment with irinotecan has been shown to downregulate the expression of PPAR-y in Caco-2 cells (Boeing et al., 2022). The authors noted that the flavonoid luteolin was able to inhibit irinotecan-evoked inflammation and oxidative stress via a PPAR-y-dependent mechanism, highlighting a potential role for this receptor as a therapeutic target in irinotecan-induced GIM. In this light, further investigation is required in order to establish a potential role for PPAR-y activation in mediating the ability for pCBs such as CBD and CBG to protect against SN-38-evoked reductions in epithelial barrier integrity.

5. Conclusions

To our knowledge, this study presents the first characterisation of CBD, CBDV, CBC and CBG in the context of irinotecan-induced GIM. We identified novel protective roles for CBD, CBDV and CBG as inhibitors of SN-38-evoked increases in epithelial permeability, highlighting the

exciting therapeutic potential for these phytocannabinoids in this context. Our results support the rationale for further investigations into the use of phytocannabinoids as potential adjunct therapeutics in the management of irinotecan-associated intestinal inflammation. These findings serve to further establish the therapeutic potential of phytocannabinoids in the treatment of chemotherapy-induced GIM and GI inflammation more generally.

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	The semi-synthetic flavone 2',3',4'-trihydroxyflavone (2-D08) inhibits both SN-38- and cytokine- evoked increases in epithelial barrier permeability in vitro		
Publication Status	Published Accepted for Publication		
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted w ork w ritten in manuscript style	
Publication Details	Manuscript submitted to Food and F	unction.	

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Dylan Thomas Marsh		
Contribution to the Paper	Conceptualisation, Methodology, Validation, Fo Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing,	ormal anal Visualisat	ysis, Data curation, Investigation, ion
Overall percentage (%)	85%		
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.		
Signature		Date	31/07/22

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Scott Smid		
Contribution to the Paper	Conceptualisation, Resources, Writing - review & Funding acquisition	& editing, \$	Supervision, Project administration,
Signature		Date	August 1, 2022

Chapter 6: The semi-synthetic flavone 2',3',4'-trihydroxyflavone (2-D08) inhibits both SN-38- and cytokine-evoked increases in epithelial barrier permeability *in vitro*

Dylan T Marsh^{1*} & Scott D Smid¹

¹ Discipline of Pharmacology, School of Biomedicine, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

Abstract

The chemotherapeutic drug irinotecan and its active metabolite 7-ethyl-10hydroxycamptothecin (SN-38) have been linked to the development of off-target gastrointestinal toxicity and inflammation, termed gastrointestinal mucositis (GIM). Flavonoids possess antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects in models of gastrointestinal inflammation; however, few studies have investigated their potential in ameliorating chemotherapy-induced GIM. Here, we characterised the intestinal epithelial barrier-protective and antioxidant capacity of the novel flavonoids 2',3',4'-trihydroxyflavone (2-D08) and transilitin in comparison with flavones myricetin and quercetin in vitro via viability and permeability assessments in Caco-2 epithelial monolayers exposed to SN-38. Transilitin, 2-D08 and myricetin maintained barrier function in the presence of SN-38, with 2-D08 proving most effective. 2-D08 was the most effective inhibitor of cytokine-evoked increases in epithelial permeability, with myricetin providing modest protection; quercetin afforded no significant protection against either SN-38 or cytokine-evoked reductions in barrier integrity. Each flavonoid significantly reduced tertbutyl hydroperoxide (tbhp)-induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation, although 2-D08 was comparatively less effective. These results highlight a novel role for 2-D08 as an inhibitor of both SN-38 and cytokine-evoked increases in epithelial permeability, with lesser barrier protective roles ascribed to transilitin and myricetin and not correlated with antioxidant capacity. Such novel flavonoids as 2-D08 may have active or adjunctive roles in ameliorating chemotherapy and inflammatory-evoked changes in intestinal barrier function.

1. Introduction

In recent years a great deal of light has been shed upon the phenomenon of off-target gastrointestinal toxicity and inflammation, commonly referred to as gastrointestinal mucositis (GIM), following treatment with conventional chemotherapeutic agents (Sougiannis et al., 2021, Dahlgren et al., 2021, Bowen et al., 2019). The symptoms of GIM include severe diarrhoea, rectal bleeding and infection, often resulting in dose reductions and delays in treatment negatively affecting clinical outcomes (Lalla et al., 2014). There are a number of chemotherapeutic agents associated with the development of GIM, with perhaps the most common being irinotecan, a drug used in the treatment of a variety of cancers including colorectal, ovarian and pulmonary (Gibson et al., 2003, Kciuk et al., 2020). Cases of clinically significant GIM symptoms following treatment with irinotecan are common, with diarrhoea reported in 60-87% of patients in Phase I and II trials, up to 40% of which were considered severe (Hecht, 1998). Irinotecan is a prodrug which is converted to its active metabolite, 7-



Fig.1. Metabolism of irinotecan. Irinotecan is converted to its active metabolite 7-ethyl-10hydroxycamptothecin (SN-38) via carboxylesterases. SN-38 then undergoes glucuronidation by UGT1A1 to form the inactive metabolite SN-38G, which may be converted back to the active SN-38 by bacterial β -glucuronidase.

ethyl-10-hydroxycamptothecin (SN-38), by carboxylesterases 1 and 2, before being inactivated via glucuronidation by uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase 1A1 (UGT1A1) to SN-38G (see **Fig. 1**) (Alfirevic and Pirmohamed, 2016). However, bacterial β -glucuronidases may reactivate SN-38G to the active SN-38, which is then deposited into the intestinal lumen (Bailly, 2019, Wallace et al., 2010). Intestinal exposure to SN-38 has been identified as a causative factor in the onset of diarrhoea following treatment with irinotecan (Sun et al., 2020). Despite its associated toxicity, irinotecan is an effective chemotherapeutic agent and remains a common treatment for a variety of solid tumours, highlighting the need for ways to minimise the development and secondary impacts of irinotecan-induced GIM (Pizzolato and Saltz, 2003, Fujita et al., 2015).

Treatment with irinotecan results in increased serum concentrations and overall expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and tumour necrosis factor- α $(TNF\alpha)$, and these pro-inflammatory cytokines have been linked to significant increases in intestinal barrier permeability both in vitro and in vivo (Al-Sadi et al., 2009, Chelakkot et al., 2018, M Logan et al., 2008, Arifa et al., 2014). Furthermore, TNFα and IL-1β have been directly implicated in the pathogenesis of irinotecan-induced GIM, highlighting their importance as potential therapeutic targets (Melo et al., 2008). Moreover, co-administration of thalidomide, an inhibitor of TNFa, significantly reduced the toxicity of irinotecan, further emphasizing a potential role for this cytokine in the pathogenesis of irinotecan-induced GIM (Yang et al., 2006). Interestingly, oxidative stress and the generation of reaction oxygen species (ROS) have been linked to the increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and may play a role in the pathogenesis of GIM, with various antioxidant therapies showing promise as mucoprotective agents (Arifa et al., 2016, Al-Asmari et al., 2015, Ashcraft et al., 2015). It is proposed that upstream ROS generation may activate NF-κB, which subsequently increases the transcriptional activity of an array of genes, including those coding for IL-1 β and TNF α , resulting in the increased expression of these proinflammatory cytokines (Sonis, 2004,

138
Lingappan, 2018). The upregulation of TNF α may then activate caspase pathways, generating a feedback loop on NF- κ B and thus exacerbating inflammation (Cinausero et al., 2017). It therefore follows that compounds with the ability to prevent ROS generation and reduce inflammation may prove effective in the management of GIM.

Many natural products have been investigated for their therapeutic potential in the amelioration of chemotherapy-induced mucositis, ranging from grape-seed extracts and traditional Chinese medicines to marine polysaccharides from the sea cucumber (Cheah et al., 2014, Zuo et al., 2015, Shi et al., 2016). Dietary polyphenols such as flavonoids have also been the focus of several studies in this area and have shown promise as lead candidates in the management of mucositis-associated inflammation and the prevention of oxidative stress (Fideles et al., 2020, Lotfi et al., 2021, Shin et al., 2013). Furthermore, flavonoids have also proven to be particularly effective in maintaining barrier function in the gut, while also preventing cytokine-evoked



Fig.2. Structures of the flavonoids transilitin, quercetin, myricetin and 2',3',4'trihydroxyflavone (2-D08), along with the flavonoid backbone structure.

increases in barrier permeability (Luescher et al., 2017, Bernardi et al., 2020). However, while the current literature surrounding flavonoids as mucoprotective agents in GIM has been quite promising, many studies have been focused on a rather limited set of molecules, highlighting the need for further exploration and the development of novel lead candidates.

In the present study we aimed to characterise the *in vitro* barrier protective capacity of the novel flavonoids transilitin and 2-D08 in comparison with the more common dietary flavonoids quercetin and myricetin (**Fig. 2**). We assessed the effect that co-incubation of these flavonoids had on the cytotoxicity of SN-38, their ability to protect against both SN-38 and cytokine-evoked changes in epithelial permeability and their capacity to prevent ROS generation *in vitro*. This study presents the first characterisation of both transilitin and 2-D08 as barrier-protective agents and aims to further develop our understanding of flavonoids as possible adjunct nutraceutical therapies in the management of chemotherapy-induced GIM and gastrointestinal inflammation more generally.

2. Methods and Materials

2.1 Materials and Reagents

The flavonoids used in this study include quercetin, myricetin and 2-D08 (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA); Dr. Peter Duggan at CSIRO Materials Division (Clayton South, VIC, AUS) kindly provided the transilitin. Thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT), trypan blue, TNF α , IL-1 β , Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM), phosphate buffered saline (PBS), nonessential amino acids (NEAA), penicillin/streptomycin, 1×Trypsin-EDTA, 7-ethyl-10hydroxycamptothecin (SN-38), *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*bhp), 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin diacetate (DCFDA) and amphotericin B were also purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). NuncTM polycarbonate cell culture inserts (Cat. #140620) and carrier plates (Cat. #141002) were purchased from ThermoFisher Scientific (Scoresby, VIC, AUS), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) from Adelab Scientific (Thebarton, SA, AUS) and foetal bovine serum (FBS) from Fisher Biotec (Wembley, WA, AUS). The EVOM2 epithelial voltohmeter with chopstick electrode was purchased from World Precision Instruments (Sarasota, FL, USA). All drugs used in this study were dissolved in DSMO and diluted to desired concentrations using PBS.

2.2 Caco-2 Cell Culture

Human colonic carcinoma (Caco-2) cells obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Manassas, VA, USA) were cultured in complete DMEM, containing 10% FBS, 1% NEAA and 1% penicillin/streptomycin and maintained at 37°C, 5% CO₂. For cell viability measurements, Caco-2 cells were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 2×10^4 cells per well in complete DMEM and left to equilibrate for a period of 24 hours prior to treatment. For the DCFDA assay, cells were seeded at 1×10^5 per well.

2.3 Cell Viability Measurements

Caco-2 cells were treated with each flavonoid at varying concentrations and allowed to equilibrate for 15 minutes, prior to the addition of SN-38 (0.1, 1, 5 & 10 μ M); treatment for each concentration was performed in triplicate wells. Test concentrations of SN-38 and each flavonoid were selected based on concentration-response data collected prior to conducting these and all subsequent experiments (**Appendix 1**). Following treatment, cells were incubated for 48 hours at 37°C with 5% CO₂, after which time cell viability was measured using the thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. Briefly, culture media was removed and replaced with serum-free media containing 0.25mg/mL MTT and incubated for a further 2 hours at 37°C, 5% CO₂. MTT solution was then removed and the cells lysed with DMSO, with absorbance values measured at 570nm using a Synergy MX microplate reader (Bio-Tek, Bedfordshire, UK).

2.4 Epithelial Permeability Measurements

Caco-2 cells were cultured until they reached 80% confluence, at which point they were washed in PBS and detached using trypsin-EDTA, before being centrifuged for 5 minutes at $150 \times g$ and resuspended in complete DMEM. Experiments were conducted using 24-well plates containing NuncTM polycarbonate cell culture inserts (0.4 μ m pore size, 0.47 cm² culture area). The basolateral compartment was filled with 1 mL of complete DMEM containing 1% amphotericin B. Cells were seeded in the apical compartment at a density of 5×10^4 cells per cm² (23,500 cells per insert) in 300 µL of culture medium, with one insert left blank and containing medium only. Plates were then incubated for 6 hours at 37°C, 5% CO₂, at which time the apical media was replaced in order to remove non-adherent cells and prevent excessive clumping (Hubatsch et al., 2007). Both apical and basolateral media was changed every 2 days for up to 25 days until the cells reached confluence and differentiated; all subsequent media changes were supplemented with 1% amphotericin B to avoid fungal contamination. During this growth period, transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) was measured using the EVOM2 epithelial voltohmmeter to determine monolayer integrity. Initial resistance values for each monolayer were normalised to the blank well using the formula: $R_{MONOLAYER}(\Omega) = R_{INITIAL}(\Omega) - R_{BLANK}(\Omega)$. TEER values were then calculated using the formula: $TEER_{FINAL}(\Omega.cm2) = R_{MONOLAYER}(\Omega) x$ $A_{CULTURE\,AREA}(cm^2)$. Before TEER measurements were taken, media was replaced with complete DMEM without amphotericin B. Only inserts with TEER values over 500 Ω/cm^2 were used in subsequent experiments.

Once cells reached threshold TEER values, they were treated with either the proinflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-1 β (each at 100 ng/mL) or SN-38 (5 μ M) (collectively, 'stressors'); concentrations were selected based on preliminary experiments conducted prior to this study (data not shown) and previous work from our laboratory (Harvey et al., 2013). All cytokine treatments were added to the basolateral compartment, with vehicle (0.2% DMSO in PBS) and SN-38 being applied apically; TEER measurements were subsequently taken 2, 6, 24 and 48 hours after treatment. For flavonoid treatments, cells were treated apically with either transilitin

(20 μ M), quercetin (10 μ M), myricetin (100 μ M) or 2-D08 (20 μ M) 15 minutes prior to cytokine or SN-38 addition to allow for drug equilibration; the highest non-toxic concentration of each flavonoid was used as determined by preliminary cell viability studies (**Appendix 1**). Each flavonoid was also tested without stressors to determine their individual effects on epithelial permeability.

2.5 ROS Measurement Using DCFDA Assay

Caco-2 cells were cultured under normal conditions (as above), passaged and prepared at a density of 1×10^6 cells per mL in PBS. Cells were then washed twice via centrifugation in PBS at $150 \times g$ for 5 minutes to ensure the removal of all phenol-red containing media. Cells were then resuspended in 20 μ M DCFDA solution (20 μ M DCFDA in PBS) and incubated in the dark at 37° C, 5% CO₂ for 30 minutes. Following incubation, cells were washed twice by centrifugation in PBS to ensure the removal of any remaining DCFDA solution. After washing, cells were resuspended at 1×10^{6} cells/mL in complete DMEM without phenol red. Next, 100 μ L of cell suspension per well was added to a black, clear-bottom 96-well plate (1×10^{5} cells/100 μ L). Cells were then treated with myricetin (100 μ M), 2-D08 (20 μ M), transilitin (20 μ M) or quercetin (10 μ M) $\pm t$ bhp (200 μ M) and incubated in the dark for a further 4 hours at 37° C, 5% CO₂. Fluorescence measurements were then taken using a Synergy MX microplate reader with excitation and emission filters set to 485 nm and 535 nm, respectively.

2.6 Statistical Analysis

Data obtained from MTT and TEER assays were analysed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Dunnett's multiple comparisons used to determine significance versus control for cell viability and versus cytokine/SN-38 treatment for TEER data (p<0.05). Data from the DCFDA assay was analysed by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test used to determine significance (p<0.05). GraphPad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, USA) was used for data analysis and the production of all graphs.

3. Results

3.1. SN-38 causes a concentration-dependent reduction in Caco-2 cell viability that is variably affected by co-incubation with flavonoids

Incubation with the irinotecan metabolite SN-38 (0-10 μ M) caused a concentration-dependent reduction in Caco-2 cell viability to a maximum of 41.2% (58.8% viability, ****p <0.0001), which was variably affected by co-incubation with the selected flavonoids (**Fig. 3**). Overall, each flavonoid was relatively innocuous across the full SN-38 concentration range, with enhanced toxicity observed only at lower concentrations of SN-38. At 0.1 μ M SN-38, treatment with both 1 μ M and 10 μ M transilitin resulted in a significant increase in toxicity compared to



Fig 3. MTT assay of Caco-2 cell viability following 48hr incubation with SN-38 (0-10 μ M) alone and in the presence of varying concentrations of flavonoids: (**a**) transilitin (1-20 μ M), (**b**) quercetin (1-20 μ M), (**c**) myricetin (10-100 μ M), and (**d**) 2-D08 (10-50 μ M). Data presented as mean ± SD, n = 4 independent experiments. *p <0.05, **p <0.01, ***p <0.001, ****p <0.0001 vs vehicle.

SN-38 alone (81.7% and 80.8% viability, respectively, vs 92.6% with SN-38 alone) (**Fig. 3a**). A similar effect was observed at 1 μ M SN-38, with 76.4% viability observed for SN-38 alone and 67.3% with 10 μ M transilitin; no significant differences were observed at either 5 μ M or 10 μ M SN-38 (**Fig. 3a**).

Treatment with each test concentration of quercetin resulted in a significant increase in the toxicity of 0.1 μ M SN-38 (95.3% viability), with 86.8%, 87% and 75% viability observed for 1 μ M, 10 μ M and 20 μ M quercetin, respectively (**Fig. 3b**). However, this trend was reversed at 10 μ M SN-38, with significantly greater cell viability observed at both 10 μ M and 20 μ M quercetin (70.4% and 71.1% viability, respectively) vs control (61% viability) (**Fig. 3b**). Treatment with myricetin caused no significant changes to the toxicity of SN-38 at any of the test concentrations (**Fig. 3c**). Treatment with 50 μ M 2-D08 resulted in a significant increase in the toxicity of 0.1 μ M SN-38 (73.8% viability vs 91.2%), although significant toxicity was also observed at this concentration in the absence of SN-38 (82.4% viability vs control); no significant differences were observed at other test concentrations (**Fig. 3d**).

3.2 Transilitin, 2-D08 and Myricetin significantly inhibit SN-38-evoked increases in Caco-2 monolayer permeability

Caco-2 monolayers exposed to SN-38 (5 μ M) over a period of 48 hours exhibited significant reductions in TEER, with the greatest reduction observed at 24 hours (86.2% initial, *p*<0.0001) (**Fig. 4**); treatment with flavonoids alone had no significant effect on TEER at test concentrations. Transilitin (20 μ M) significantly prevented this decrease in TEER at 6 hours (97.5% initial vs 90.4% for SN-38 alone), 24 hours (95.5% initial vs 86.2%) and 48 hours (96.4% initial vs 86.4%) (**Fig. 4a**). Treatment with 10 μ M quercetin provided no significant protection against SN-38 at any time point (**Fig. 4b**). Myricetin (100 μ M) significantly inhibited the SN-38-evoked reduction in TEER at both 24 and 48 hours (92% initial vs 86.2% and 93.8% initial vs 86.4%, respectively) (**Fig. 4c**). The greatest overall protection was observed in cells treated with 2-D08 (20 μ M), with significant protection observed at 2 hours (99.3% initial vs

145

93.5%), 6 hours (98% initial vs 90.4%), 24 hours (98.3% initial vs 86.2%) and 48 hours (99.9% initial vs 86.4%) (**Fig. 4d**).



Fig 4. Caco-2 monolayer permeability as determined by TEER measurements during 48hr incubation with SN-38 (5 μ M) alone and in the presence of flavonoids: (**a**) transilitin (20 μ M), (**b**) quercetin (10 μ M) (**c**) myricetin (100 μ M), (**d**) 2-D08 (20 μ M). Data presented as mean \pm SD, n = 3 independent experiments. **p <0.01, ***p <0.001, ****p <0.0001 vs SN-38 alone. # represents comparison to Vehicle control, * represents comparison to SN-38.

3.3 The flavonoids 2-D08 and Myricetin significantly inhibit cytokine-evoked increases in Caco-2 monolayer permeability

Treatment with the flavonoids alone had no effect on TEER at test concentrations. Incubation with the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-1 β resulted in a significant decrease in TEER over 48 hours to a maximum of 69.7% initial (****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 5**). Neither transilitin (20 μ M) nor quercetin (10 μ M) significantly prevented the cytokine-evoked reductions in TEER at any point over 48 hours (**Figs. 5a and 5b**). Myricetin (100 μ M) was able to significantly increase TEER vs cytokines at both 24hrs (91.9% initial vs 77.9%) and 48hrs (82.6% initial vs 69.7%) (**Fig. 5c**). In line with SN-38 results, 2-D08 again provided the greatest overall protection against cytokine-evoked reductions in TEER, with significance observed at 6hrs (106.7% initial vs 94.4%), 24hrs (103.5% initial vs 77.9%) and 48hrs (96.9% initial vs 69.7%) (**Fig. 5d**).



Fig 5. Caco-2 monolayer permeability as determined by TEER measurements during 48hr co-incubation with TNF α and IL-1 β (each at 100 ng/mL) alone and in the presence of flavonoids: (a) transilitin (20 μ M), (b) quercetin (10 μ M) (c) myricetin (100 μ M), (d) 2-D08 (20 μ M). Data presented as mean ± SD, n = 3 independent experiments. *p <0.05, ***p <0.001, ****p <0.0001 vs cytokines. # represents comparison to Vehicle control, * represents comparison to cytokine group.

Treatment with the pro-oxidant *t*bhp caused a 466.3% increase in DCFDA fluorescence versus control (****p <0.0001) (**Fig. 6**). Each of the flavonoids used in this study significantly inhibited this increase in ROS generation, with no significant differences observed between each flavonoid alone and control. Transilitin reduced DCFDA fluorescence to 194.6% versus control (****p <0.0001 vs *t*bhp alone), with 100 μ M myricetin and 10 μ M quercetin limiting ROS-generated fluorescence to 228.1% (****p <0.0001 vs *t*bhp alone) and 238.3% (****p



Fig 6. ROS generation in Caco-2 cells as determined by DCFDA fluorescence following 4hr incubation with *t*bhp (200 μ M) alone and in the presence of flavonoids: myricetin (100 μ M), 2-D08 (20 μ M), transilitin (20 μ M) and quercetin (10 μ M). Data presented as mean \pm SD, n = 4 independent experiments. **p <0.01, ****p <0.0001 vs *t*bhp. # represents comparison to Control, * represents comparison to *t*bhp.

<0.0001 vs *t*bhp alone), respectively; no significant difference was observed between these three treatment groups. Although still significantly reducing ROS generation, 2-D08 proved to be the least effective antioxidant of the flavonoids tested in this study, limiting DCFDA fluorescence to 401.1% versus control (**p =0.0088 vs *t*bhp alone).

4. Discussion

The results of the present study highlight a novel role for the semi-synthetic flavone 2-D08 as an inhibitor of both SN-38- and cytokine-evoked increases in barrier permeability, as well as identifying a novel role in reducing ROS generation in vitro. This study also presents the very first characterisation of transilitin in this context, revealing a novel role as a potent inhibitor of ROS generation, as well as an efficacious inhibitor of SN-38-evoked increases in barrier permeability in Caco-2 cells. The protective effect of myricetin was also assessed, representing the first direct characterisation of this common dietary flavonoid's effects on the cytotoxicity of SN-38, as well as its role in maintaining barrier integrity in the presence of SN-38 and a proinflammatory cytokine combination. Each of these compounds were compared with the well-characterised flavonoid quercetin in order to gain insights into their ability to maintain gastrointestinal barrier integrity, as well as their relative capacities as antioxidant agents. This comparison also allowed for an insight into the effect of structural differences among the test molecules and flavonoid structure-activity relationships more generally. To our knowledge, this study presents the very first characterisation of both 2-D08 and transilitin in the context of intestinal epithelial barrier permeability, while also presenting the first characterisation of myricetin's effects in the context of functional intestinal epithelial barrier integrity.

Neither myricetin nor 2-D08 had a significant effect on the toxicity of SN-38, although intrinsic loss of cell viability was observed at 20 μ M 2-D08. However, both transilitin and quercetin significantly increased the toxicity of low concentrations of SN-38 in Caco-2 cells. This is in line with a previous study which demonstrated the ability for quercetin to enhance the toxicity of SN-38 in AGS cells, a human gastric adenocarcinoma cell line (Lei et al., 2018). This

phenomenon has also been exhibited in other studies, whereby co-incubation with flavonoids can increase the potency of irinotecan (Lefort and Blay, 2011, Benkovic et al., 2007). One possible mechanism behind this increase in cytotoxicity may relate to the activity of UGT1A1, the enzyme responsible for the inactivation of SN-38 to SN-38G, which has been shown to be expressed endogenously in Caco-2 cells (Xu et al., 2014). Flavonoids exert variable effects on the expression and activity of this enzyme, with the nature and location of specific functional groups playing a key role (Ma et al., 2013, Hiura et al., 2014, Walle and Walle, 2002). Of particular note is the potent inhibitory effect that quercetin exerts on UGT1A1 activity, with an IC_{50} of 7.47 µM (Liu et al., 2019). As the primary enzyme responsible for the glucuronidation of SN-38, the inhibition of this enzyme may have a substantial impact on the ratio of SN-38:SN-38G, resulting in greater exposure to the active form of the drug, thus increasing the opportunity for the development of toxicity. Although no data currently exists regarding the effect of transilitin on UGT1A1 activity, the same explanation may be applicable, given the body of literature identifying flavonoids as modulators of this enzyme (Hiura et al., 2014, Galijatovic et al., 2001). This concept requires further exploration, particularly as it relates to the cytotoxicity of SN-38 and presents an avenue for future exploration in the broader context of GIM.

None of the flavonoids in this study exerted a significant intrinsic effect on epithelial permeability. Treatment with SN-38 alone resulted in a significant decrease in TEER over 48 hours, an effect which echoes previous studies (Yue et al., 2021a). SN-38 has been shown to disrupt tight junction (TJ) formation and significantly downregulate the expression of occludin, which may explain this reduction in TEER (Yue et al., 2021a). Previous studies have indicated that quercetin can increase TEER via upregulation of TJ proteins such as occludin and claudin-1 (Suzuki and Hara, 2009, Amasheh et al., 2008). However, these studies have also used significantly higher concentrations of quercetin, which may account for the lack of efficacy observed in the present study.

151

The semi-synthetic flavone 2-D08 proved to be the most effective inhibitor of SN-38-evoked increases in epithelial permeability, maintaining barrier integrity over the 48-hour incubation period. Although 2-D08 remains relatively understudied, previous work has identified potential molecular targets of this flavone that may be of relevance to the effect observed in the present study. Choi and colleagues identified 2-D08 as an inhibitor of ZEB-1 expression and inducer of zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1), an important TJ protein (Choi et al., 2018). Increased ZEB-1 expression is a key factor in the progression of epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), a process which has been identified as an important pathological process in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)-associated intestinal fibrosis, where it has been directly linked with chronic inflammation; TNFα is also a notable inducer of EMT (Lovisa et al., 2018, Jiang et al., 2018, Ricciardi et al., 2015, Lamouille et al., 2014). During EMT, junctional proteins responsible for maintaining epithelial barrier integrity, such as ZO-1 and E-cadherin, are downregulated, leading to increased membrane permeability (Kalluri and Weinberg, 2009, Elamin et al., 2014). This was exemplified by Elamin et al, who showed that inhibition of the Snail protein, a repressor of E-cadherin expression and an important inducer of EMT, improved barrier integrity and reduced barrier permeability in Caco-2 cells (Elamin et al., 2014). ZEB-1 has also been shown to repress E-cadherin, suggesting that its inhibition may serve as a functional target for 2-D08 in maintaining epithelial barrier integrity (Sánchez-Tilló et al., 2010). Considering this, the role of 2-D08 as a potential inhibitor of EMT warrants further exploration in the context of gastrointestinal inflammation, particularly in the area of chemotherapy-induced GIM. In general, the ability for 2-D08 to maintain barrier function in the presence of SN-38 highlights its exciting potential as a possible adjunct to conventional chemotherapeutics.

The pro-inflammatory cytokines $TNF\alpha$ and IL-1 β significantly increased epithelial permeability in the present study, an effect that has been widely established in the literature (Al-Sadi et al., 2009, McKay and Baird, 1999). A general trend was observed whereby flavonoids with trihydroxylated B-rings, namely myricetin and 2-D08, offered a greater degree

of anti-inflammatory protection than the dihydroxylated flavonoids quercetin and transilitin. The differing effects of these flavones is likely independent of their antioxidant potential, given that each, including quercetin, significantly inhibited ROS generation, with 2-D08 being the least effective antioxidant. Interestingly, a previous study in IEC-6 intestinal epithelial cells showed an intrinsic increase in TEER following treatment with quercetin and myricetin, an effect that was not observed in this study (Fan et al., 2020a). Previous investigations of flavonoid structure-activity relationships in the context of inflammation have suggested that the presence of 5,7-hydroxyl groups may be important structural features in affording antiinflammatory activity (Hošek and Šmejkal, 2015, Kim et al., 2004). However, the considerable anti-inflammatory effect of 2-D08 highlighted in the present study would suggest that A and C ring hydroxylation is not a requirement for anti-inflammatory capacity. Previous research has highlighted the multifaceted anti-inflammatory properties of flavonoids, offering mucoprotection via mechanisms such as the inhibition of NF-KB activity, inhibition of ROS generation, inhibition of COX-2 activity and improving epithelial barrier function (Vezza et al., 2016, Kim et al., 2004). Recently, the post-translational modification of target proteins through processes such as SUMOylation has also gained considerable traction in the context of inflammation (Karhausen et al., 2021). Interestingly, suppression of the post-translational modifier SUMO-1 has been shown to significantly decrease the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNFa while also increasing TEER values in human tonsil epithelial cells under hypoxic conditions (Lin et al., 2021). Conversely, the downregulation of SUMO E2 enzyme (Ubc9) has been linked to the exacerbation of the inflammatory response in an in vivo model of inflammatory bowel disease (Mustfa et al., 2017). Understanding the relationship between inflammation and SUMOylation remains exceedingly complex, as SUMOylation of multiple distinct components within a single pathway may produce contradictory effects (Karhausen et al., 2021). However, the exploration of this relationship may offer a potential explanation for the observed ability for 2-D08, a known SUMOvlation inhibitor, to maintain barrier integrity in the presence of both SN-38 and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Although this

concept requires considerable experimental investigation and validation, it presents an exciting conceptual pathway for future studies to explore.

Unsurprisingly, each of the flavonoids in this study proved to be potent antioxidants, although 2-D08 comparatively proved the least efficacious in this regard. This echoes numerous other studies which have highlighted the potent antioxidant capacity of flavonoids such as quercetin and myricetin (Yokomizo and Moriwaki, 2006, Shimmyo et al., 2008, Kumar and Pandey, 2013). The potent free-radical scavenging efficacy of flavonoids has been attributed to a number of structural features; namely the presence of a catechol moiety in the B ring and a 2,3-double bond conjugated with the 4-oxo group (Pietta, 2000, Bors et al., 1990). These structural features are common to each of the four flavonoids in this study and present the most likely explanation for the antioxidant effect noted here. It has also been suggested that the presence of a 3-OH group may act to further enhance the radical-scavenging capabilities of flavonoids, which may explain the reduced efficacy of 2-D08 in this regard (Pietta, 2000). A previous study has shown 2-D08 to be an effective radical scavenger in the DPPH and MDA assays, with the authors highlighting the particular importance of 2',3',4'-trihydroxylation in this effect (Cotelle et al., 1996). However, it has been noted that 2'-hydroxyflavones, which occur rarely in nature, are less effective ROS scavengers overall than other flavonoids, which would support our present findings from the radical scavenging assay (Bailly, 2021). This was also exemplified in a study by Tokalov and colleagues which found 2'-hydroxyflavone to possess less radical scavenging capability than 5,2'-dihydroxyflavone and considerably less than either 5,8-dihydroxyflavone or quercetin in HL-60 cells (Tokalov et al., 2004). Fascinatingly, 2-D08 has been shown to exhibit both antioxidant and pro-oxidant properties in various contexts related to its effects on protein SUMOylation, exemplifying the complexities of 2-D08's bioactivity (Bailly, 2021). Interestingly, it has been noted that the presence of an ortho-hydroxylation pattern in the A-ring may provide an equal degree of radical-scavenging capacity as a catechol group in the B-ring (Foti et al., 1996). This may aid in explaining the potent antioxidant capacity of transilitin,

which contains both of these structural features. Another interesting relationship noted in the present study was the apparent lack of correlation between antioxidant capacity and antiinflammatory effect. This is perhaps best exemplified by 2-D08, which proved to be the most efficacious of the test compounds in maintaining barrier function yet was the least effective antioxidant. Conversely, quercetin proved highly effective as an inhibitor of ROS generation and yet was largely ineffective in maintaining barrier function in the presence of proinflammatory cytokines. It is well established that antioxidants play an important role as inflammatory modulators and may provide protection against inflammation-associated cellular damage through mechanisms such as free radical scavenging (Arulselvan et al., 2016, Griffiths et al., 2016). However, the lack of correlation observed in the present study would suggest that the ability for these flavonoids to maintain barrier integrity is independent of their antioxidant activity.

There has been a wealth of research conducted into the nature of the gut microbiome, its function in maintaining homeostasis and its role in various pathologies (Kho and Lal, 2018, Valdes et al., 2018). Altered intestinal microbiota has been implicated in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and plays an important role in the development of irinotecan-induced GIM (Geier et al., 2007, Khan et al., 2019, Zuo and Ng, 2018, Yue et al., 2021b, Lin et al., 2014). Dietary polyphenols such as flavonoids play an important role in maintaining intestinal homeostasis and possess the ability to modulate the gut microbiome in a variety of ways, such as influencing the abundance of various pathogenic bacteria, and may play a role in the amelioration of IBD-associated dysbiosis (Wang et al., 2021, Rodríguez-Daza et al., 2021). In this light, future studies focusing on novel flavonoids such as 2-D08, transilitin and myricetin and their effects on intestinal pathologies linked to dysbiosis are warranted. Interestingly, topoisomerase 1, the primary target of irinotecan, has been identified as a substrate for SUMOylation, with SUMOylation playing an important role in the nucleolar delocalisation of this protein (Mo et al., 2002). Given that 2-D08 is a known inhibitor of protein

155

SUMOylation, future studies may consider exploring this relationship as a means of ascertaining mechanistic insights into the effects observed in this study. It has been well established that downregulation of particular TJ proteins is directly associated with reductions in barrier integrity and function, and treatment with proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF α has been shown to downregulate TJ expression through various mechanisms (Buckley and Turner, 2018, Slifer and Blikslager, 2020). Moreover, treatment with both irinotecan and SN-38 have been linked to the downregulation of several TJ proteins, resulting in reduced barrier function (Wardill et al., 2014, Yue et al., 2021a). Numerous flavonoids possess the ability to maintain and even increase TJ protein expression, highlighting their therapeutic potential in this regard (Suzuki, 2020, Salaritabar et al., 2017). Future studies exploring the protective efficacy of 2-D08 and transilitin in maintaining intestinal barrier integrity should therefore investigate the effect of these novel flavonoids on TJ expression.

5. Conclusions

This study presents the first characterisation of both 2-D08 and transilitin as protective agents with the ability to maintain intestinal barrier integrity, but particularly the multifaceted functional efficacy of 2-D08 against a broader base of chemo-injurious and inflammatory stimuli. These findings also provide structure-activity insights germane to the anti-inflammatory capacity of flavones in particular and may serve as a foundation for further investigations into the use or design of novel flavonoids as adjunct nutraceutical therapies in the treatment of chemotherapy-induced GIM and inflammatory bowel disease.

Chapter 7: General Discussion

This thesis provides novel insights into the multifaceted protective capacities of a range of natural products, focusing on phytocannabinoids and flavonoids, in the context of both neurodegenerative disease and inflammatory diseases of the GI tract. Through the use of biochemical cell-based assays, TEM imaging, fluorescence microscopy, bioinformatics and molecular modelling, we have demonstrated the wide-ranging benefits of these natural products. The following discussion summarises the key findings of this thesis, their significance, study limitations and future directions.

7.1. Significant findings

In Chapter 2, a thorough review of the literature surrounding natural products as neuroprotective agents was conducted, with a particular focus on phytocannabinoids and related natural products including cannabis flavonoids. This review covered the biosynthesis of the major phytocannabinoids and their precursors and elaborated extensively on the current evidence of neuroprotection afforded by these pCBs. This chapter also included novel molecular modelling data aimed at determining the binding characteristics of various phytocannabinoids as a means of identifying high-affinity binders with various conformations of the A β protein. We identified CBG and CBC as particularly high-affinity binders with both monomeric and pentameric conformations of A β . This may be attributed largely to the alkyl side chains of these pCBs, which allows for optimal binding within the hydrophobic groove of the β -sheet structure. We also identified a number of key structure activity relationships regarding the binding characteristics of these compounds. For example, we found that pCBs with shorter alkyl side chain lengths possessed lower binding affinity than structural analogues with longer alkyl chain lengths. This was exemplified by the fact that Δ^9 -THC and CBD possessed greater binding affinity for A^β than their propyl counterparts THCV and CBDV. Moreover, the degree of aromatisation in the C ring proved to be an important factor in affording increased binding affinity. This was perhaps best exemplified by the decreased binding affinity for Δ^9 -THC and CBD compared to their fully aromatised analogues CBN and CBND. This effect may be related to the full resonance distribution and high degree of planarity afforded by the fully aromatised C ring, increasing hydrophobicity and thus allowing for greater propensity for binding within the hydrophobic groove of the amyloid peptide.

Chapter 3 demonstrated novel bioactivity of the phytocannabinoids CBG, CBC, CBDV and CBN in an *in vitro* model of AD. This study highlighted the ability for these compounds to prevent Aβ-induced neuronal cell death, while also preventing Aβ-evoked changes in neuronal morphology, as shown by fluorescence microscopy and bioinformatics-based morphological analysis. Treatment with A^β alone resulted in a distinct loss of neuritic projections, as well as increases in the size of the cell nucleus and a more rounded overall morphology. CBG and CBC proved highly efficacious as inhibitors of A β neurotoxicity, with a dual role in maintaining 'healthy' neuronal morphology. A novel effect was also observed for CBDV, whereby nontoxic concentrations of the drug caused a significant reduction in the number of neuritic projections in PC12 cells. The fact that CBDV-treated cells displayed a loss of neuritic projections without any overt toxicity suggests that loss of neuritic projections may not be an ideal indicator of cytotoxicity in PC12 cells. A clear distinction was identified whereby the antioxidant effects of each phytocannabinoid were unrelated to their ability to afford neuroprotection against A β . For example, we found CBD to be a potent antioxidant capable of preventing tbhp-induced cytotoxicity, however CBD was unable to provide significant neuroprotection against Aβ. Conversely, CBG proved to be rather ineffective as an antioxidant yet was highly efficacious as an inhibitor of amyloid β toxicity. Several novel structure-activity relationships were also demonstrated in this study, with one such example being the increased neuroprotective effect of CBN over Δ^9 -THC. Interestingly, CBN also proved to be both an avid binder with $A\beta$, as shown in Chapter 2, and a more effective inhibitor of amyloid aggregation. One possible explanation for this may again relate to the increased hydrophobicity afforded by the aromatisation of the C ring in the structure of CBN, allowing for better binding within the

amyloid β -sheet structure. A second SAR identified in this study relates to the effect that alkyl side chain length has on neuroprotection. In Chapter 2, we found that increased alkyl side chain length correlated with increased binding affinity with A β . However, in Chapter 3, we found that shortening of the alkyl side chain at position 3 from an *n*-pentyl chain, as in CBD, to an *n*-propyl chain as in CBDV had no significant effect on neuroprotection against A β_{1-42} , although CBDV proved to be a better inhibitor of amyloid β aggregation.

In contrast to Chapter 3, Chapter 4 aimed to investigate the potential neuroprotective effects of whole botanical extracts of various cannabis chemovars, rather than isolated phytocannabinoids. This study identified novel neuroprotective effects for extracts of several Δ^9 -THC-dominant chemovars, with no significant protection afforded by CBD-dominant preparations. Moreover, it was established that heat exposure reduced the overall protective efficacy of these cannabis preparations. This reduction in neuroprotective capacity may relate to the assumed reduction in terpene concentrations, as terpenes have been shown to synergistically enhance the activity of pCBs. Moreover, heating of each extract may have increased the conversion of the phytocannabinoid acids THCA and CBDA to their decarboxylated forms Δ^9 -THC and CBD, which may have also played a role in the observed loss of neuroprotection. This study also highlighted a distinct lack of anti-aggregatory capacity of these cannabis preparations against amyloid β , an effect which we have previously noted for isolated phytocannabinoids such as CBD and Δ^9 -THC. Although the mechanism by which these extracts exert their neuroprotection remains inconclusive, it is clear that these are unrelated to any direct effects on $A\beta$ aggregation.

In Chapter 5 we employed the use of a Caco-2 cell model of intestinal barrier function, given that these cells may form monolayers which exhibit many of the characteristics of intestinal epithelium (Sun et al., 2008). Treatment with the chemotherapeutic drug SN-38 resulted in significant increase in barrier permeability, as measured by TEER; this increase in permeability was also observed following treatment with the proinflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-1 β .

We demonstrated novel bioactivity for the pCBs CBD, CBDV and CBG, as each was able to prevent the increase in intestinal barrier permeability associated with treatment with both TNF α and IL-1 β and SN-38 to varying degrees. CBC was a potent inhibitor of cytokine-evoked increases in permeability, however no effect was observed following treatment with SN-38. This study also highlighted the lack of correlation between inhibiting ROS generation and intestinal protection, given that none of the pCBs screened exhibited any significant reductions in ROS generation *in vitro*, as determined by DCFDA fluorescence. The broader implications of these results are discussed in Section 7.2.

In Chapter 6, we aimed to extend upon the work performed in Chapter 5 by employing the same model as a screening for flavonoid bioactivity. This study focused on the novel flavonoids 2-D08 and transilitin, along with the more common myricetin and quercetin. Novel bioactivity was discovered for 2-D08 as a dual inhibitor of both cytokine- and SN-38-evoked increases in intestinal barrier permeability, with 2-D08 also exhibiting significant ROS scavenging capabilities. Transilitin was identified as a novel inhibitor of SN-38 evoked increases in permeability, however no protective effect was observed in the presence of cytokines, indicating that this protection is likely independent of anti-inflammatory capacity. Each of the flavonoids screened in this study proved to be effective antioxidants in the DCFDA assay, although 2-D08 proved to be the least effective in this regard; this fact would indicate that the ability for 2-D08 to maintain barrier function is likely to be independent of antioxidant activity.

7.2. Exploring the Link Between Intestinal Inflammation, Intestinal Barrier Permeability and Alzheimer's Disease

In recent years, the potential role of the gut microbiota in the pathobiology of various diseases has garnered a great deal of attention. Alterations in the composition of gut microbiota result in increased gut barrier permeability and immune system activation, leading to systemic inflammation, which may result in the impairment of the blood-brain barrier and promote neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration (Kowalski and Mulak, 2019). Interestingly, the gut microbiome of AD patients has been shown to have significantly less microbial diversity and is compositionally distinct from healthy age- and sex-matched controls (Vogt et al., 2017). Moreover, gut dysbiosis and increased permeability have been associated with increases in cerebral amyloid plaque formation and deposition (Ticinesi et al., 2018). High-fat diets have been associated with an increased risk of AD, which may be related in part to alterations in gut permeability and inflammation (D'Argenio and Sarnataro, 2019). Interestingly, the dietary intake and microbial metabolism of natural polyphenols in the form of a grape seed extract has been associated with a decrease in A β aggregation (Wang et al., 2015). Furthermore, urolithins, a group of gut microbiota-derived metabolites of a pomegranate extract, have been shown to cross the blood-brain barrier, disrupt A^β fibrillisation and aggregation and protect against amyloid neurotoxicity in vivo (Yuan et al., 2016). Although research in this area is still in its infancy, it is clear that the gut-brain-axis plays an important role in the regulation of systemic inflammation, neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. This presents an interesting point in relation the findings of this thesis. Compounds such as CBG that possess considerable neuroprotective efficacy in the context of AD that also effectively maintain intestinal barrier function in the presence of pro-inflammatory stimuli present as exciting candidates for drug development. Not only do such drugs have considerable therapeutic potential in AD, IBD and GIM in isolation but also in combination. This presents an exciting avenue for future exploration whereby these compounds may be explored for their protective efficacy in similar disease contexts.

7.3. Study Limitations and Future Directions

The use of *in vitro* disease models has many benefits, including low cost, ease of use and the potential for relatively high throughput. The Caco-2 cell barrier model has been employed by numerous studies looking at both drug bioavailability and changes in intestinal permeability. However, such models lack the complexity of *in vivo* models and human tissue models, which allow for more accurate determinations of true bioactivity and safety to be made. The Caco-2

cell monolayer also lacks a mucus membrane, which acts as a physical and chemical barrier within the GI tract. For this reason, the GI studies included in this thesis would benefit greatly from the use of either human gut explant models, as a means of assessing the effects of these phytochemicals in human tissue, or murine models of IBD and GIM, which have been employed by numerous other studies. The use of *in vivo* models of IBD and GIM allow for the broader involvement of the immune system to be investigated, given the essential role that immune cells such as lymphocytes play in these diseases. Another limitation was perhaps the use of the MTT assay as the central measure of cell viability. MTT is a useful and important assay, however it is only capable of measuring endpoint mitochondrial activity and is not a specific measure of cytotoxicity. The combined use of an alternative assay such as the lactate dehydrogenase assay may serve to validate and consolidate the viability findings from the MTT assay. Morphological analysis has been used as a means of detecting morphological changes associated with cell death in various cell lines. However, this relationship has not been fully explored in relation to certain neuronal cell populations such as PC12 cells. Further exploration into the potential use of morphometric analysis as a means of measuring PC12 cells death presents an exciting avenue for future exploration, which may help to elaborate on the imaging and viability data presented in this thesis.

Another general limitation of this thesis is the lack of mechanistic insight. Although we have established novel protective effects for a range of phytochemicals in several disease models, we have not fully elucidated the mechanisms by which these drugs may be exerting their effects. Future studies may use the work presented in this thesis as the foundation for further exploration into these mechanisms. Given the known activity of many of these phytochemicals at various receptor targets, employing the use of cannabinoid receptor antagonists, as well as antagonists at other key receptors such as PPAR γ , may elucidate the potential role of such receptors in the protection observed in this study. We conducted a brief set of experiments aimed at probing the role of PPAR γ in the neuroprotective effects against A β observed in this thesis (see **Appendix** 2). However, these preliminary studies demonstrated no significant effect of either the PPAR γ agonist rosiglitazone or the PPAR γ antagonist GW9662 on A β neurotoxicity in PC12 cells. Future studies may also seek to explore the potential role of relevant inflammatory modulators, such as the NF- κ B signalling pathway, given that inflammation plays a central role in the pathogenesis of AD, IBD and GIM. It may be that the phytochemicals used in this thesis are acting on such inflammatory pathways; this concept warrants further investigation.

There are several factors that would have improved the quality of the study conducted in Chapter 4. For example, the study would have benefited greatly from further analysis of the extract components following extraction, rather than the use of crude extracts. This would allow for greater reproducibility as it would give an insight into the relative concentrations of phytocannabinoids and phytocannabinoid acids, as well as more well-defined terpene profiles. This would have proven particularly useful in comparing the effects of heat exposure on the bioactivity of each extract, as we would have been able to directly assess the differences in phytocannabinoid and terpene content induced by heat exposure.

Regarding the GI studies presented here, an investigation into the potential changes in TJ protein expression is warranted, given the vital role of these proteins in maintaining appropriate barrier function. Both phytocannabinoids and flavonoids have been shown to exert varying effects on the expression of these proteins, suggesting that this may be a mechanism by which these drugs maintain barrier function. Given the suggested links between intestinal barrier permeability, GI inflammation and the development of AD, further research focusing on the potential impact of dietary polyphenols and phytocannabinoids on gut permeability and inflammation is warranted. As the gut microbiome plays a key role in the regulation of GI health and inflammation, studies focusing on the use of probiotic bacterial strains, in concert with the phytochemicals used in this study, may be of use in the amelioration of IBD, GIM and perhaps also in the context of AD.

163

In conclusion, the studies presented in this thesis have identified novel bioactive phytocannabinoids and flavonoids that exhibit various protective effects in both Alzheimer's disease and inflammatory diseases of the GI tract. Given the established link between GI health and the development of neurodegenerative diseases such as AD, phytocannabinoids such as cannabigerol, which effectively maintain barrier function and prevent the neurotoxicity of $A\beta$, present as attractive lead candidates in the development of pharmacotherapies aimed at combatting AD and GI inflammation. The work presented in this thesis has broader implications in the context of drug development and may serve as a foundation for further studies into the bioactivity of the phytochemicals presented here.

Chapter 8: Appendices

Appendix 1. Concentration-response data for effects of selected flavonoids and SN-38 on cell



viability in Caco-2 cells

Appendix 1. MTT assay of Caco-2 cell viability following 48hr incubation with selected flavonoids (10-100 μ M): (a) transilitin, (b) quercetin, (c) myricetin, (d) 2-D08 (e) SN-38 (0.1-50 μ M). Data presented as mean ± SD, n = 4. Two-way ANOVA with Dunnett's posthoc test vs control, **p<0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.001 vs vehicle.



Appendix 2. MTT assay of PC12 cell viability following 48hr co-incubation with A β and the PPAR γ agonist rosiglitazone and antagonist GW9662: (a) rosiglitazone concentration-response (n=4) (b) GW9662 concentration-response (n=4), (c) co-incubation of each PPAR γ ligand (10 μ M) with A β (0-1.5 μ M) (n=2). Data presented as mean ± SD. One-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test vs control, *p <0.05, **p <0.01, ***p 0.001, ****p <0.0001 vs vehicle.

- ADAMS, R. 1942. Marihuana: Harvey Lecture, February 19, 1942. Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine, 18, 705-730.
- ADAMS, R., BAKER, B. R. & WEARN, R. B. 1940. Structure of Cannabinol. III. Synthesis of Cannabinol, 1-Hydroxy-3-n-amyl-6,6,9-trimethyl-6-dibenzopyran1. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 62, 2204-2207.
- AGUARELES, J., PARAÍSO-LUNA, J., PALOMARES, B., BAJO-GRAÑERAS, R., NAVARRETE, C., RUIZ-CALVO, A., GARCÍA-RINCÓN, D., GARCÍA-TABOADA, E., GUZMÁN, M., MUÑOZ, E. & GALVE-ROPERH, I. 2019. Oral administration of the cannabigerol derivative VCE-003.2 promotes subventricular zone neurogenesis and protects against mutant huntingtin-induced neurodegeneration. *Translational Neurodegeneration*, 8, 9.
- AHMED, W. & KATZ, S. 2016. Therapeutic Use of Cannabis in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 12, 668-679.
- AIKEN, C. T., TOBIN, A. J. & SCHWEITZER, E. S. 2004. A cell-based screen for drugs to treat Huntington's disease. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 16, 546-555.
- AKOBENG, A. K. 2008a. Crohn's disease: current treatment options. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 93, 787-792.
- AKOBENG, A. K. 2008b. Review article: the evidence base for interventions used to maintain remission in Crohn's disease. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 27, 11-18.
- AKOBENG, A. K. & ZACHOS, M. 2004. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha antibody for induction of remission in Crohn's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 2003, CD003574.
- AL-ASMARI, A. K., KHAN, A. Q., AL-QASIM, A. M. & AL-YOUSEF, Y. 2015. Ascorbic acid attenuates antineoplastic drug 5-fluorouracil induced gastrointestinal toxicity in

rats by modulating the expression of inflammatory mediators. *Toxicology Reports*, 2, 908-916.

- AL-SADI, R., BOIVIN, M. & MA, T. 2009. Mechanism of cytokine modulation of epithelial tight junction barrier. *Frontiers in Bioscience (Landmark Edition)*, 14, 2765-2778.
- AL-SADI, R., YE, D., DOKLADNY, K. & MA, T. Y. 2008. Mechanism of IL-1beta-induced increase in intestinal epithelial tight junction permeability. *Journal of Immunology* (*Baltimore, Md. : 1950*), 180, 5653-5661.
- AL-SADI, R., YE, D., SAID, H. M. & MA, T. Y. 2010. IL-1β-Induced Increase in Intestinal Epithelial Tight Junction Permeability Is Mediated by MEKK-1 Activation of Canonical NF-κB Pathway. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 177, 2310-2322.
- ALFIREVIC, A. & PIRMOHAMED, M. 2016. Chapter 10 Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics. *In:* KUMAR, D. & ANTONARAKIS, S. (eds.) *Medical and Health Genomics*. Oxford: Academic Press.
- ALLEGRONE, G., POLLASTRO, F., MAGAGNINI, G., TAGLIALATELA-SCAFATI, O.,
 SEEGERS, J., KOEBERLE, A., WERZ, O. & APPENDINO, G. 2017. The Bibenzyl
 Canniprene Inhibits the Production of Pro-Inflammatory Eicosanoids and Selectively
 Accumulates in Some Cannabis sativa Strains. *Journal of Natural Products*, 80, 731-734.
- ALSHERBINY, M. A., BHUYAN, D. J., LOW, M. N., CHANG, D. & LI, C. G. 2021.
 Synergistic Interactions of Cannabidiol with Chemotherapeutic Drugs in MCF7 Cells:
 Mode of Interaction and Proteomics Analysis of Mechanisms. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22, 10103.
- ALVARENGA, E. M., SOUZA, L. K. M., ARAÚJO, T. S. L., NOGUEIRA, K. M., SOUSA,
 F. B. M., ARAÚJO, A. R., MARTINS, C. S., PACÍFICO, D. M., DE C. BRITO, G.
 A., SOUZA, E. P., SOUSA, D. P. & MEDEIROS, J. V. R. 2016. Carvacrol reduces
 irinotecan-induced intestinal mucositis through inhibition of inflammation and

oxidative damage via TRPA1 receptor activation. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 260, 129-140.

- ALZHEIMER'S ASSOCIATION 2019. 2019 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's & Dementia, 15, 321-387.
- ALZHEIMER, A. 1911. Uber eigenartige Krankheitsfalle des spateren Alters. *Psychiatr Nervenkr Z Gesamte Neurol Psychiatr*, 4, 356-85.

AMASHEH, M., SCHLICHTER, S., AMASHEH, S., MANKERTZ, J., ZEITZ, M., FROMM, M. & SCHULZKE, J. R. D. 2008. Quercetin Enhances Epithelial Barrier Function and Increases Claudin-4 Expression in Caco-2 Cells. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 138, 1067-1073.

ANAVI-GOFFER, S., BAILLIE, G., IRVING, A. J., GERTSCH, J., GREIG, I. R., PERTWEE, R. G. & ROSS, R. A. 2012. Modulation of L-α-

lysophosphatidylinositol/GPR55 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling by cannabinoids. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287, 91-104.

- ANDERSEN, P. M. 2006. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis associated with mutations in the CuZn superoxide dismutase gene. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports*, 6, 37-46.
- ANNESE, V., ROGAI, F., SETTESOLDI, A. & BAGNOLI, S. 2012. PPARγ in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *PPAR Research*, 2012, 620839.
- ARIFA, R. D. N., MADEIRA, M. F. M., DE PAULA, T. P., LIMA, R. L., TAVARES, L. D., MENEZES-GARCIA, Z., FAGUNDES, C. T., RACHID, M. A., RYFFEL, B.,
 ZAMBONI, D. S., TEIXEIRA, M. M. & SOUZA, D. G. 2014. Inflammasome Activation Is Reactive Oxygen Species Dependent and Mediates Irinotecan-Induced Mucositis through IL-1β and IL-18 in Mice. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 184, 2023-2034.
- ARIFA, R. D. N., PAULA, T. P. D., MADEIRA, M. F. M., LIMA, R. L., GARCIA, Z. M., ŸVILA, T. V., PINHO, V., BARCELOS, L. S., PINHEIRO, M. V. B., LADEIRA, L.

O., KRAMBROCK, K., TEIXEIRA, M. M. & SOUZA, D. G. 2016. The reduction of oxidative stress by nanocomposite Fullerol decreases mucositis severity and reverts leukopenia induced by Irinotecan. *Pharmacological Research*, 107, 102-110.

ARRASATE, M. & FINKBEINER, S. 2012. Protein aggregates in Huntington's disease. *Experimental Neurology*, 238, 1-11.

ARULSELVAN, P., FARD, M. T., TAN, W. S., GOTHAI, S., FAKURAZI, S., NORHAIZAN, M. E. & KUMAR, S. S. 2016. Role of Antioxidants and Natural Products in Inflammation. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2016, 5276130.

ASHCRAFT, K. A., BOSS, M.-K., TOVMASYAN, A., ROY CHOUDHURY, K.,
FONTANELLA, A. N., YOUNG, K. H., PALMER, G. M., BIRER, S. R., LANDON,
C. D., PARK, W., DAS, S. K., WEITNER, T., SHENG, H., WARNER, D. S.,
BRIZEL, D. M., SPASOJEVIC, I., BATINIC-HABERLE, I. & DEWHIRST, M. W.
2015. Novel Manganese-Porphyrin Superoxide Dismutase-Mimetic Widens the
Therapeutic Margin in a Preclinical Head and Neck Cancer Model. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology*Biology*Physics*, 93, 892-900.

- ASO, E. & FERRER, I. 2016. CB2 Cannabinoid Receptor As Potential Target against Alzheimer's Disease. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 10, 243.
- ASO, E., SÁNCHEZ-PLA, A., VEGAS-LOZANO, E., MALDONADO, R. & FERRER, I.
 2015. Cannabis-Based Medicine Reduces Multiple Pathological Processes in
 AβPP/PS1 Mice. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 43, 977-991.
- ATALAY, S., JAROCKA-KARPOWICZ, I. & SKRZYDLEWSKA, E. 2019. Antioxidative and Anti-Inflammatory Properties of Cannabidiol. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*, 9, 21.
- ATRI, A. 2019. Current and Future Treatments in Alzheimer's Disease. *Seminars in Neurology*, 39, 227-240.

- AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF HEALTH AND WELFARE 2019. Hospital care for people with dementia 2016–17. Canberra: AIHW.
- BAILLY, C. 2019. Irinotecan: 25 years of cancer treatment. *Pharmacological Research*, 148, 104398.
- BAILLY, C. 2021. The subgroup of 2'-hydroxy-flavonoids: Molecular diversity, mechanism of action, and anticancer properties. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 32, 116001.
- BARRETT, M. L., GORDON, D. & EVANS, F. J. 1985. Isolation from cannabis sativa L. of cannflavin—a novel inhibitor of prostaglandin production. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 34, 2019-2024.
- BAUL, H. S., MANIKANDAN, C. & SEN, D. 2019. Cannabinoid receptor as a potential therapeutic target for Parkinson's Disease. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 146, 244-252.
- BEHL, C., DAVIS, J. B., LESLEY, R. & SCHUBERT, D. 1994. Hydrogen peroxide mediates amyloid β protein toxicity. *Cell*, 77, 817-827.
- BENITO, C., NÚÑEZ, E., TOLÓN, R. M., CARRIER, E. J., RÁBANO, A., HILLARD, C. J.
 & ROMERO, J. 2003. Cannabinoid CB2 receptors and fatty acid amide hydrolase are selectively overexpressed in neuritic plaque-associated glia in Alzheimer's disease brains. *The Journal of Neuroscience : the Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 23, 11136-11141.
- BENKLER, C., O'NEIL, A. L., SLEPIAN, S., QIAN, F., WEINREB, P. H. & RUBIN, L. L. 2018. Aggregated SOD1 causes selective death of cultured human motor neurons. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 16393.
- BENKOVIC, V., HORVAT KNEZEVIC, A., BROZOVIC, G., KNEZEVIC, F., ĐIKIC, D., BEVANDA, M., BASIC, I. & ORSOLIC, N. 2007. Enhanced antitumor activity of irinotecan combined with propolis and its polyphenolic compounds on Ehrlich ascites tumor in mice. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 61, 292-297.

BENSADOUN, R.-J., SCHUBERT, M. M., LALLA, R. V. & KEEFE, D. 2006. Amifostine in the management of radiation-induced and chemo-induced mucositis. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 14, 566-572.

BERCHT, C. A. L., LOUSBERG, R. J. J., KÜPPERS, F. J. E. M., SALEMINK, C. A., VREE, T. B. & VAN ROSSUM, J. M. 1973. Cannabis: VII. Identification of cannabinol methyl ether from hashish. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 81, 163-166.

BERMAN, P., FUTORAN, K., LEWITUS, G. M., MUKHA, D., BENAMI, M., SHLOMI, T.
& MEIRI, D. 2018. A new ESI-LC/MS approach for comprehensive metabolic profiling of phytocannabinoids in Cannabis. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 14280.

BERNARDI, S., DEL BO', C., MARINO, M., GARGARI, G., CHERUBINI, A., ANDRÉS-LACUEVA, C., HIDALGO-LIBERONA, N., PERON, G., GONZÁLEZ-DOMINGUEZ, R., KROON, P., KIRKUP, B., PORRINI, M., GUGLIELMETTI, S. & RISO, P. 2020. Polyphenols and Intestinal Permeability: Rationale and Future Perspectives. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 68, 1816-1829.

BIELAWIEC, P., HARASIM-SYMBOR, E. & CHABOWSKI, A. 2020. Phytocannabinoids: Useful Drugs for the Treatment of Obesity? Special Focus on Cannabidiol. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 11, 114.

BIESCHKE, J., HERBST, M., WIGLENDA, T., FRIEDRICH, R. P., BOEDDRICH, A.,
SCHIELE, F., KLECKERS, D., LOPEZ DEL AMO, J. M., GRÜNING, B. A.,
WANG, Q., SCHMIDT, M. R., LURZ, R., ANWYL, R., SCHNOEGL, S.,
FÄNDRICH, M., FRANK, R. F., REIF, B., GÜNTHER, S., WALSH, D. M. &
WANKER, E. E. 2012. Small-molecule conversion of toxic oligomers to nontoxic βsheet–rich amyloid fibrils. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 8, 93-101.

BILKEI-GORZO, A., ALBAYRAM, O., DRAFFEHN, A., MICHEL, K., PIYANOVA, A., OPPENHEIMER, H., DVIR-GINZBERG, M., RÁCZ, I., ULAS, T., IMBEAULT, S., BAB, I., SCHULTZE, J. L. & ZIMMER, A. 2017. A chronic low dose of Δ9tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) restores cognitive function in old mice. *Nature Medicine*, 23, 782-787.

BLOOMFIELD, M. A. P., HINDOCHA, C., GREEN, S. F., WALL, M. B., LEES, R.,
PETRILLI, K., COSTELLO, H., OGUNBIYI, M. O., BOSSONG, M. G. &
FREEMAN, T. P. 2019. The neuropsychopharmacology of cannabis: A review of human imaging studies. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 195, 132-161.

BOEING, T., SPECA, S., DE SOUZA, P., MENA, A. M., BERTIN, B., DESREUMAX, P., MOTA DA SILVA, L., FALONI DE ANDRADE, S. & DUBUQOY, L. 2022. The PPARγ-dependent effect of flavonoid luteolin against damage induced by the chemotherapeutic irinotecan in human intestinal cells. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 351, 109712.

BONN-MILLER, M. O., ELSOHLY, M. A., LOFLIN, M. J. E., CHANDRA, S. & VANDREY, R. 2018. Cannabis and cannabinoid drug development: evaluating botanical versus single molecule approaches. *International Review of Psychiatry* (*Abingdon, England*), 30, 277-284.

BORRELLI, F., AVIELLO, G., ROMANO, B., ORLANDO, P., CAPASSO, R., MAIELLO,
F., GUADAGNO, F., PETROSINO, S., CAPASSO, F., DI MARZO, V. & IZZO, A.
A. 2009. Cannabidiol, a safe and non-psychotropic ingredient of the marijuana plant
Cannabis sativa, is protective in a murine model of colitis. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 87, 1111-1121.

BORRELLI, F., FASOLINO, I., ROMANO, B., CAPASSO, R., MAIELLO, F., COPPOLA,
D., ORLANDO, P., BATTISTA, G., PAGANO, E., DI MARZO, V. & IZZO, A. A.
2013. Beneficial effect of the non-psychotropic plant cannabinoid cannabigerol on
experimental inflammatory bowel disease. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 85, 1306-1316.

BORRELLI, F., PAGANO, E., ROMANO, B., PANZERA, S., MAIELLO, F., COPPOLA, D., DE PETROCELLIS, L., BUONO, L., ORLANDO, P. & IZZO, A. A. 2014. Colon carcinogenesis is inhibited by the TRPM8 antagonist cannabigerol, a Cannabisderived non-psychotropic cannabinoid. *Carcinogenesis*, 35, 2787-2797.

BORS, W., HELLER, W., MICHEL, C. & SARAN, M. 1990. Flavonoids as antioxidants: Determination of radical-scavenging efficiencies. *Methods in Enzymology*. Academic Press.

BOWEN, J., AL-DASOOQI, N., BOSSI, P., WARDILL, H., VAN SEBILLE, Y., AL-AZRI,
A., BATEMAN, E., CORREA, M. E., RABER-DURLACHER, J., KANDWAL, A.,
MAYO, B., NAIR, R. G., STRINGER, A., TEN BOHMER, K., THORPE, D.,
LALLA, R. V., SONIS, S., CHENG, K., ELAD, S. & ON BEHALF OF THE
MUCOSITIS STUDY GROUP OF THE MULTINATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
SUPPORTIVE CARE IN CANCER/INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY OF ORAL, O.
2019. The pathogenesis of mucositis: updated perspectives and emerging targets.
Supportive Care in Cancer, 27, 4023-4033.

- BRENNEISEN, R. 2007. Chemistry and Analysis of Phytocannabinoids and Other Cannabis Constituents. *In:* ELSOHLY, M. A. (ed.) *Marijuana and the Cannabinoids*. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press.
- BROWN, L. J., HANSNATA, E. & LA, H. A. Economic cost of dementia in Australia 2016-2056. 2017.
- BUCKLEY, A. & TURNER, J. R. 2018. Cell Biology of Tight Junction Barrier Regulation and Mucosal Disease. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 10, a029314.
- BUI, T. T. & NGUYEN, T. H. 2017. Natural product for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Journal of Basic and Clinical Physiology and Pharmacology, 28, 413-423.
- BURGAZ, S., GARCÍA, C., GÓMEZ-CAÑAS, M., MUÑOZ, E. & FERNÁNDEZ-RUIZ, J. 2019. Development of An Oral Treatment with the PPAR-γ-Acting Cannabinoid VCE-003.2 Against the Inflammation-Driven Neuronal Deterioration in Experimental Parkinson's Disease. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 24, 2702.
- BURKI, T. 2018. Alzheimer's disease research: the future of BACE inhibitors. *The Lancet*, 391, 2486.
- BUSINGYE, D., POLLACK, A. & CHIDWICK, K. 2021. Prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the Australian general practice population: A cross-sectional study. *PLOS ONE*, 16, e0252458.
- CABRAL, G. A. & GRIFFIN-THOMAS, L. 2009. Emerging role of the cannabinoid receptor CB2 in immune regulation: therapeutic prospects for neuroinflammation. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine*, 11, e3.
- CAHN, R. S. 1933. 326. Cannabis indica resin. Part IV. The synthesis of some 2 : 2dimethyldibenzopyrans, and confirmation of the structure of cannabinol. *Journal of the Chemical Society (Resumed)*, 1400-1405.
- CAI, Z., WANG, S. & LI, J. 2021. Treatment of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Comprehensive Review. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 8, 765474.
- CAO, C., LI, Y., LIU, H., BAI, G., MAYL, J., LIN, X., SUTHERLAND, K., NABAR, N. & CAI, J. 2014. The Potential Therapeutic Effects of THC on Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 42, 973-984.
- CARD, T., HUBBARD, R. & LOGAN, R. F. A. 2003. Mortality in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based cohort study. *Gastroenterology*, 125, 1583-1590.
- CARRANO, A., HOOZEMANS, J. J. M., VAN DER VIES, S. M., ROZEMULLER, A. J.
 M., VAN HORSSEN, J. & DE VRIES, H. E. 2011. Amyloid Beta Induces Oxidative
 Stress-Mediated Blood–Brain Barrier Changes in Capillary Amyloid Angiopathy.
 Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 15, 1167-1178.
- CARROLL, C. B., ZEISSLER, M.-L., HANEMANN, C. O. & ZAJICEK, J. P. 2012a. Δ9tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ9-THC) exerts a direct neuroprotective effect in a human cell culture model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 38, 535-547.

CARROLL, C. B., ZEISSLER, M. L., HANEMANN, C. O. & ZAJICEK, J. P. 2012b. Δ9tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ9-THC) exerts a direct neuroprotective effect in a human cell culture model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 38, 535-547.

CARVALHO, A. C. A. D., SOUZA, G. A. D., MARQUI, S. V. D., GUIGUER, É. L.,
ARAÚJO, A. C., RUBIRA, C. J., GOULART, R. D. A., FLATO, U. A. P., BUENO,
P. C. D. S., BUCHAIM, R. L. & BARBALHO, S. M. 2020. Cannabis and
Canabidinoids on the Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: Going Beyond Misuse. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21, 2940.

- CASCIO, M. G., GAUSON, L. A., STEVENSON, L. A., ROSS, R. A. & PERTWEE, R. G. 2010. Evidence that the plant cannabinoid cannabigerol is a highly potent alpha2adrenoceptor agonist and moderately potent 5HT1A receptor antagonist. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 159, 129-141.
- CASSANO, T., VILLANI, R., PACE, L., CARBONE, A., BUKKE, V. N., ORKISZ, S.,
 AVOLIO, C. & SERVIDDIO, G. 2020. From Cannabis sativa to Cannabidiol:
 Promising Therapeutic Candidate for the Treatment of Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 11, 124.
- CASTEELS, C., AHMAD, R., VANDENBULCKE, M., VANDENBERGHE, W. & VAN
 LAERE, K. 2015. Chapter 4 Cannabinoids and Huntington's disease. *In:* FATTORE,
 L. (ed.) *Cannabinoids in Neurologic and Mental Disease*. San Diego: Academic Press.

CHAGAS, M. H. N., ZUARDI, A. W., TUMAS, V., PENA-PEREIRA, M. A., SOBREIRA,
E. T., BERGAMASCHI, M. M., DOS SANTOS, A. C., TEIXEIRA, A. L., HALLAK,
J. E. & CRIPPA, J. A. S. 2014. Effects of cannabidiol in the treatment of patients with
Parkinson's disease: An exploratory double-blind trial. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 28, 1088-1098.

CHAN, W. R., MAGNUS, K. E. & WATSON, H. A. 1976. The structure of cannabitriol. *Experientia*, 32, 283-284.

- CHEAH, K. Y., HOWARTH, G. S. & BASTIAN, S. E. P. 2014. Grape Seed Extract Dose-Responsively Decreases Disease Severity in a Rat Model of Mucositis; Concomitantly Enhancing Chemotherapeutic Effectiveness in Colon Cancer Cells. *PLOS ONE*, 9, e85184.
- CHELAKKOT, C., GHIM, J. & RYU, S. H. 2018. Mechanisms regulating intestinal barrier integrity and its pathological implications. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*, 50, 1-9.
- CHEN, C., WONGSO, I., PUTNAM, D., KHIR, R. & PAN, Z. 2021. Effect of hot air and infrared drying on the retention of cannabidiol and terpenes in industrial hemp (Cannabis sativa L.). *Industrial Crops and Products*, 172, 114051.
- CHEN, L., NA, R., GU, M., RICHARDSON, A. & RAN, Q. 2008. Lipid peroxidation upregulates BACE1 expression in vivo: a possible early event of amyloidogenesis in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 107, 197-207.
- CHEN, R., ZHANG, J., FAN, N., TENG, Z.-Q., WU, Y., YANG, H., TANG, Y.-P., SUN, H., SONG, Y. & CHEN, C. 2013. Δ9-THC-caused synaptic and memory impairments are mediated through COX-2 signaling. *Cell*, 155, 1154-1165.
- CHERIF, H., ARGAW, A., CÉCYRE, B., BOUCHARD, A., GAGNON, J., JAVADI, P., DESGENT, S., MACKIE, K. & BOUCHARD, J.-F. 2015. Role of GPR55 during Axon Growth and Target Innervation. *eNeuro*, 2, ENEURO.0011-15.2015.
- CHIANG, M.-C., NICOL, C. J., CHENG, Y.-C., LIN, K.-H., YEN, C.-H. & LIN, C.-H. 2016. Rosiglitazone activation of PPARγ-dependent pathways is neuroprotective in human neural stem cells against amyloid-beta–induced mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 40, 181-190.
- CHOI, B. H., PHILIPS, M. R., CHEN, Y., LU, L. & DAI, W. 2018. K-Ras Lys-42 is crucial for its signaling, cell migration, and invasion. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293, 17574-17581.

- CIFTCI, O., OZTANIR, M. N. & CETIN, A. 2014. Neuroprotective Effects of β-Myrcene Following Global Cerebral Ischemia/Reperfusion-Mediated Oxidative and Neuronal Damage in a C57BL/J6 Mouse. *Neurochemical Research*, 39, 1717-1723.
- CINAUSERO, M., APRILE, G., ERMACORA, P., BASILE, D., VITALE, M. G., FANOTTO, V., PARISI, G., CALVETTI, L. & SONIS, S. T. 2017. New Frontiers in the Pathobiology and Treatment of Cancer Regimen-Related Mucosal Injury. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 8, 354.
- CLAUSSEN, U., VON SPULAK, F. & KORTE, F. 1968. Haschisch—XIV: Zur kenntnis der inhaltsstoffe des haschisch. *Tetrahedron*, 24, 1021-1023.

COCCIA, M., HARRISON, O. J., SCHIERING, C., ASQUITH, M. J., BECHER, B., POWRIE, F. & MALOY, K. J. 2012. IL-1β mediates chronic intestinal inflammation

by promoting the accumulation of IL-17A secreting innate lymphoid cells and CD4+ Th17 cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 209, 1595-1609.

COCETTA, V., GOVERNA, P., BORGONETTI, V., TINAZZI, M., PERON, G.,

CATANZARO, D., BERRETTA, M., BIAGI, M., MANETTI, F., DALL'ACQUA, S.
& MONTOPOLI, M. 2021. Cannabidiol Isolated From Cannabis sativa L. Protects
Intestinal Barrier From In Vitro Inflammation and Oxidative Stress. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 12, 641210.

- COLÍN-GONZÁLEZ, A. L., OROZCO-IBARRA, M., CHÁNEZ-CÁRDENAS, M. E., RANGEL-LÓPEZ, E., SANTAMARÍA, A., PEDRAZA-CHAVERRI, J., BARRERA-OVIEDO, D. & MALDONADO, P. D. 2013. Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) upregulation delays morphological and oxidative damage induced in an excitotoxic/pro-oxidant model in the rat striatum. *Neuroscience*, 231, 91-101.
- COMALADA, M., CAMUESCO, D., SIERRA, S., BALLESTER, I., XAUS, J., GÁLVEZ, J. & ZARZUELO, A. 2005. In vivo quercitrin anti-inflammatory effect involves release of quercetin, which inhibits inflammation through down-regulation of the NF-κB pathway. *European Journal of Immunology*, 35, 584-592.

COMPTON, D. R., RICE, K. C., DE COSTA, B. R., RAZDAN, R. K., MELVIN, L. S.,

JOHNSON, M. R. & MARTIN, B. R. 1993. Cannabinoid structure-activity relationships: correlation of receptor binding and in vivo activities. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 265, 218-226.

 CONCANNON, R., FINN, D. P. & DOWD, E. 2015. Chapter 3 - Cannabinoids in Parkinson's disease. *In:* FATTORE, L. (ed.) *Cannabinoids in Neurologic and Mental Disease*. San Diego: Academic Press.

COTELLE, N., BERNIER, J.-L., CATTEAU, J.-P., POMMERY, J., WALLET, J.-C. & GAYDOU, E. M. 1996. Antioxidant properties of hydroxy-flavones. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 20, 35-43.

COUCH, D. G., MAUDSLAY, H., DOLEMAN, B., LUND, J. N. & O'SULLIVAN, S. E. 2018. The Use of Cannabinoids in Colitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases*, 24, 680-697.

COUCH, DANIEL G., TASKER, C., THEOPHILIDOU, E., LUND, J. N. & O'SULLIVAN, SAOIRSE E. 2017. Cannabidiol and palmitoylethanolamide are anti-inflammatory in the acutely inflamed human colon. *Clinical Science*, 131, 2611-2626.

CRIVELARO DO NASCIMENTO, G., FERRARI, D. P., GUIMARAES, F. S., DEL BEL, E. A., BORTOLANZA, M. & FERREIRA- JUNIOR, N. C. 2020. Cannabidiol increases the nociceptive threshold in a preclinical model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuropharmacology*, 163, 107808.

CROMBIE, L., CROMBIE, W. M. L. & JAMIESON, S. V. 1980. Extractives of Thailand cannabis: Synthesis of canniprene and isolation of new geranylated and prenylated chrysoeriols. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 21, 3607-3610.

CROMBIE, L., MARY, W. & CROMBIE, L. 1978. Dihydrostilbenes of Thailand cannabis. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 19, 4711-4714.

- CURRAIS, A., QUEHENBERGER, O., M ARMANDO, A., DAUGHERTY, D., MAHER, P.
 & SCHUBERT, D. 2016. Amyloid proteotoxicity initiates an inflammatory response blocked by cannabinoids. *npj Aging and Mechanisms of Disease*, 2, 16012.
- D'ARGENIO, V. & SARNATARO, D. 2019. Microbiome Influence in the Pathogenesis of Prion and Alzheimer's Diseases. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20, 4704.
- DAHLGREN, D., SJÖBLOM, M., HELLSTRÖM, P. M. & LENNERNÄS, H. 2021. Chemotherapeutics-Induced Intestinal Mucositis: Pathophysiology and Potential Treatment Strategies. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 12, 681417.
- DAS, S., STARK, L., MUSGRAVE, I. F., PUKALA, T. & SMID, S. D. 2016. Bioactive polyphenol interactions with β amyloid: a comparison of binding modelling, effects on fibril and aggregate formation and neuroprotective capacity. *Food & Function*, 7, 1138-1146.
- DAVIS, W. M. & HATOUM, N. S. 1983. Neurobehavioral actions of cannabichromene and interactions with Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol. *General Pharmacology: The Vascular System*, 14, 247-252.
- DAWIDOWICZ, A. L., OLSZOWY-TOMCZYK, M. & TYPEK, R. 2021. CBG, CBD, Δ9-THC, CBN, CBGA, CBDA and Δ9-THCA as antioxidant agents and their intervention abilities in antioxidant action. *Fitoterapia*, 152, 104915.
- DE-PAULA, V. J., RADANOVIC, M., DINIZ, B. S. & FORLENZA, O. V. 2012.
 Alzheimer's Disease. In: HARRIS, J. R. (ed.) Protein Aggregation and
 Fibrillogenesis in Cerebral and Systemic Amyloid Disease. Dordrecht: Springer
 Netherlands.
- DE CEBALLOS, M. L. 2015. Chapter 1 Cannabinoids for the treatment of neuroinflammation. In: FATTORE, L. (ed.) Cannabinoids in Neurologic and Mental Disease. San Diego: Academic Press.

DE FILIPPIS, D., ESPOSITO, G., CIRILLO, C., CIPRIANO, M., DE WINTER, B. Y.,
SCUDERI, C., SARNELLI, G., CUOMO, R., STEARDO, L., DE MAN, J. G. &
IUVONE, T. 2011. Cannabidiol Reduces Intestinal Inflammation through the Control of Neuroimmune Axis. *PLOS ONE*, 6, e28159.

- DE PETROCELLIS, L., LIGRESTI, A., MORIELLO, A. S., ALLARÀ, M., BISOGNO, T., PETROSINO, S., STOTT, C. G. & DI MARZO, V. 2011. Effects of cannabinoids and cannabinoid-enriched Cannabis extracts on TRP channels and endocannabinoid metabolic enzymes. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 163, 1479-1494.
- DECARA, J., RIVERA, P., LÓPEZ-GAMBERO, A. J., SERRANO, A., PAVÓN, F. J., BAIXERAS, E., RODRÍGUEZ DE FONSECA, F. & SUÁREZ, J. 2020. Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors: Experimental Targeting for the Treatment of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 11, 730.
- DEIANA, S., WATANABE, A., YAMASAKI, Y., AMADA, N., ARTHUR, M., FLEMING,
 S., WOODCOCK, H., DORWARD, P., PIGLIACAMPO, B., CLOSE, S., PLATT, B.
 & RIEDEL, G. 2012. Plasma and brain pharmacokinetic profile of cannabidiol (CBD),
 cannabidivarine (CBDV), Δ9-tetrahydrocannabivarin (THCV) and cannabigerol
 (CBG) in rats and mice following oral and intraperitoneal administration and CBD
 action on obsessive–compulsive behaviour. *Psychopharmacology*, 219, 859-873.
- DEL ROSARIO CAMPOS-ESPARZA, M. & ADRIANA TORRES-RAMOS, M. 2010. Neuroprotection by Natural Polyphenols: Molecular Mechanisms. *Central Nervous System Agents in Medicinal ChemistryChemistry - Central Nervous System Agents*), 10, 269-277.
- DELONG, G. T., WOLF, C. E., POKLIS, A. & LICHTMAN, A. H. 2010. Pharmacological evaluation of the natural constituent of Cannabis sativa, cannabichromene and its modulation by Δ(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 112, 126-133.

- DENT, E. W., GUPTON, S. L. & GERTLER, F. B. 2011. The growth cone cytoskeleton in axon outgrowth and guidance. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 3, a001800.
- DETURE, M. A. & DICKSON, D. W. 2019. The neuropathological diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*, 14, 32.
- DEVI, K. P., SHANMUGANATHAN, B., MANAYI, A., NABAVI, S. F. & NABAVI, S. M. 2017. Molecular and Therapeutic Targets of Genistein in Alzheimer's Disease. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 54, 7028-7041.
- DÍAZ-ALONSO, J., PARAÍSO-LUNA, J., NAVARRETE, C., DEL RÍO, C., CANTARERO,
 I., PALOMARES, B., AGUARELES, J., FERNÁNDEZ-RUIZ, J., BELLIDO, M. L.,
 POLLASTRO, F., APPENDINO, G., CALZADO, M. A., GALVE-ROPERH, I. &
 MUÑOZ, E. 2016. VCE-003.2, a novel cannabigerol derivative, enhances neuronal
 progenitor cell survival and alleviates symptomatology in murine models of
 Huntington's disease. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 29789.
- DORSEY, E. R., ELBAZ, A., NICHOLS, E., ABD-ALLAH, F., ABDELALIM, A.,
 ADSUAR, J. C., ANSHA, M. G., BRAYNE, C., CHOI, J.-Y. J., COLLADOMATEO, D., DAHODWALA, N., DO, H. P., EDESSA, D., ENDRES, M.,
 FERESHTEHNEJAD, S.-M., FOREMAN, K. J., GANKPE, F. G., GUPTA, R.,
 HANKEY, G. J., HAY, S. I., HEGAZY, M. I., HIBSTU, D. T., KASAEIAN, A.,
 KHADER, Y., KHALIL, I., KHANG, Y.-H., KIM, Y. J., KOKUBO, Y.,
 LOGROSCINO, G., MASSANO, J., MOHAMED IBRAHIM, N., MOHAMMED, M.
 A., MOHAMMADI, A., MORADI-LAKEH, M., NAGHAVI, M., NGUYEN, B. T.,
 NIRAYO, Y. L., OGBO, F. A., OWOLABI, M. O., PEREIRA, D. M., POSTMA, M.
 J., QORBANI, M., RAHMAN, M. A., ROBA, K. T., SAFARI, H., SAFIRI, S.,
 SATPATHY, M., SAWHNEY, M., SHAFIEESABET, A., SHIFERAW, M. S.,
 SMITH, M., SZOEKE, C. E. I., TABARÉS-SEISDEDOS, R., TRUONG, N. T.,
 UKWAJA, K. N., VENKETASUBRAMANIAN, N., VILLAFAINA, S.,

WELDEGWERGS, K. G., WESTERMAN, R., WIJERATNE, T., WINKLER, A. S.,
XUAN, B. T., YONEMOTO, N., FEIGIN, V. L., VOS, T. & MURRAY, C. J. L.
2018. Global, regional, and national burden of Parkinson's disease, 1990–2016: a
systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet Neurology*, 17, 939-953.

DUVIGNEAU, J. C., TROVATO, A., MÜLLEBNER, A., MILLER, I., KREWENKA, C., KRENN, K., ZICH, W. & MOLDZIO, R. 2020. Cannabidiol Protects Dopaminergic Neurons in Mesencephalic Cultures against the Complex I Inhibitor Rotenone Via Modulation of Heme Oxygenase Activity and Bilirubin. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*, 9, 135.

EGAN, M. F., KOST, J., VOSS, T., MUKAI, Y., AISEN, P. S., CUMMINGS, J. L., TARIOT, P. N., VELLAS, B., VAN DYCK, C. H., BOADA, M., ZHANG, Y., LI, W., FURTEK, C., MAHONEY, E., HARPER MOZLEY, L., MO, Y., SUR, C. & MICHELSON, D. 2019. Randomized Trial of Verubecestat for Prodromal Alzheimer's Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 380, 1408-1420.

- EGGERS, C., FUJITANI, M., KATO, R. & SMID, S. 2019. Novel cannabis flavonoid, cannflavin A displays both a hormetic and neuroprotective profile against amyloid βmediated neurotoxicity in PC12 cells: Comparison with geranylated flavonoids, mimulone and diplacone. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 169, 113609.
- EHRNHOEFER, D. E., BIESCHKE, J., BOEDDRICH, A., HERBST, M., MASINO, L., LURZ, R., ENGEMANN, S., PASTORE, A. & WANKER, E. E. 2008. EGCG redirects amyloidogenic polypeptides into unstructured, off-pathway oligomers. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 15, 558-566.
- EICHLER, M., SPINEDI, L., UNFER-GRAUWILER, S., BODMER, M., SURBER, C., LUEDI, M. & DREWE, J. 2012. Heat Exposure of Cannabis sativa Extracts Affects the Pharmacokinetic and Metabolic Profile in Healthy Male Subjects. *Planta Medica*, 78, 686-691.

 ELAMIN, E., MASCLEE, A., TROOST, F., DEKKER, J. & JONKERS, D. 2014. Activation of the Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition Factor Snail Mediates Acetaldehyde-Induced Intestinal Epithelial Barrier Disruption. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 38, 344-353.

ELSOHLY, M. A. & GUL, W. 2014. Constituents of Cannabis Sativa. *Handbook of Cannabis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

ELSOHLY, M. A., RADWAN, M. M., GUL, W., CHANDRA, S. & GALAL, A. 2017.
Phytochemistry of Cannabis sativa L. *In:* KINGHORN, A. D., FALK, H., GIBBONS,
S. & KOBAYASHI, J. I. (eds.) *Phytocannabinoids: Unraveling the Complex Chemistry and Pharmacology of Cannabis sativa*. Cham: Springer International
Publishing.

- ELSOHLY, M. A. & SLADE, D. 2005. Chemical constituents of marijuana: The complex mixture of natural cannabinoids. *Life Sciences*, 78, 539-548.
- ESCOBAR, Y.-N. H., O'PIELA, D., WOLD, L. E. & MACKOS, A. R. 2022. Influence of the Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis on Cognition in Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 87, 17-31.

ESPOSITO, G., DE FILIPPIS, D., CARNUCCIO, R., IZZO, A. A. & IUVONE, T. 2006a. The marijuana component cannabidiol inhibits β-amyloid-induced tau protein hyperphosphorylation through Wnt/β-catenin pathway rescue in PC12 cells. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 84, 253-258.

ESPOSITO, G., DE FILIPPIS, D., MAIURI, M. C., DE STEFANO, D., CARNUCCIO, R. & IUVONE, T. 2006b. Cannabidiol inhibits inducible nitric oxide synthase protein expression and nitric oxide production in beta-amyloid stimulated PC12 neurons through p38 MAP kinase and NF-kappaB involvement. *Neuroscience Letters*, 399, 91-95.

ESPOSITO, G., FILIPPIS, D. D., CIRILLO, C., IUVONE, T., CAPOCCIA, E., SCUDERI, C., STEARDO, A., CUOMO, R. & STEARDO, L. 2013. Cannabidiol in

Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: A Brief Overview. *Phytotherapy Research*, 27, 633-636.

ESPOSITO, G., SCUDERI, C., SAVANI, C., STEARDO, L., JR., DE FILIPPIS, D., COTTONE, P., IUVONE, T., CUOMO, V. & STEARDO, L. 2007. Cannabidiol in vivo blunts beta-amyloid induced neuroinflammation by suppressing IL-1beta and iNOS expression. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 151, 1272-1279.

EUBANKS, L. M., ROGERS, C. J., BEUSCHER, A. E. T., KOOB, G. F., OLSON, A. J., DICKERSON, T. J. & JANDA, K. D. 2006. A molecular link between the active component of marijuana and Alzheimer's disease pathology. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 3, 773-777.

- FAKHFOURI, G., AHMADIANI, A., RAHIMIAN, R., GROLLA, A. A., MORADI, F. & HAERI, A. 2012. WIN55212-2 attenuates amyloid-beta-induced neuroinflammation in rats through activation of cannabinoid receptors and PPAR-γ pathway. *Neuropharmacology*, 63, 653-666.
- FAN, J., LI, T.-J. & ZHAO, X.-H. 2020a. Barrier-promoting efficiency of two bioactive flavonols quercetin and myricetin on rat intestinal epithelial (IEC-6) cells via suppressing Rho activation. *RSC Advances*, 10, 27249-27258.
- FAN, L., MAO, C., HU, X., ZHANG, S., YANG, Z., HU, Z., SUN, H., FAN, Y., DONG, Y., YANG, J., SHI, C. & XU, Y. 2020b. New Insights Into the Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 10, 1312.
- FELDER, C. C., JOYCE, K. E., BRILEY, E. M., MANSOURI, J., MACKIE, K., BLOND, O., LAI, Y., MA, A. L. & MITCHELL, R. L. 1995. Comparison of the pharmacology and signal transduction of the human cannabinoid CB1 and CB2 receptors. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 48, 443-450.
- FELDER, C. C., VELUZ, J. S., WILLIAMS, H. L., BRILEY, E. M. & MATSUDA, L. A. 1992. Cannabinoid agonists stimulate both receptor- and non-receptor-mediated signal

transduction pathways in cells transfected with and expressing cannabinoid receptor clones. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 42, 838-845.

- FELLERMEIER, M. & ZENK, M. H. 1998. Prenylation of olivetolate by a hemp transferase yields cannabigerolic acid, the precursor of tetrahydrocannabinol. *FEBS Letters*, 427, 283-285.
- FENG, Y. & WANG, X. 2012. Antioxidant therapies for Alzheimer's disease. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2012, 472932.
- FERBER, S. G., NAMDAR, D., HEN-SHOVAL, D., EGER, G., KOLTAI, H., SHOVAL, G., SHBIRO, L. & WELLER, A. 2020. The "Entourage Effect": Terpenes Coupled with Cannabinoids for the Treatment of Mood Disorders and Anxiety Disorders. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 18, 87-96.
- FERNÁNDEZ-RUIZ, J. 2009. The endocannabinoid system as a target for the treatment of motor dysfunction. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 156, 1029-1040.
- FERNÁNDEZ-RUIZ, J., GARCÍA, C., SAGREDO, O., GÓMEZ-RUIZ, M. & DE LAGO, E. 2010. The endocannabinoid system as a target for the treatment of neuronal damage. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*, 14, 387-404.
- FERNÁNDEZ-RUIZ, J., ROMERO, J. & RAMOS, J. A. 2015. Endocannabinoids and Neurodegenerative Disorders: Parkinson's Disease, Huntington's Chorea, Alzheimer's Disease, and Others. *In:* PERTWEE, R. G. (ed.) *Endocannabinoids*. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- FIDELES, L. D. S., DE MIRANDA, J. A. L., MARTINS, C. D. S., BARBOSA, M. L. L.,
 PIMENTA, H. B., PIMENTEL, P. V. D. S., TEIXEIRA, C. S., SCAFURI, M. A. S.,
 FAÇANHA, S. D. O., BARRETO, J. E. F., CARVALHO, P. M. D. M., SCAFURI, A.
 G., ARAÚJO, J. L., ROCHA, J. A., VIEIRA, I. G. P., RICARDO, N. M. P. S., DA
 SILVA CAMPELO, M., RIBEIRO, M. E. N. P., DE CASTRO BRITO, G. A. &
 CERQUEIRA, G. S. 2020. Role of Rutin in 5-Fluorouracil-Induced Intestinal

Mucositis: Prevention of Histological Damage and Reduction of Inflammation and Oxidative Stress. *Molecules*, 25, 2786.

FINLAY, D. B., SIRCOMBE, K. J., NIMICK, M., JONES, C. & GLASS, M. 2020. Terpenoids From Cannabis Do Not Mediate an Entourage Effect by Acting at Cannabinoid Receptors. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 11, 359.

FLORES-SANCHEZ, I. J. & VERPOORTE, R. 2008. PKS Activities and Biosynthesis of Cannabinoids and Flavonoids in Cannabis sativa L. Plants. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 49, 1767-1782.

- FOTI, M., PIATTELLI, M., BARATTA, M. T. & RUBERTO, G. 1996. Flavonoids,
 Coumarins, and Cinnamic Acids as Antioxidants in a Micellar System.
 Structure–Activity Relationship. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 44, 497-501.
- FRANCIS, P. T., PALMER, A. M., SNAPE, M. & WILCOCK, G. K. 1999. The cholinergic hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: a review of progress. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry*, 66, 137-147.
- FREEMAN, K., RYAN, R., PARSONS, N., TAYLOR-PHILLIPS, S., WILLIS, B. H. & CLARKE, A. 2021. The incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in UK primary care: a retrospective cohort study of the IQVIA Medical Research Database. *BMC Gastroenterology*, 21, 139.
- FUJITA, K.-I., KUBOTA, Y., ISHIDA, H. & SASAKI, Y. 2015. Irinotecan, a key chemotherapeutic drug for metastatic colorectal cancer. World Journal of Gastroenterology, 21, 12234-12248.
- FUJITANI, M., HUDDIN, N. S., KAWAI, S., KANIE, K., KIYOTA, Y., SHIMIZU, K., HONDA, H. & KATO, R. 2017. Morphology-based non-invasive quantitative prediction of the differentiation status of neural stem cells. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 124, 351-358.

GALIJATOVIC, A., OTAKE, Y., WALLE, U. K. & WALLE, T. 2001. Induction of UDP-Glucuronosyltransferase UGT1A1 by the Flavonoid Chrysin in Caco-2 Cells—
Potential Role in Carcinogen Bioinactivation. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 18, 374-379.

- GAO, Y., DUAN, L., GUAN, S., GAO, G., CHENG, Y., REN, X. & WANG, Y. 2017. The effect of hydrophobic alkyl chain length on the mechanical properties of latex particle hydrogels. *RSC Advances*, 7, 44673-44679.
- GAONI, Y. & MECHOULAM, R. 1964. Isolation, Structure, and Partial Synthesis of an Active Constituent of Hashish. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 86, 1646-1647.
- GAONI, Y. & MECHOULAM, R. 1966. Cannabichromene, a new active principle in hashish. *Chemical Communications (London)*, 20-21.
- GAONI, Y. & MECHOULAM, R. 1971. Isolation and structure of .DELTA.+tetrahydrocannabinol and other neutral cannabinoids from hashish. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 93, 217-224.
- GARCIA-ARENCIBIA, M., GARCIA, C. & FERNANDEZ-RUIZ, J. 2009. Cannabinoids and Parkinsons Disease. CNS & Neurological Disorders - Drug Targets, 8, 432-439.

GARCÍA-ARENCIBIA, M., GONZÁLEZ, S., DE LAGO, E., RAMOS, J. A.,

MECHOULAM, R. & FERNÁNDEZ-RUIZ, J. 2007. Evaluation of the neuroprotective effect of cannabinoids in a rat model of Parkinson's disease:
Importance of antioxidant and cannabinoid receptor-independent properties. *Brain Research*, 1134, 162-170.

GARCÍA, C., GÓMEZ-CAÑAS, M., BURGAZ, S., PALOMARES, B., GÓMEZ-GÁLVEZ,
Y., PALOMO-GARO, C., CAMPO, S., FERRER-HERNÁNDEZ, J., PAVICIC, C.,
NAVARRETE, C., LUZ BELLIDO, M., GARCÍA-ARENCIBIA, M., RUTH PAZOS,
M., MUÑOZ, E. & FERNÁNDEZ-RUIZ, J. 2018. Benefits of VCE-003.2, a
cannabigerol quinone derivative, against inflammation-driven neuronal deterioration

in experimental Parkinson's disease: possible involvement of different binding sites at the PPARγ receptor. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 15, 19.

- GEIER, M. S., BUTLER, R. N. & HOWARTH, G. S. 2007. Inflammatory bowel disease: Current insights into pathogenesis and new therapeutic options; probiotics, prebiotics and synbiotics. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 115, 1-11.
- GIACOPPO, S., GUGLIANDOLO, A., TRUBIANI, O., POLLASTRO, F., GRASSI, G., BRAMANTI, P. & MAZZON, E. 2017. Cannabinoid CB2 receptors are involved in the protection of RAW264.7 macrophages against the oxidative stress: an in vitro study. *European Journal of Histochemistry : EJH*, 61, 2749-2761.
- GIBSON, P. R. & ISER, J. 2005. Inflammatory bowel disease. *Australian Family Physician*, 34, 233-237.
- GIBSON, R. J., BOWEN, J. M., INGLIS, M. R., CUMMINS, A. G. & KEEFE, D. M. 2003. Irinotecan causes severe small intestinal damage, as well as colonic damage, in the rat with implanted breast cancer. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 18, 1095-1100.
- GILL, C., PHELAN, J. P., HATZIPETROS, T., KIDD, J. D., TASSINARI, V. R., LEVINE,
 B., WANG, M. Z., MORENO, A., THOMPSON, K., MAIER, M., GRIMM, J., GILL,
 A. & VIEIRA, F. G. 2019. SOD1-positive aggregate accumulation in the CNS
 predicts slower disease progression and increased longevity in a mutant SOD1 mouse
 model of ALS. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 6724.
- GIOVANNONI, M. P., GHELARDINI, C., VERGELLI, C. & PIAZ, V. D. 2009. α2-Agonists as analgesic agents. *Medicinal Research Reviews*, 29, 339-368.
- GO, Y. Y., KIM, S. R., KIM, D. Y., CHAE, S.-W. & SONG, J.-J. 2020. Cannabidiol enhances cytotoxicity of anti-cancer drugs in human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 20622
- GOATE, A., CHARTIER-HARLIN, M.-C., MULLAN, M., BROWN, J., CRAWFORD, F., FIDANI, L., GIUFFRA, L., HAYNES, A., IRVING, N., JAMES, L., MANT, R.,

NEWTON, P., ROOKE, K., ROQUES, P., TALBOT, C., PERICAK-VANCE, M., ROSES, A., WILLIAMSON, R., ROSSOR, M., OWEN, M. & HARDY, J. 1991. Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, 349, 704-706.

GRANJA, A. G., CARRILLO-SALINAS, F., PAGANI, A., GÓMEZ-CAÑAS, M., NEGRI,
R., NAVARRETE, C., MECHA, M., MESTRE, L., FIEBICH, B. L., CANTARERO,
I., CALZADO, M. A., BELLIDO, M. L., FERNANDEZ-RUIZ, J., APPENDINO, G.,
GUAZA, C. & MUÑOZ, E. 2012. A Cannabigerol Quinone Alleviates
Neuroinflammation in a Chronic Model of Multiple Sclerosis. *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, 7, 1002-1016.

- GRIFFITHS, K., AGGARWAL, B. B., SINGH, R. B., BUTTAR, H. S., WILSON, D. & DE MEESTER, F. 2016. Food Antioxidants and Their Anti-Inflammatory Properties: A Potential Role in Cardiovascular Diseases and Cancer Prevention. *Diseases (Basel, Switzerland)*, 4, 28.
- GUGLIANDOLO, A., POLLASTRO, F., GRASSI, G., BRAMANTI, P. & MAZZON, E.
 2018. In Vitro Model of Neuroinflammation: Efficacy of Cannabigerol, a Non-Psychoactive Cannabinoid. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19, 1992.
- GUGLIANDOLO, A., SILVESTRO, S., CHIRICOSTA, L., POLLASTRO, F., BRAMANTI,
 P. & MAZZON, E. 2020. The Transcriptomic Analysis of NSC-34 Motor Neuron-Like Cells Reveals That Cannabigerol Influences Synaptic Pathways: A Comparative Study with Cannabidiol. *Life (Basel, Switzerland)*, 10, 227.
- HABTEMARIAM, S. 2019. Natural Products in Alzheimer's Disease Therapy: Would Old Therapeutic Approaches Fix the Broken Promise of Modern Medicines? *Molecules* (*Basel, Switzerland*), 24, 1519.
- HAMPSON, A. J., GRIMALDI, M., AXELROD, J. & WINK, D. 1998. Cannabidiol and $(-)\Delta^9$ -tetrahydrocannabinol are neuroprotective antioxidants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95, 8268-8273.

- HAN, Q.-W., YUAN, Y.-H. & CHEN, N.-H. 2020. The therapeutic role of cannabinoid receptors and its agonists or antagonists in Parkinson's disease. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 96, 109745.
- HANAKI, M., MURAKAMI, K., AKAGI, K.-I. & IRIE, K. 2016. Structural insights into mechanisms for inhibiting amyloid β42 aggregation by non-catechol-type flavonoids. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 24, 304-313.
- HANAUER, S. B. 2004. Aminosalicylates in inflammatory bowel disease. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 20, 60-65.
- HANUŠ, L. O., MEYER, S. M., MUÑOZ, E., TAGLIALATELA-SCAFATI, O. & APPENDINO, G. 2016. Phytocannabinoids: a unified critical inventory. *Natural Product Reports*, 33, 1357-1392.
- HARDY, J. & SELKOE, D. J. 2002. The Amyloid Hypothesis of Alzheimer's Disease: Progress and Problems on the Road to Therapeutics. *Science*, 297, 353-356.
- HARDY, J. A. & HIGGINS, G. A. 1992. Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. *Science*, 256, 184-185.
- HARVEY, B. S., NICOTRA, L. L., VU, M. & SMID, S. D. 2013. Cannabinoid CB2 receptor activation attenuates cytokine-evoked mucosal damage in a human colonic explant model without changing epithelial permeability. *Cytokine*, 63, 209-217.
- HARVEY, B. S., OHLSSON, K. S., MÅÅG, J. L. V., MUSGRAVE, I. F. & SMID, S. D. 2012. Contrasting protective effects of cannabinoids against oxidative stress and amyloid-β evoked neurotoxicity in vitro. *NeuroToxicology*, 33, 138-146.
- HARVEY, D. J. 1990. Stability of cannabinoids in dried samples of cannabis dating from around 1896–1905. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 28, 117-128.
- HEALTH, A. I. O. & WELFARE 2012. Dementia in Australia. Canberra: AIHW.
- HECHT, J. R. 1998. Gastrointestinal toxicity or irinotecan. *Oncology (Williston Park, N.Y.)*, 12, 72-78.

HELLER, F., FLORIAN, P., BOJARSKI, C., RICHTER, J., CHRIST, M., HILLENBRAND,
B., MANKERTZ, J., GITTER, A. H., BÜRGEL, N., FROMM, M., ZEITZ, M., FUSS,
I., STROBER, W. & SCHULZKE, J. D. 2005. Interleukin-13 Is the Key Effector Th2
Cytokine in Ulcerative Colitis That Affects Epithelial Tight Junctions, Apoptosis, and
Cell Restitution. *Gastroenterology*, 129, 550-564.

- HENDRICKSON, B. A., GOKHALE, R. & CHO, J. H. 2002. Clinical aspects and pathophysiology of inflammatory bowel disease. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 15, 79-94.
- HENLEY, D., RAGHAVAN, N., SPERLING, R., AISEN, P., RAMAN, R. & ROMANO, G.
 2019. Preliminary Results of a Trial of Atabecestat in Preclinical Alzheimer's Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 380, 1483-1485.
- HENSTRIDGE, C. M. 2012. Off-Target Cannabinoid Effects Mediated by GPR55. *Pharmacology*, 89, 179-187.
- HIPPIUS, H. & NEUNDÖRFER, G. 2003. The discovery of Alzheimer's disease. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 5, 101-108.
- HIURA, Y., SATSU, H., HAMADA, M. & SHIMIZU, M. 2014. Analysis of flavonoids regulating the expression of UGT1A1 via xenobiotic receptors in intestinal epithelial cells. *BioFactors*, 40, 336-345.
- HOŠEK, J. & ŠMEJKAL, K. 2015. Flavonoids as Anti-inflammatory Agents. *In:*PARNHAM, M. (ed.) *Encyclopedia of Inflammatory Diseases*. Basel: Springer Basel.

HOWLETT, A. C., BARTH, F., BONNER, T. I., CABRAL, G., CASELLAS, P., DEVANE,
W. A., FELDER, C. C., HERKENHAM, M., MACKIE, K., MARTIN, B. R.,
MECHOULAM, R. & PERTWEE, R. G. 2002. International Union of Pharmacology.
XXVII. Classification of Cannabinoid Receptors. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 54, 161-202.

- HUBATSCH, I., RAGNARSSON, E. G. E. & ARTURSSON, P. 2007. Determination of drug permeability and prediction of drug absorption in Caco-2 monolayers. *Nature Protocols*, 2, 2111-2119.
- HUDSON, S. A., ECROYD, H., KEE, T. W. & CARVER, J. A. 2009. The thioflavin T fluorescence assay for amyloid fibril detection can be biased by the presence of exogenous compounds. *The FEBS Journal*, 276, 5960-5972.
- INFANTE-DUARTE, C., WAICZIES, S., WUERFEL, J. & ZIPP, F. 2008. New developments in understanding and treating neuroinflammation. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 86, 975-985.
- INGELSSON, M. 2016. Alpha-Synuclein Oligomers-Neurotoxic Molecules in Parkinson's Disease and Other Lewy Body Disorders. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 10, 408.
- IRVING, P. M., IQBAL, T., NWOKOLO, C., SUBRAMANIAN, S., BLOOM, S., PRASAD,
 N., HART, A., MURRAY, C., LINDSAY, J. O., TAYLOR, A., BARRON, R. &
 WRIGHT, S. 2018. A Randomized, Double-blind, Placebo-controlled, Parallel-group,
 Pilot Study of Cannabidiol-rich Botanical Extract in the Symptomatic Treatment of
 Ulcerative Colitis. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases*, 24, 714-724.
- ISHIKAWA, K., YOSHIDA, K., KANIE, K., OMORI, K. & KATO, R. 2019. Morphology-Based Analysis of Myoblasts for Prediction of Myotube Formation. *SLAS DISCOVERY: Advancing the Science of Drug Discovery*, 24, 47-56.
- IUVONE, T., DI MARZO, V., GUY, G., WRIGHT, S. & STOTT, C. 2019. Cannabinoids for use in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases or disorders. Google Patents.
- IUVONE, T., ESPOSITO, G., ESPOSITO, R., SANTAMARIA, R., DI ROSA, M. & IZZO, A. A. 2004. Neuroprotective effect of cannabidiol, a non-psychoactive component from Cannabis sativa, on β-amyloid-induced toxicity in PC12 cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 89, 134-141.
- IZZO, A. A., CAPASSO, R., AVIELLO, G., BORRELLI, F., ROMANO, B., PISCITELLI, F., GALLO, L., CAPASSO, F., ORLANDO, P. & DI MARZO, V. 2012. Inhibitory

effect of cannabichromene, a major non-psychotropic cannabinoid extracted from Cannabis sativa, on inflammation-induced hypermotility in mice. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 166, 1444-1460.

- JACOB, A. & TODD, A. R. 1940. 119. Cannabis indica. Part II. Isolation of cannabidiol from Egyptian hashish. Observations on the structure of cannabinol. *Journal of the Chemical Society (Resumed)*, 649-653.
- JAGER, G., KAHN, R. S., VAN DEN BRINK, W., VAN REE, J. M. & RAMSEY, N. F. 2006. Long-term effects of frequent cannabis use on working memory and attention: an fMRI study. *Psychopharmacology*, 185, 358-368.
- JAMONTT, J. M., MOLLEMAN, A., PERTWEE, R. G. & PARSONS, M. E. 2010. The effects of Delta-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol alone and in combination on damage, inflammation and in vitro motility disturbances in rat colitis. *British Journal* of Pharmacology, 160, 712-723.
- JANEFJORD, E., MÅÅG, J. L. V., HARVEY, B. S. & SMID, S. D. 2014. Cannabinoid Effects on β Amyloid Fibril and Aggregate Formation, Neuronal and Microglial-Activated Neurotoxicity In Vitro. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 34, 31-42.
- JEONG, S., YUN, H. K., JEONG, Y. A., JO, M. J., KANG, S. H., KIM, J. L., KIM, D. Y., PARK, S. H., KIM, B. R., NA, Y. J., LEE, S. I., KIM, H. D., KIM, D. H., OH, S. C. & LEE, D.-H. 2019. Cannabidiol-induced apoptosis is mediated by activation of Noxa in human colorectal cancer cells. *Cancer Letters*, 447, 12-23.
- JIANG, C., TING, A. T. & SEED, B. 1998. PPAR-γ agonists inhibit production of monocyte inflammatory cytokines. *Nature*, 391, 82-86.
- JIANG, H., SHEN, J. & RAN, Z. 2018. Epithelial–mesenchymal transition in Crohn's disease. *Mucosal Immunology*, 11, 294-303.
- KADOWAKI, H., NISHITOH, H., URANO, F., SADAMITSU, C., MATSUZAWA, A., TAKEDA, K., MASUTANI, H., YODOI, J., URANO, Y., NAGANO, T. & ICHIJO,

H. 2005. Amyloid β induces neuronal cell death through ROS-mediated ASK1 activation. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 12, 19-24.

- KALLURI, R. & WEINBERG, R. A. 2009. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 119, 1420-1428.
- KAMINSKY, L. W., AL-SADI, R. & MA, T. Y. 2021. IL-1β and the Intestinal Epithelial Tight Junction Barrier. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12, 767456.
- KARHAUSEN, J., ULLOA, L. & YANG, W. 2021. SUMOylation Connects Cell Stress Responses and Inflammatory Control: Lessons From the Gut as a Model Organ. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12, 646633.
- KASER, A., ZEISSIG, S. & BLUMBERG, R. S. 2010. Inflammatory bowel disease. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 28, 573-621.
- KCIUK, M., MARCINIAK, B. & KONTEK, R. 2020. Irinotecan-Still an Important Player in Cancer Chemotherapy: A Comprehensive Overview. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21, 4919.
- KEEFE, D. M., ELTING, L. S., NGUYEN, H. T., GRUNBERG, S. M., APRILE, G.,
 BONAVENTURA, A., SELVA-NAYAGAM, S., BARSEVICK, A., KOCZWARA,
 B. & SONIS, S. T. 2014. Risk and outcomes of chemotherapy-induced diarrhea (CID) among patients with colorectal cancer receiving multi-cycle chemotherapy. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 74, 675-680.
- KELLEY, B. G. & THAYER, S. A. 2004. Δ9-Tetrahydrocannabinol antagonizes endocannabinoid modulation of synaptic transmission between hippocampal neurons in culture. *Neuropharmacology*, 46, 709-715.
- KENAKIN, T. 2001. Inverse, protean, and ligand-selective agonism: matters of receptor conformation. *The FASEB Journal*, 15, 598-611.
- KHAN-MOHAMMADI-KHORRAMI, M.-K., ASLE-ROUSTA, M., RAHNEMA, M. & AMINI, R. 2022. Neuroprotective effect of alpha-pinene is mediated by suppression

of the TNF-α/NF-κB pathway in Alzheimer's disease rat model. *Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology*, 36, e23006.

KHAN, I., ULLAH, N., ZHA, L., BAI, Y., KHAN, A., ZHAO, T., CHE, T. & ZHANG, C.
2019. Alteration of Gut Microbiota in Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD): Cause or Consequence? IBD Treatment Targeting the Gut Microbiome. *Pathogens (Basel, Switzerland)*, 8, 126.

- KHO, Z. Y. & LAL, S. K. 2018. The Human Gut Microbiome A Potential Controller of Wellness and Disease. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9, 1835.
- KIM, H. P., SON, K. H., CHANG, H. W. & KANG, S. S. 2004. Anti-inflammatory Plant Flavonoids and Cellular Action Mechanisms. *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences*, 96, 229-245.
- KISHI, T., MATSUNAGA, S., OYA, K., NOMURA, I., IKUTA, T. & IWATA, N. 2017. Memantine for Alzheimer's Disease: An Updated Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 60, 401-425.
- KNIGHT, R., KHONDOKER, M., MAGILL, N., STEWART, R. & LANDAU, S. 2018. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Effectiveness of Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitors and Memantine in Treating the Cognitive Symptoms of Dementia. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 45, 131-151.
- KNOWLES, S. R., KEEFER, L., WILDING, H., HEWITT, C., GRAFF, L. A. &
 MIKOCKA-WALUS, A. 2018. Quality of Life in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A
 Systematic Review and Meta-analyses—Part II. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases*, 24, 966-976.
- KOHN, W., BECKE, A. D. & PARR, R. G. 1996. Density Functional Theory of Electronic Structure. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry*, 100, 12974-12980.
- KOPPEL, J., VINGTDEUX, V., MARAMBAUD, P., D'ABRAMO, C., JIMENEZ, H., STAUBER, M., FRIEDMAN, R. & DAVIES, P. 2013. CB₂ receptor deficiency

increases amyloid pathology and alters tau processing in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Medicine (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 19, 357-364.

- KORTE, F. & SIEPER, H. 1964. Zur chemischen klassifizierung von pflanzen: XXIV. Untersuchung von Haschisch-Inhaltsstoffen durch Dünnschichtchromatographie. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 13, 90-98.
- KOWALSKI, K. & MULAK, A. 2019. Brain-Gut-Microbiota Axis in Alzheimer's Disease. Journal of Neurogastroenterology and Motility, 25, 48-60.
- KUBOYAMA, T. 2018. Visualizing Axonal Growth Cone Collapse and Early Amyloid β Effects in Cultured Mouse Neurons. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, e58229.
- KUMAR, R., KUMAR, R., SHARMA, N. & KHURANA, N. 2021. Ameliorative effect of myrcene in mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 911, 174529.
- KUMAR, S. & PANDEY, A. K. 2013. Chemistry and Biological Activities of Flavonoids: An Overview. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2013, 162750.
- KUN, J., SZITTER, I., KEMÉNY, Á., PERKECZ, A., KERESKAI, L., POHÓCZKY, K.,
 VINCZE, Á., GÓDI, S., SZABÓ, I., SZOLCSÁNYI, J., PINTÉR, E. & HELYES, Z.
 2014. Upregulation of the Transient Receptor Potential Ankyrin 1 Ion Channel in the
 Inflamed Human and Mouse Colon and Its Protective Roles. *PLOS ONE*, 9, e108164.
- LALLA, R. V., BOWEN, J., BARASCH, A., ELTING, L., EPSTEIN, J., KEEFE, D. M.,
 MCGUIRE, D. B., MIGLIORATI, C., NICOLATOU-GALITIS, O., PETERSON, D.
 E., RABER-DURLACHER, J. E., SONIS, S. T., ELAD, S., MUCOSITIS
 GUIDELINES LEADERSHIP GROUP OF THE MULTINATIONAL
 ASSOCIATION OF SUPPORTIVE CARE IN, C. & INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY
 OF ORAL, O. 2014. MASCC/ISOO clinical practice guidelines for the management
 of mucositis secondary to cancer therapy. *Cancer*, 120, 1453-1461.
- LAMOUILLE, S., XU, J. & DERYNCK, R. 2014. Molecular mechanisms of epithelialmesenchymal transition. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 15, 178-196.

LAPRAIRIE, R. B., BAGHER, A. M., KELLY, M. E. M. & DENOVAN-WRIGHT, E. M.

2015. Cannabidiol is a negative allosteric modulator of the cannabinoid CB1 receptor. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 172, 4790-4805.

LASHUEL, H. A., HARTLEY, D., PETRE, B. M., WALZ, T. & LANSBURY, P. T. 2002. Amyloid pores from pathogenic mutations. *Nature*, 418, 291-291.

LASTRES-BECKER, I., MOLINA-HOLGADO, F., RAMOS, J. A., MECHOULAM, R. & FERNÁNDEZ-RUIZ, J. 2005. Cannabinoids provide neuroprotection against 6hydroxydopamine toxicity in vivo and in vitro: Relevance to Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 19, 96-107.

- LAVIGNE, J. E., HECKSEL, R., KERESZTES, A. & STREICHER, J. M. 2021. Cannabis sativa terpenes are cannabimimetic and selectively enhance cannabinoid activity. *Scientific Reports*, 11, 8232.
- LAWS III, J. S., SHRESTHA, S. & SMID, S. D. 2022. Cannabis terpenes display variable protective and anti-aggregatory actions against neurotoxic β amyloid in vitro: highlighting the protective bioactivity of α-bisabolol in motorneuronal-like NSC-34 cells. *NeuroToxicology*, 90, 81-87.
- LEE, K.-I., LEE, H.-T., LIN, H.-C., TSAY, H.-J., TSAI, F.-C., SHYUE, S.-K. & LEE, T.-S. 2016. Role of transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 channels in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 13, 92.
- LEFORT, É. C. & BLAY, J. 2011. The dietary flavonoid apigenin enhances the activities of the anti-metastatic protein CD26 on human colon carcinoma cells. *Clinical & Experimental Metastasis*, 28, 337-349.
- LEI, C.-S., HOU, Y.-C., PAI, M.-H., LIN, M.-T. & YEH, S.-L. 2018. Effects of quercetin combined with anticancer drugs on metastasis-associated factors of gastric cancer cells: in vitro and in vivo studies. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 51, 105-113.

- LEWIS, M. A., RUSSO, E. B. & SMITH, K. M. 2018. Pharmacological Foundations of Cannabis Chemovars. *Planta Medica*, 84, 225-233.
- LEWIS, M. M., YANG, Y., WASILEWSKI, E., CLARKE, H. A. & KOTRA, L. P. 2017. Chemical Profiling of Medical Cannabis Extracts. *ACS Omega*, 2, 6091-6103.
- LIBRO, R., DIOMEDE, F., SCIONTI, D., PIATTELLI, A., GRASSI, G., POLLASTRO, F., BRAMANTI, P., MAZZON, E. & TRUBIANI, O. 2016. Cannabidiol Modulates the Expression of Alzheimer's Disease-Related Genes in Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18, 26.
- LIGRESTI, A., PETROCELLIS, L. D. & MARZO, V. D. 2016. From Phytocannabinoids to Cannabinoid Receptors and Endocannabinoids: Pleiotropic Physiological and Pathological Roles Through Complex Pharmacology. *Physiological Reviews*, 96, 1593-1659.
- LIGUMSKY, M., SIMON, P. L., KARMELI, F. & RACHMILEWITZ, D. 1990. Role of interleukin 1 in inflammatory bowel disease--enhanced production during active disease. *Gut*, 31, 686-689.
- LIN, X. B., FARHANGFAR, A., VALCHEVA, R., SAWYER, M. B., DIELEMAN, L., SCHIEBER, A., GÄNZLE, M. G. & BARACOS, V. 2014. The role of intestinal microbiota in development of irinotecan toxicity and in toxicity reduction through dietary fibres in rats. *PLOS ONE*, 9, e83644.
- LIN, Y., WANG, M., XIAO, Z. & JIANG, Z. 2021. Hypoxia activates SUMO-1-HIF-1α signaling pathway to upregulate pro-inflammatory cytokines and permeability in human tonsil epithelial cells. *Life Sciences*, 276, 119432.

LINGAPPAN, K. 2018. NF-KB in oxidative stress. Current Opinion in Toxicology, 7, 81-86.

LIU, X.-Y., LV, X., WANG, P., AI, C.-Z., ZHOU, Q.-H., FINEL, M., FAN, B., CAO, Y.-F., TANG, H. & GE, G.-B. 2019. Inhibition of UGT1A1 by natural and synthetic flavonoids. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 126, 653-661. LÓPEZ-SENDÓN MORENO, J. L., GARCÍA CALDENTEY, J., TRIGO CUBILLO, P., RUIZ ROMERO, C., GARCÍA RIBAS, G., ALONSO ARIAS, M. A. A., GARCÍA DE YÉBENES, M. J., TOLÓN, R. M., GALVE-ROPERH, I., SAGREDO, O., VALDEOLIVAS, S., RESEL, E., ORTEGA-GUTIERREZ, S., GARCÍA-BERMEJO, M. L., FERNÁNDEZ RUIZ, J., GUZMÁN, M. & GARCÍA DE YÉBENES PROUS, J. 2016. A double-blind, randomized, cross-over, placebo-controlled, pilot trial with Sativex in Huntington's disease. *Journal of Neurology*, 263, 1390-1400.

- LOTFI, M., KAZEMI, S., SHIRAFKAN, F., HOSSEINZADEH, R., EBRAHIMPOUR, A., BARARY, M., SIO, T. T., HOSSEINI, S. M. & MOGHADAMNIA, A. A. 2021. The protective effects of quercetin nano-emulsion on intestinal mucositis induced by 5fluorouracil in mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 585, 75-81.
- LOVELL, M. A., EHMANN, W. D., MATTSON, M. P. & MARKESBERY, W. R. 1997. Elevated 4-Hydroxynonenal in Ventricular Fluid in Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 18, 457-461.
- LOVISA, S., GENOVESE, G. & DANESE, S. 2018. Role of Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Journal of Crohn's and Colitis*, 13, 659-668.
- LUESCHER, S., URMANN, C. & BUTTERWECK, V. 2017. Effect of Hops Derived Prenylated Phenols on TNF-α Induced Barrier Dysfunction in Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Journal of Natural Products*, 80, 925-931.
- M LOGAN, R., M STRINGER, A., M BOWEN, J., J GIBSON, R., T SONIS, S. & M K KEEFE, D. 2008. Serum levels of NF-κB and pro-inflammatory cytokines following administration of mucotoxic drugs. *Cancer Biology & Therapy*, **7**, 1139-1145.
- MA, G., WU, B., GAO, S., YANG, Z., MA, Y. & HU, M. 2013. Mutual Regioselective Inhibition of Human UGT1A1-Mediated Glucuronidation of Four Flavonoids. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 10, 2891-2903.

MA, T. Y., IWAMOTO, G. K., HOA, N. T., AKOTIA, V., PEDRAM, A., BOIVIN, M. A. & SAID, H. M. 2004. TNF-α-induced increase in intestinal epithelial tight junction permeability requires NF-κB activation. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 286, G367-G376.

MACLENNAN, S. J., REYNEN, P. H., KWAN, J. & BONHAUS, D. W. 1998. Evidence for inverse agonism of SR141716A at human recombinant cannabinoid CB1 and CB2 receptors. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 124, 619-622.

MACPHEE, I. A., ANTONI, F. A. & MASON, D. W. 1989. Spontaneous recovery of rats from experimental allergic encephalomyelitis is dependent on regulation of the immune system by endogenous adrenal corticosteroids. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 169, 431-445.

MAGGINI, V., CALVI, L., PELAGATTI, T., GALLO, E. R., CIVATI, C., PRIVITERA, C., SQUILLANTE, F., MANIGLIA, P., DI CANDIA, D., SPAMPATTI, R. & FIRENZUOLI, F. 2022. An Optimized Terpene Profile for a New Medical Cannabis Oil. *Pharmaceutics*, 14, 298.

MAGRINELLI, F., PICELLI, A., TOCCO, P., FEDERICO, A., RONCARI, L., SMANIA, N., ZANETTE, G. & TAMBURIN, S. 2016. Pathophysiology of Motor Dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease as the Rationale for Drug Treatment and Rehabilitation. *Parkinson's Disease*, 2016, 9832839.

- MAHIDA, Y. R., WU, K. & JEWELL, D. P. 1989. Enhanced production of interleukin 1-beta by mononuclear cells isolated from mucosa with active ulcerative colitis of Crohn's disease. *Gut*, 30, 835-838.
- MAIONE, S., PISCITELLI, F., GATTA, L., VITA, D., DE PETROCELLIS, L., PALAZZO,
 E., DE NOVELLIS, V. & DI MARZO, V. 2011. Non-psychoactive cannabinoids
 modulate the descending pathway of antinociception in anaesthetized rats through
 several mechanisms of action. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 162, 584-596.

MAMMANA, S., CAVALLI, E., GUGLIANDOLO, A., SILVESTRO, S., POLLASTRO, F., BRAMANTI, P. & MAZZON, E. 2019. Could the Combination of Two Non-Psychotropic Cannabinoids Counteract Neuroinflammation? Effectiveness of Cannabidiol Associated with Cannabigerol. *Medicina (Kaunas, Lithuania)*, 55, 747.
MANCUSO, C., BATES, T. E., BUTTERFIELD, D. A., CALAFATO, S., CORNELIUS, C.,

- LORENZO, A. D., DINKOVA KOSTOVA, A. T. & CALABRESE, V. 2007. Natural antioxidants in Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, 16, 1921-1931.
- MANOHARAN, S., GUILLEMIN, G. J., ABIRAMASUNDARI, R. S., ESSA, M. M., AKBAR, M. & AKBAR, M. D. 2016. The Role of Reactive Oxygen Species in the Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease, Parkinson's Disease, and Huntington's Disease: A Mini Review. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2016, 8590578.
- MAO, L., KITANI, A., STROBER, W. & FUSS, I. J. 2018. The Role of NLRP3 and IL-1β in the Pathogenesis of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9, 2566.

MARCHIANDO, A. M., SHEN, L., GRAHAM, W. V., EDELBLUM, K. L.,

DUCKWORTH, C. A., GUAN, Y., MONTROSE, M. H., TURNER, J. R. & WATSON, A. J. M. 2011. The Epithelial Barrier Is Maintained by In Vivo Tight Junction Expansion During Pathologic Intestinal Epithelial Shedding. *Gastroenterology*, 140, 1208-1218.e2.

- MAROON, J. & BOST, J. 2018. Review of the neurological benefits of phytocannabinoids. Surgical Neurology International, 9, 91.
- MARSH, D. T., DAS, S., RIDELL, J. & SMID, S. D. 2017. Structure-activity relationships for flavone interactions with amyloid β reveal a novel anti-aggregatory and neuroprotective effect of 2',3',4'-trihydroxyflavone (2-D08). *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 25, 3827-3834.

MARSH, D. T. & SMID, S. D. 2021. Cannabis Phytochemicals: A Review of Phytocannabinoid Chemistry and Bioactivity as Neuroprotective Agents. *Australian Journal of Chemistry*, 74, 388-404.

- MARTIN, B. R., JEFFERSON, R., WINCKLER, R., WILEY, J. L., HUFFMAN, J. W., CROCKER, P. J., SAHA, B. & RAZDAN, R. K. 1999. Manipulation of the Tetrahydrocannabinol Side Chain Delineates Agonists, Partial Agonists, and Antagonists. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 290, 1065-1079.
- MARTÍNEZ, V., IRIONDO DE-HOND, A., BORRELLI, F., CAPASSO, R., DEL CASTILLO, M. D. & ABALO, R. 2020. Cannabidiol and Other Non-Psychoactive Cannabinoids for Prevention and Treatment of Gastrointestinal Disorders: Useful Nutraceuticals? *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21, 3067.
- MATSUOKA, Y., PICCIANO, M., LA FRANCOIS, J. & DUFF, K. 2001. Fibrillar βamyloid evokes oxidative damage in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience*, 104, 609-613.
- MAURYA, N. & VELMURUGAN, B. K. 2018. Therapeutic applications of cannabinoids. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 293, 77-88.
- MCCOLGAN, P. & TABRIZI, S. J. 2018. Huntington's disease: a clinical review. *European Journal of Neurology*, 25, 24-34.
- MCKAY, D. M. & BAIRD, A. W. 1999. Cytokine regulation of epithelial permeability and ion transport. *Gut*, 44, 283-289.
- MCPARTLAND, J. M., DUNCAN, M., DI MARZO, V. & PERTWEE, R. G. 2015. Are cannabidiol and Δ9-tetrahydrocannabivarin negative modulators of the endocannabinoid system? A systematic review. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 172, 737-753.
- MECHOULAM, R. 2005. Plant cannabinoids: a neglected pharmacological treasure trove. British Journal of Pharmacology, 146, 913-915.

- MECHOULAM, R. & SHVO, Y. 1963. Hashish—I: The structure of Cannabidiol. *Tetrahedron*, 19, 2073-2078.
- MEHTA, F. 2016. Report: economic implications of inflammatory bowel disease and its management. *The American Journal of Managed Care*, 22, 51-60.
- MELO, M. L. P., BRITO, G. A. C., SOARES, R. C., CARVALHO, S. B. L. M., SILVA, J. V., SOARES, P. M. G., VALE, M. L., SOUZA, M. H. L. P., CUNHA, F. Q. & RIBEIRO, R. A. 2008. Role of cytokines (TNF-α, IL-1β and KC) in the pathogenesis of CPT-11-induced intestinal mucositis in mice: effect of pentoxifylline and thalidomide. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 61, 775-784.
- MENDIOLA-PRECOMA, J., BERUMEN, L. C., PADILLA, K. & GARCIA-ALCOCER, G. 2016. Therapies for Prevention and Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. *BioMed Research International*, 2016, 2589276.
- MO, Y.-Y., YU, Y., SHEN, Z. & BECK, W. T. 2002. Nucleolar Delocalization of Human Topoisomerase I in Response to Topotecan Correlates with Sumoylation of the Protein*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 2958-2964.
- MODIGLIANI, R., MARY, J.-Y., SIMON, J.-F., CORTOT, A., SOULE, J.-C., GENDRE, J.-P. & RENE, E. 1990. Clinical, biological, and endoscopic picture of attacks of Crohn's disease: Evolution on prednisolone. *Gastroenterology*, 98, 811-818.
- MORALES, P., HURST, D. P. & REGGIO, P. H. 2017a. Molecular Targets of the Phytocannabinoids: A Complex Picture. *In:* KINGHORN, A. D., FALK, H., GIBBONS, S. & KOBAYASHI, J. I. (eds.) *Phytocannabinoids: Unraveling the Complex Chemistry and Pharmacology of Cannabis sativa*. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- MORALES, P., HURST, D. P. & REGGIO, P. H. 2017b. Molecular Targets of the Phytocannabinoids: A Complex Picture. *Progress in the Chemistry of Organic Natural Products*, 103, 103-131.

- MUCKE, L. & SELKOE, D. J. 2012. Neurotoxicity of amyloid β-protein: synaptic and network dysfunction. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 2, a006338.
- MUNRO, S., THOMAS, K. L. & ABU-SHAAR, M. 1993. Molecular characterization of a peripheral receptor for cannabinoids. *Nature*, 365, 61-65.

MURPHY, M., MILLS, S., WINSTONE, J., LEISHMAN, E., WAGER-MILLER, J.,
 BRADSHAW, H. & MACKIE, K. 2017. Chronic Adolescent Δ9 Tetrahydrocannabinol Treatment of Male Mice Leads to Long-Term Cognitive and
 Behavioral Dysfunction, Which Are Prevented by Concurrent Cannabidiol Treatment.
 Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research, 2, 235-246.

MURRAY, I. V. J., LIU, L., KOMATSU, H., URYU, K., XIAO, G., LAWSON, J. A. & AXELSEN, P. H. 2007. Membrane-mediated Amyloidogenesis and the Promotion of Oxidative Lipid Damage by Amyloid Beta Proteins *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282, 9335-9345.

MUSTFA, S. A., SINGH, M., SUHAIL, A., MOHAPATRA, G., VERMA, S., CHAKRAVORTY, D., RANA, S., RAMPAL, R., DHAR, A., SAHA, S., AHUJA, V. & SRIKANTH, C. V. 2017. SUMOylation pathway alteration coupled with downregulation of SUMO E2 enzyme at mucosal epithelium modulates inflammation in inflammatory bowel disease. *Open Biology*, 7, 170024.

NAFTALI, T. 2020. An overview of cannabis based treatment in Crohn's disease. *Expert Review of Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 14, 253-257.

NAFTALI, T., BAR-LEV SCHLEIDER, L., DOTAN, I., LANSKY, E. P., SKLEROVSKY BENJAMINOV, F. & KONIKOFF, F. M. 2013. Cannabis Induces a Clinical Response in Patients With Crohn's Disease: A Prospective Placebo-Controlled Study. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 11, 1276-1280.e1.

NAFTALI, T., LEV, L. B., YABLECOVITCH, D., HALF, E. & KONIKOFF, F. M. 2011. Treatment of Crohn's disease with cannabis: an observational study. *Israel Medical Association Journal*, 13, 455-458. NAVARRO, G., VARANI, K., REYES-RESINA, I., SÁNCHEZ DE MEDINA, V., RIVAS-SANTISTEBAN, R., SÁNCHEZ-CARNERERO CALLADO, C., VINCENZI, F., CASANO, S., FERREIRO-VERA, C., CANELA, E. I., BOREA, P. A., NADAL, X. & FRANCO, R. 2018. Cannabigerol Action at Cannabinoid CB(1) and CB(2)
Receptors and at CB(1)-CB(2) Heteroreceptor Complexes. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 9, 632.

NEWMAN, D. J. & CRAGG, G. M. 2020. Natural Products as Sources of New Drugs over the Nearly Four Decades from 01/1981 to 09/2019. *Journal of Natural Products*, 83, 770-803.

NGUYEN, C. H., KREWENKA, C., RADAD, K., KRANNER, B., HUBER, A., DUVIGNEAU, J. C., MILLER, I. & MOLDZIO, R. 2016. THC (Δ9-Tetrahydrocannabinol) Exerts Neuroprotective Effect in Glutamate-affected Murine Primary Mesencephalic Cultures Through Restoring Mitochondrial Membrane Potential and Anti-apoptosis Involving CB1 Receptor-dependent Mechanism. *Phytotherapy Research*, 30, 2044-2052.

- NGUYEN, L., WRIGHT, S., LEE, M., REN, Z., SAUER, J.-M., HOFFMAN, W., ZAGO,
 W., KINNEY, G. G. & BOVA, M. P. 2012. Quantifying Amyloid Beta (Aβ)–
 Mediated Changes in Neuronal Morphology in Primary Cultures: Implications for
 Phenotypic Screening. *Journal of Biomolecular Screening*, 17, 835-842.
- NICHOLS, E., SZOEKE, C. E. I., VOLLSET, S. E., ABBASI, N., ABD-ALLAH, F., ABDELA, J., AICHOUR, M. T. E., AKINYEMI, R. O., ALAHDAB, F., ASGEDOM, S. W., AWASTHI, A., BARKER-COLLO, S. L., BAUNE, B. T., BÉJOT, Y., BELACHEW, A. B., BENNETT, D. A., BIADGO, B., BIJANI, A., BIN SAYEED, M. S., BRAYNE, C., CARPENTER, D. O., CARVALHO, F., CATALÁ-LÓPEZ, F., CERIN, E., CHOI, J.-Y. J., DANG, A. K., DEGEFA, M. G., DJALALINIA, S., DUBEY, M., DUKEN, E. E., EDVARDSSON, D., ENDRES, M., ESKANDARIEH, S., FARO, A., FARZADFAR, F., FERESHTEHNEJAD, S.-M., FERNANDES, E.,

FILIP, I., FISCHER, F., GEBRE, A. K., GEREMEW, D., GHASEMI-KASMAN, M., GNEDOVSKAYA, E. V., GUPTA, R., HACHINSKI, V., HAGOS, T. B., HAMIDI, S., HANKEY, G. J., HARO, J. M., HAY, S. I., IRVANI, S. S. N., JHA, R. P., JONAS, J. B., KALANI, R., KARCH, A., KASAEIAN, A., KHADER, Y. S., KHALIL, I. A., KHAN, E. A., KHANNA, T., KHOJA, T. A. M., KHUBCHANDANI, J., KISA, A., KISSIMOVA-SKARBEK, K., KIVIMÄKI, M., KOYANAGI, A., KROHN, K. J., LOGROSCINO, G., LORKOWSKI, S., MAJDAN, M., MALEKZADEH, R., MÄRZ, W., MASSANO, J., MENGISTU, G., MERETOJA, A., MOHAMMADI, M., MOHAMMADI-KHANAPOSHTANI, M., MOKDAD, A. H., MONDELLO, S., MORADI, G., NAGEL, G., NAGHAVI, M., NAIK, G., NGUYEN, L. H., NGUYEN, T. H., NIRAYO, Y. L., NIXON, M. R., OFORI-ASENSO, R., OGBO, F. A., OLAGUNJU, A. T., OWOLABI, M. O., PANDA-JONAS, S., PASSOS, V. M. D. A., PEREIRA, D. M., PINILLA-MONSALVE, G. D., PIRADOV, M. A., POND, C. D., POUSTCHI, H., QORBANI, M., RADFAR, A., et al. 2019. Global, regional, and national burden of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. The Lancet Neurology, 18, 88-106.

- O'SULLIVAN, S. E. 2016. An update on PPAR activation by cannabinoids. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 173, 1899-1910.
- O'SULLIVAN, S. E., SUN, Y., BENNETT, A. J., RANDALL, M. D. & KENDALL, D. A. 2009. Time-dependent vascular actions of cannabidiol in the rat aorta. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 612, 61-68.

OBARA, Y., UENO, S., YANAGIHATA, Y. & NAKAHATA, N. 2011.

Lysophosphatidylinositol causes neurite retraction via GPR55, G13 and RhoA in PC12 cells. *PLOS ONE*, 6, e24284.

- OBATA, Y. & ISHIKAWA, Y. 1966. Studies on the Constituents of Hemp Plant (Cannabis sativa L.) Part III. Isolation of a Gibbs-positive Compound from Japanese Hemp. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry*, 30, 619-620.
- OIKAWA, T., NONAKA, T., TERADA, M., TAMAOKA, A., HISANAGA, S.-I. & HASEGAWA, M. 2016. α-Synuclein Fibrils Exhibit Gain of Toxic Function, Promoting Tau Aggregation and Inhibiting Microtubule Assembly. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 291, 15046-15056.
- OLEJAR, K. J. & KINNEY, C. A. 2021. Evaluation of thermo-chemical conversion temperatures of cannabinoid acids in hemp (Cannabis sativa L.) biomass by pressurized liquid extraction. *Journal of Cannabis Research*, 3, 40.
- OLSEN, T., GOLL, R., CUI, G., HUSEBEKK, A., VONEN, B., BIRKETVEDT, G. S. & FLORHOLMEN, J. 2007. Tissue levels of tumor necrosis factor-alpha correlates with grade of inflammation in untreated ulcerative colitis. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, 42, 1312-1320.
- ONO, K. & TSUJI, M. 2020. Protofibrils of Amyloid-β are Important Targets of a Disease-Modifying Approach for Alzheimer's Disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21, 952.
- PAGANO, E., CAPASSO, R., PISCITELLI, F., ROMANO, B., PARISI, O. A., FINIZIO, S., LAURITANO, A., MARZO, V. D., IZZO, A. A. & BORRELLI, F. 2016. An Orally Active Cannabis Extract with High Content in Cannabidiol attenuates Chemicallyinduced Intestinal Inflammation and Hypermotility in the Mouse. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 7, 341.
- PAGANO, E., IANNOTTI, F. A., PISCITELLI, F., ROMANO, B., LUCARIELLO, G., VENNERI, T., DI MARZO, V., IZZO, A. A. & BORRELLI, F. 2021. Efficacy of combined therapy with fish oil and phytocannabinoids in murine intestinal inflammation. *Phytotherapy Research*, 35, 517-529.

PAGANO, E., ROMANO, B., IANNOTTI, F. A., PARISI, O. A., D'ARMIENTO, M.,

PIGNATIELLO, S., CORETTI, L., LUCAFÒ, M., VENNERI, T., STOCCO, G., LEMBO, F., ORLANDO, P., CAPASSO, R., DI MARZO, V., IZZO, A. A. & BORRELLI, F. 2019. The non-euphoric phytocannabinoid cannabidivarin counteracts intestinal inflammation in mice and cytokine expression in biopsies from UC pediatric patients. *Pharmacological Research*, 149, 104464.

- PAMPLONA, F. A., DA SILVA, L. R. & COAN, A. C. 2018. Potential Clinical Benefits of CBD-Rich Cannabis Extracts Over Purified CBD in Treatment-Resistant Epilepsy: Observational Data Meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 9, 759.
- PARONIS, C. A., NIKAS, S. P., SHUKLA, V. G. & MAKRIYANNIS, A. 2012. Δ(9)-Tetrahydrocannabinol acts as a partial agonist/antagonist in mice. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, 23, 802-805.

PATTI, F., MESSINA, S., SOLARO, C., AMATO, M. P., BERGAMASCHI, R.,
BONAVITA, S., BRUNO BOSSIO, R., BRESCIA MORRA, V., COSTANTINO, G.
F., CAVALLA, P., CENTONZE, D., COMI, G., COTTONE, S., DANNI, M.,
FRANCIA, A., GAJOFATTO, A., GASPERINI, C., GHEZZI, A., IUDICE, A., LUS,
G., MANISCALCO, G. T., MARROSU, M. G., MATTA, M., MIRABELLA, M.,
MONTANARI, E., POZZILLI, C., ROVARIS, M., SESSA, E., SPITALERI, D.,
TROJANO, M., VALENTINO, P. & ZAPPIA, M. 2016. Efficacy and safety of
cannabinoid oromucosal spray for multiple sclerosis spasticity. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 87, 944.

- PEREIRA, S. R., HACKETT, B., O'DRISCOLL, D. N., SUN, M. C. & DOWNER, E. J.
 2021. Cannabidiol modulation of oxidative stress and signalling. *Neuronal Signaling*,
 5, NS20200080.
- PERL, D. P. 2010. Neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease. The Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine, New York, 77, 32-42.

PERTWEE, R. G. 2006. Cannabinoid pharmacology: the first 66 years. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 147 Suppl 1, S163-S171.

PETROSINO, S., VERDE, R., VAIA, M., ALLARÀ, M., IUVONE, T. & DI MARZO, V. 2018. Anti-inflammatory Properties of Cannabidiol, a Nonpsychotropic Cannabinoid, in Experimental Allergic Contact Dermatitis. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 365, 652-663.

- PIETTA, P.-G. 2000. Flavonoids as Antioxidants. *Journal of Natural Products*, 63, 1035-1042.
- PIZZOLATO, J. F. & SALTZ, L. B. 2003. The camptothecins. The Lancet, 361, 2235-2242.
- POLLASTRO, F., CAPRIOGLIO, D., DEL PRETE, D., ROGATI, F., MINASSI, A., TAGLIALATELA-SCAFATI, O., MUNOZ, E. & APPENDINO, G. 2018. Cannabichromene. *Natural Product Communications*, 13, 1189-1194
- PRANDI, C., BLANGETTI, M., NAMDAR, D. & KOLTAI, H. 2018. Structure-Activity Relationship of Cannabis Derived Compounds for the Treatment of Neuronal Activity-Related Diseases. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 23, 1526.
- PRESENT, D. H., RUTGEERTS, P., TARGAN, S., HANAUER, S. B., MAYER, L., VAN HOGEZAND, R. A., PODOLSKY, D. K., SANDS, B. E., BRAAKMAN, T., DEWOODY, K. L., SCHAIBLE, T. F. & VAN DEVENTER, S. J. H. 1999.
 Infliximab for the Treatment of Fistulas in Patients with Crohn's Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 340, 1398-1405.
- PRINCE, M., GUERCHET, M. & PRINA, M. 2015a. The Epidemiology and Impact of Dementia-Current State and Future Trends. WHO Thematic Briefing.
- PRINCE, M. J., WIMO, A., GUERCHET, M. M., ALI, G. C., WU, Y.-T. & PRINA, M. 2015b. World Alzheimer Report 2015 - The Global Impact of Dementia, London, Alzheimer's Disease International.
- PRISCIANDARO, L. D., GEIER, M. S., BUTLER, R. N., CUMMINS, A. G. & HOWARTH,G. S. 2011. Evidence Supporting the use of Probiotics for the Prevention and
Treatment of Chemotherapy-Induced Intestinal Mucositis. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 51, 239-247.

- PUNCHARD, N. A., GREENFIELD, S. M. & THOMPSON, R. P. H. 1992. Mechanism of action of 5-arninosalicylic acid. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 1, 151-165.
- QIU, C., KIVIPELTO, M. & VON STRAUSS, E. 2009. Epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease: occurrence, determinants, and strategies toward intervention. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 11, 111-128.
- QUIROZ-BAEZ, R., ROJAS, E. & ARIAS, C. 2009. Oxidative stress promotes JNKdependent amyloidogenic processing of normally expressed human APP by differential modification of α-, β- and γ-secretase expression. *Neurochemistry International*, 55, 662-670.
- RAJA, A., AHMADI, S., DE COSTA, F., LI, N. & KERMAN, K. 2020. Attenuation of Oxidative Stress by Cannabinoids and Cannabis Extracts in Differentiated Neuronal Cells. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel, Switzerland)*, 13, 328.
- RAWAT, M., NIGHOT, M., AL-SADI, R., GUPTA, Y., VISZWAPRIYA, D., YOCHUM,
 G., KOLTUN, W. & MA, T. Y. 2020. IL1B Increases Intestinal Tight Junction
 Permeability by Up-regulation of MIR200C-3p, Which Degrades Occludin mRNA. *Gastroenterology*, 159, 1375-1389.
- RAZDAN, R. K. 1986. Structure-activity relationships in cannabinoids. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 38, 75-149.
- REA, K. A., CASARETTO, J. A., AL-ABDUL-WAHID, M. S., SUKUMARAN, A.,
 GEDDES-MCALISTER, J., ROTHSTEIN, S. J. & AKHTAR, T. A. 2019.
 Biosynthesis of cannflavins A and B from Cannabis sativa L. *Phytochemistry*, 164, 162-171.
- REEKIE, T. A., SCOTT, M. P. & KASSIOU, M. 2017. The evolving science of phytocannabinoids. *Nature Reviews Chemistry*, 2, 0101.

RHEE, M.-H., VOGEL, Z., BARG, J., BAYEWITCH, M., LEVY, R., HANUŠ, L., BREUER, A. & MECHOULAM, R. 1997. Cannabinol Derivatives: Binding to Cannabinoid Receptors and Inhibition of Adenylylcyclase. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 40, 3228-3233.

- RICCIARDI, M., ZANOTTO, M., MALPELI, G., BASSI, G., PERBELLINI, O., CHILOSI,
 M., BIFARI, F. & KRAMPERA, M. 2015. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
 (EMT) induced by inflammatory priming elicits mesenchymal stromal cell-like
 immune-modulatory properties in cancer cells. *British Journal of Cancer*, 112, 1067-1075.
- ROBERT J.J.CH, L., LUDWIG BERCHT, C. A., VAN OOYEN, R. & SPRONCK, H. J. W. 1977. Cannabinodiol: Conclusive identification and synthesis of a new cannabinoid from Cannabis sativa. *Phytochemistry*, 16, 595-597.
- ROCCA, W. A. 2018. The burden of Parkinson's disease: a worldwide perspective. *The Lancet Neurology*, 17, 928-929.
- ROCK, E. M., GOODWIN, J. M., LIMEBEER, C. L., BREUER, A., PERTWEE, R. G., MECHOULAM, R. & PARKER, L. A. 2011. Interaction between non-psychotropic cannabinoids in marihuana: effect of cannabigerol (CBG) on the anti-nausea or antiemetic effects of cannabidiol (CBD) in rats and shrews. *Psychopharmacology*, 215, 505-512.
- RODRÍGUEZ-DAZA, M. C., PULIDO-MATEOS, E. C., LUPIEN-MEILLEUR, J., GUYONNET, D., DESJARDINS, Y. & ROY, D. 2021. Polyphenol-Mediated Gut Microbiota Modulation: Toward Prebiotics and Further. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 8, 689456.
- ROMANO, B., BORRELLI, F., FASOLINO, I., CAPASSO, R., PISCITELLI, F., CASCIO,
 M., PERTWEE, R., COPPOLA, D., VASSALLO, L., ORLANDO, P., DI MARZO,
 V. & IZZO, A. 2013. The cannabinoid TRPA1 agonist cannabichromene inhibits

nitric oxide production in macrophages and ameliorates murine colitis. *British Journal* of Pharmacology, 169, 213-229.

- ROSENTHALER, S., PÖHN, B., KOLMANZ, C., NGUYEN HUU, C., KREWENKA, C., HUBER, A., KRANNER, B., RAUSCH, W.-D. & MOLDZIO, R. 2014. Differences in receptor binding affinity of several phytocannabinoids do not explain their effects on neural cell cultures. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 46, 49-56.
- ROSS, R. A. 2009. The enigmatic pharmacology of GPR55. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 30, 156-163.
- RUSSO, C., LAVORGNA, M., NUGNES, R., ORLO, E. & ISIDORI, M. 2021. Comparative assessment of antimicrobial, antiradical and cytotoxic activities of cannabidiol and its propyl analogue cannabidivarin. *Scientific Reports*, 11, 22494.
- RUSSO, E. B. 2011. Taming THC: potential cannabis synergy and phytocannabinoidterpenoid entourage effects. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 163, 1344-1364.
- RUSSO, E. B. 2016. Beyond Cannabis: Plants and the Endocannabinoid System. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 37, 594-605.
- RUSSO, E. B. 2019. The Case for the Entourage Effect and Conventional Breeding of Clinical Cannabis: No "Strain," No Gain. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 9, 1969.
- RUSSO, E. B. & MARCU, J. 2017. Chapter Three Cannabis Pharmacology: The Usual Suspects and a Few Promising Leads. *In:* KENDALL, D. & ALEXANDER, S. P. H. (eds.) *Advances in Pharmacology*. Academic Press.
- SAGREDO, O., PAZOS, M. R., SATTA, V., RAMOS, J. A., PERTWEE, R. G. & FERNÁNDEZ-RUIZ, J. 2011. Neuroprotective effects of phytocannabinoid-based medicines in experimental models of Huntington's disease. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 89, 1509-1518.
- SAGREDO, O., RAMOS, J. A., DECIO, A., MECHOULAM, R. & FERNÁNDEZ-RUIZ, J. 2007. Cannabidiol reduced the striatal atrophy caused 3-nitropropionic acid in vivo by

mechanisms independent of the activation of cannabinoid, vanilloid TRPV1 and adenosine A2A receptors. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 26, 843-851.

- SAHU, B. D., KUMAR, J. M. & SISTLA, R. 2016. Fisetin, a dietary flavonoid, ameliorates experimental colitis in mice: Relevance of NF-κB signaling. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 28, 171-182.
- SALARITABAR, A., DARVISHI, B., HADJIAKHOONDI, F., MANAYI, A., SUREDA, A., NABAVI, S. F., FITZPATRICK, L. R., NABAVI, S. M. & BISHAYEE, A. 2017.
 Therapeutic potential of flavonoids in inflammatory bowel disease: A comprehensive review. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 23, 5097-5114.
- SALMON, D. P. & BONDI, M. W. 2009. Neuropsychological assessment of dementia. Annual Review of Psychology, 60, 257-282.
- SÁNCHEZ-TILLÓ, E., LÁZARO, A., TORRENT, R., CUATRECASAS, M., VAQUERO,
 E. C., CASTELLS, A., ENGEL, P. & POSTIGO, A. 2010. ZEB1 represses E-cadherin and induces an EMT by recruiting the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling protein BRG1. *Oncogene*, 29, 3490-3500.
- SANDS, B. E. & KAPLAN, G. G. 2007. The Role of TNFα in Ulcerative Colitis. *The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 47, 930-941.
- SANTOS, N. A. G., MARTINS, N. M., SISTI, F. M., FERNANDES, L. S., FERREIRA, R. S., QUEIROZ, R. H. C. & SANTOS, A. C. 2015. The neuroprotection of cannabidiol against MPP+-induced toxicity in PC12 cells involves trkA receptors, upregulation of axonal and synaptic proteins, neuritogenesis, and might be relevant to Parkinson's disease. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 30, 231-240.
- SATO, M., MURAKAMI, K., UNO, M., NAKAGAWA, Y., KATAYAMA, S., AKAGI, K.-I., MASUDA, Y., TAKEGOSHI, K. & IRIE, K. 2013. Site-specific inhibitory mechanism for amyloid β42 aggregation by catechol-type flavonoids targeting the Lys residues. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288, 23212-23224.

- SCHIPPER, H. M. 2004. Heme oxygenase expression in human central nervous system disorders. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 37, 1995-2011.
- SCHREIBER, S., NIKOLAUS, S., HAMPE, J., HÄMLING, J., KOOP, I., GROESSNER, B., LOCHS, H. & RAEDLER, A. 1999. Tumour necrosis factor α and interleukin 1β in relapse of Crohn's disease. *The Lancet*, 353, 459-461.
- SCHUBERT, D., KEPCHIA, D., LIANG, Z., DARGUSCH, R., GOLDBERG, J. & MAHER,
 P. 2019. Efficacy of Cannabinoids in a Pre-Clinical Drug-Screening Platform for
 Alzheimer's Disease. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 56, 7719-7730.
- SCUDERI, C., STEARDO, L. & ESPOSITO, G. 2014. Cannabidiol Promotes Amyloid Precursor Protein Ubiquitination and Reduction of Beta Amyloid Expression in SHSY5YAPP+ Cells Through PPARγ Involvement. *Phytotherapy Research*, 28, 1007-1013.
- SELTZER, E. S., WATTERS, A. K., MACKENZIE, D., JR., GRANAT, L. M. & ZHANG,D. 2020. Cannabidiol (CBD) as a Promising Anti-Cancer Drug. *Cancers*, 12, 3203.
- SHANI, A. & MECHOULAM, R. 1974. Cannabielsoic acids: Isolation and synthesis by a novel oxidative cyclization. *Tetrahedron*, 30, 2437-2446.
- SHARMA, K. 2019. Cholinesterase inhibitors as Alzheimer's therapeutics (Review). Molecular Medicine Reports, 20, 1479-1487.
- SHEN, M. & THAYER, S. A. 1999. Δ9-Tetrahydrocannabinol Acts as a Partial Agonist to Modulate Glutamatergic Synaptic Transmission between Rat Hippocampal Neurons in Culture. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 55, 8-13.
- SHI, C.-J., WEN, X.-S., GAO, H.-F., LIU, Z.-H., XU, X.-K., LI, L.-F., SHEN, T. & XIAN, C. J. 2016. Steamed root of Rehmannia glutinosa Libosch (Plantaginaceae) alleviates methotrexate-induced intestinal mucositis in rats. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 183, 143-150.
- SHIMMYO, Y., KIHARA, T., AKAIKE, A., NIIDOME, T. & SUGIMOTO, H. 2008. Three distinct neuroprotective functions of myricetin against glutamate-induced neuronal

cell death: Involvement of direct inhibition of caspase-3. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 86, 1836-1845.

SHIN, M., LIU, Q. F., CHOI, B., SHIN, C., LEE, B., YUAN, C., SONG, Y. J., YUN, H. S., LEE, I.-S., KOO, B.-S. & CHO, K. S. 2020. Neuroprotective Effects of Limonene (+) against Aβ42-Induced Neurotoxicity in a Drosophila Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 43, 409-417.

- SHIN, Y. S., SHIN, H. A., KANG, S. U., KIM, J. H., OH, Y.-T., PARK, K. H. & KIM, C.-H. 2013. Effect of Epicatechin against Radiation-Induced Oral Mucositis: In Vitro and In Vivo Study. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e69151.
- SHINJYO, N. & DI MARZO, V. 2013. The effect of cannabichromene on adult neural stem/progenitor cells. *Neurochemistry International*, 63, 432-437.
- SHMUELI, E. & RECORD, C. O. 1994. Adverse Effects of the Aminosalicylates. Adverse Drug Reaction Bulletin, 165, 623-626.
- SHOYAMA, Y., FUJITA, T., YAMAUCHI, T. & NISHIOKA, I. 1968. Cannabichromenic Acid, a Genuine Substance of Cannabichromene. *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 16, 1157-1158.
- SHOYAMA, Y., OKU, R., YAMAUCHI, T. & NISHIOKA, I. 1972. Cannabis. VI. Cannabicyclolic Acid. *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 20, 1927-1930.
- SINHA, S., LOPES, D. H. J. & BITAN, G. 2012. A key role for lysine residues in amyloid βprotein folding, assembly, and toxicity. *ACS Chemical Neuroscience*, *3*, 473-481.
- SLIFER, Z. M. & BLIKSLAGER, A. T. 2020. The Integral Role of Tight Junction Proteins in the Repair of Injured Intestinal Epithelium. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21, 972.
- ŠMEJKAL, K. 2014. Cytotoxic potential of C-prenylated flavonoids. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 13, 245-275.
- SMITH, M. A., HIRAI, K., HSIAO, K., PAPPOLLA, M. A., HARRIS, P. L. R., SIEDLAK, S. L., TABATON, M. & PERRY, G. 1998. Amyloid-β Deposition in Alzheimer

Transgenic Mice Is Associated with Oxidative Stress. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 70, 2212-2215.

- SOLAS, M., FRANCIS, P. T., FRANCO, R. & RAMIREZ, M. J. 2013. CB2 receptor and amyloid pathology in frontal cortex of Alzheimer's disease patients. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 34, 805-808.
- SOLOWIJ, N., WALTERFANG, M., LUBMAN, D. I., WHITTLE, S., LORENZETTI, V., STYNER, M., VELAKOULIS, D., PANTELIS, C. & YÜCEL, M. 2013. Alteration to hippocampal shape in cannabis users with and without schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 143, 179-184.
- SONIS, S. T. 2004. The pathobiology of mucositis. Nature Reviews Cancer, 4, 277-284.
- SONIS, S. T., ELTING, L. S., KEEFE, D., PETERSON, D. E., SCHUBERT, M., HAUER-JENSEN, M., BEKELE, B. N., RABER-DURLACHER, J., DONNELLY, J. P. & RUBENSTEIN, E. B. 2004. Perspectives on cancer therapy-induced mucosal injury. *Cancer*, 100, 1995-2025.
- SOUGIANNIS, A. T., VANDERVEEN, B. N., DAVIS, J. M., FAN, D. & MURPHY, E. A. 2021. Understanding chemotherapy-induced intestinal mucositis and strategies to improve gut resilience. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 320, G712-G719.
- SPIRES, T. L. & HYMAN, B. T. 2004. Neuronal Structure is Altered by Amyloid Plaques. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 15, 267-278.
- SPIRES, T. L., MEYER-LUEHMANN, M., STERN, E. A., MCLEAN, P. J., SKOCH, J., NGUYEN, P. T., BACSKAI, B. J. & HYMAN, B. T. 2005. Dendritic Spine Abnormalities in Amyloid Precursor Protein Transgenic Mice Demonstrated by Gene Transfer and Intravital Multiphoton Microscopy. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 25, 7278-7287.

STAMPANONI BASSI, M., SANCESARIO, A., MORACE, R., CENTONZE, D. & IEZZI,
E. 2017. Cannabinoids in Parkinson's Disease. *Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research*, 2, 21-29.

- STARKUS, J., JANSEN, C., SHIMODA, L. M. N., STOKES, A. J., SMALL-HOWARD, A. L. & TURNER, H. 2019. Diverse TRPV1 responses to cannabinoids. *Channels (Austin, Tex.)*, 13, 172-191.
- STERN, E. & LAMBERT, D. M. 2007. Medicinal Chemistry Endeavors around the Phytocannabinoids. *Chemistry & Biodiversity*, 4, 1707-1728.
- SULTANI, M., STRINGER, A. M., BOWEN, J. M. & GIBSON, R. J. 2012. Antiinflammatory cytokines: important immunoregulatory factors contributing to chemotherapy-induced gastrointestinal mucositis. *Chemotherapy Research and Practice*, 2012, 490804.
- SUN, H., CHOW, E. C. Y., LIU, S., DU, Y. & PANG, K. S. 2008. The Caco-2 cell monolayer: usefulness and limitations. *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology*, 4, 395-411.
- SUN, R., ZHU, L., LI, L., SONG, W., GONG, X., QI, X., WANG, Y., GHOSE, R., GAO, S., HU, M. & LIU, Z. 2020. Irinotecan-mediated diarrhea is mainly correlated with intestinal exposure to SN-38: Critical role of gut Ugt. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 398, 115032.
- SUN, S., HU, F., WU, J. & ZHANG, S. 2017. Cannabidiol attenuates OGD/R-induced damage by enhancing mitochondrial bioenergetics and modulating glucose metabolism via pentose-phosphate pathway in hippocampal neurons. *Redox Biology*, 11, 577-585.
- SUZUKI, T. 2020. Regulation of the intestinal barrier by nutrients: The role of tight junctions. *Animal Science Journal = Nihon Chikusan Gakkaiho*, 91, e13357.

- SUZUKI, T. & HARA, H. 2009. Quercetin Enhances Intestinal Barrier Function through the Assembly of Zonnula Occludens-2, Occludin, and Claudin-1 and the Expression of Claudin-4 in Caco-2 Cells. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 139, 965-974.
- TALARICO, G., TREBBASTONI, A., BRUNO, G. & DE LENA, C. 2019. Modulation of the Cannabinoid System: A New Perspective for the Treatment of the Alzheimer's Disease. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 17, 176-183.
- TAN, S., SCHUBERT, D. & MAHER, P. 2001. Oxytosis: A Novel Form of Programmed Cell Death. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, 1, 497-506.
- TAURA, F., TANAKA, S., TAGUCHI, C., FUKAMIZU, T., TANAKA, H., SHOYAMA, Y.
 & MORIMOTO, S. 2009. Characterization of olivetol synthase, a polyketide synthase putatively involved in cannabinoid biosynthetic pathway. *FEBS Letters*, 583, 2061-2066.
- THAPA, D., CAIRNS, E. A., SZCZESNIAK, A.-M., TOGURI, J. T., CALDWELL, M. D. & KELLY, M. E. M. 2018. The Cannabinoids Δ(8)THC, CBD, and HU-308 Act via Distinct Receptors to Reduce Corneal Pain and Inflammation. *Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research*, 3, 11-20.
- TICINESI, A., TANA, C., NOUVENNE, A., PRATI, B., LAURETANI, F. & MESCHI, T. 2018. Gut microbiota, cognitive frailty and dementia in older individuals: a systematic review. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, 13, 1497-1511.
- TOKALOV, S. V., KIND, B., WOLLENWEBER, E. & GUTZEIT, H. O. 2004. Biological Effects of Epicuticular Flavonoids from Primula denticulata on Human Leukemia Cells. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52, 239-245.
- TÖNNIES, E. & TRUSHINA, E. 2017. Oxidative Stress, Synaptic Dysfunction, and Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD*, 57, 1105-1121.
- TORTORIELLO, G., MORRIS, C. V., ALPAR, A., FUZIK, J., SHIRRAN, S. L., CALVIGIONI, D., KEIMPEMA, E., BOTTING, C. H., REINECKE, K., HERDEGEN, T., COURTNEY, M., HURD, Y. L. & HARKANY, T. 2014. 219

Miswiring the brain: Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol disrupts cortical development by inducing an SCG10/stathmin-2 degradation pathway. *The EMBO Journal*, 33, 668-685.

TOUCHEFEU, Y., MONTASSIER, E., NIEMAN, K., GASTINNE, T., POTEL, G.,
BRULEY DES VARANNES, S., LE VACON, F. & DE LA COCHETIÈRE, M. F.
2014. Systematic review: the role of the gut microbiota in chemotherapy- or radiationinduced gastrointestinal mucositis – current evidence and potential clinical
applications. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 40, 409-421.

- TSAI, J., GRUTZENDLER, J., DUFF, K. & GAN, W.-B. 2004. Fibrillar amyloid deposition leads to local synaptic abnormalities and breakage of neuronal branches. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7, 1181-1183.
- TURNER, C. E., ELSOHLY, M. A. & BOEREN, E. G. 1980. Constituents of Cannabis sativa L. XVII. A Review of the Natural Constituents. *Journal of Natural Products*, 43, 169-234.
- TURNER, S. E., WILLIAMS, C. M., IVERSEN, L. & WHALLEY, B. J. 2017. Molecular Pharmacology of Phytocannabinoids. *In:* KINGHORN, A. D., FALK, H., GIBBONS,
 S. & KOBAYASHI, J. I. (eds.) *Phytocannabinoids: Unraveling the Complex Chemistry and Pharmacology of Cannabis sativa.* Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- UDOH, M., SANTIAGO, M., DEVENISH, S., MCGREGOR, I. S. & CONNOR, M. 2019. Cannabichromene is a cannabinoid CB2 receptor agonist. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 176, 4537-4547.
- ULISS, D. B., RAZDAN, R. K. & DALZELL, H. C. 1974. Stereospecific intramolecular epoxide cleavage by phenolate anion. Synthesis of novel and biologically active cannabinoids. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 96, 7372-7374.

UMEDA, T., RAMSER, E. M., YAMASHITA, M., NAKAJIMA, K., MORI, H., SILVERMAN, M. A. & TOMIYAMA, T. 2015. Intracellular amyloid β oligomers 220 impair organelle transport and induce dendritic spine loss in primary neurons. *Acta Neuropathologica Communications*, 3, 51.

VALDEOLIVAS, S., NAVARRETE, C., CANTARERO, I., BELLIDO, M. L., MUÑOZ, E.
& SAGREDO, O. 2015. Neuroprotective properties of cannabigerol in Huntington's disease: studies in R6/2 mice and 3-nitropropionate-lesioned mice. *Neurotherapeutics : the Journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics*, 12, 185-199.

- VALDES, A. M., WALTER, J., SEGAL, E. & SPECTOR, T. D. 2018. Role of the gut microbiota in nutrition and health. *BMJ*, 361.
- VALLÉE, A. & LECARPENTIER, Y. 2016. Alzheimer Disease: Crosstalk between the Canonical Wnt/Beta-Catenin Pathway and PPARs Alpha and Gamma. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 10, 459.
- VALLÉE, A., LECARPENTIER, Y., GUILLEVIN, R. & VALLÉE, J.-N. 2017. Effects of cannabidiol interactions with Wnt/β-catenin pathway and PPARγ on oxidative stress and neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica*, 49, 853-866.
- VARGAS, J. Y., FUENZALIDA, M. & INESTROSA, N. C. 2014. In vivo activation of Wnt signaling pathway enhances cognitive function of adult mice and reverses cognitive deficits in an Alzheimer's disease model. *The Journal of Neuroscience : the Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 34, 2191-2202.
- VECCHIO, I., SORRENTINO, L., PAOLETTI, A., MARRA, R. & ARBITRIO, M. 2021. The State of The Art on Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitors in the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Central Nervous System Disease*, 13, 11795735211029113.
- VEHVILÄINEN, P., KOISTINAHO, J. & GUNDARS, G. 2014. Mechanisms of mutant SOD1 induced mitochondrial toxicity in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 8, 126.

VELANDER, P., WU, L., HENDERSON, F., ZHANG, S., BEVAN, D. R. & XU, B. 2017. Natural product-based amyloid inhibitors. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 139, 40-55.

- VERESS, T., SZANTO, J. I. & LEISZTNER, L. 1990. Determination of cannabinoid acids by high-performance liquid chromatography of their neutral derivatives formed by thermal decarboxylation: I. Study of the decarboxylation process in open reactors. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 520, 339-347.
- VEZZA, T., RODRÍGUEZ-NOGALES, A., ALGIERI, F., UTRILLA, M. P., RODRIGUEZ-CABEZAS, M. E. & GALVEZ, J. 2016. Flavonoids in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Review. *Nutrients*, 8, 211.
- VOGT, N. M., KERBY, R. L., DILL-MCFARLAND, K. A., HARDING, S. J., MERLUZZI,
 A. P., JOHNSON, S. C., CARLSSON, C. M., ASTHANA, S., ZETTERBERG, H.,
 BLENNOW, K., BENDLIN, B. B. & REY, F. E. 2017. Gut microbiome alterations in
 Alzheimer's disease. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 13537.
- VREE, T. B., BREIMER, D. D., VAN GINNEKEN, C. A. M. & VAN ROSSUM, J. M. 1972. Identification of cannabicyclol with a pentyl or propyl side-chain by means of combined as chromatography—mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 74, 124-127.
- VULLIEMOZ, M., BRAND, S., JUILLERAT, P., MOTTET, C., BEN-HORIN, S. &
 MICHETTI, P. 2020. TNF-Alpha Blockers in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: Practical
 Recommendations and a User's Guide: An Update. *Digestion*, 101(suppl 1), 16-26.
- WALJEE, A. K., WIITALA, W. L., GOVANI, S., STIDHAM, R., SAINI, S., HOU, J.,
 FEAGINS, L. A., KHAN, N., GOOD, C. B., VIJAN, S. & HIGGINS, P. D. R. 2016.
 Corticosteroid Use and Complications in a US Inflammatory Bowel Disease Cohort. *PLOS ONE*, 11, e0158017.
- WALKER, O. L. S., GURM, H., SHARMA, R., VERMA, N., MAY, L. L. & RAHA, S.2021. Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol inhibits invasion of HTR8/SVneo human

extravillous trophoblast cells and negatively impacts mitochondrial function. *Scientific Reports*, 11, 4029.

- WALLACE, B. D., WANG, H., LANE, K. T., SCOTT, J. E., ORANS, J., KOO, J. S.,
 VENKATESH, M., JOBIN, C., YEH, L.-A., MANI, S. & REDINBO, M. R. 2010.
 Alleviating Cancer Drug Toxicity by Inhibiting a Bacterial Enzyme. *Science*, 330, 831-835.
- WALLE, U. K. & WALLE, T. 2002. Induction of Human UDP-Glucuronosyltransferase UGT1A1 by Flavonoids—Structural Requirements. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, 30, 564-569.
- WANG, D., HO, L., FAITH, J., ONO, K., JANLE, E. M., LACHCIK, P. J., COOPER, B. R., JANNASCH, A. H., D'ARCY, B. R., WILLIAMS, B. A., FERRUZZI, M. G., LEVINE, S., ZHAO, W., DUBNER, L. & PASINETTI, G. M. 2015. Role of intestinal microbiota in the generation of polyphenol-derived phenolic acid mediated attenuation of Alzheimer's disease β-amyloid oligomerization. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 59, 1025-1040.
- WANG, L., GAO, M., KANG, G. & HUANG, H. 2021. The Potential Role of Phytonutrients Flavonoids Influencing Gut Microbiota in the Prophylaxis and Treatment of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 8, 798038.
- WANG, M., WANG, Y.-H., AVULA, B., RADWAN, M. M., WANAS, A. S., VAN ANTWERP, J., PARCHER, J. F., ELSOHLY, M. A. & KHAN, I. A. 2016.
 Decarboxylation Study of Acidic Cannabinoids: A Novel Approach Using Ultra-High-Performance Supercritical Fluid Chromatography/Photodiode Array-Mass Spectrometry. *Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research*, 1, 262-271.
- WANG, X. & GAO, Y. 2018. Effects of length and unsaturation of the alkyl chain on the hydrophobic binding of curcumin with Tween micelles. *Food Chemistry*, 246, 242-248.

- WANG, X., WANG, Z., YAO, Y., LI, J., ZHANG, X., LI, C., CHENG, Y., DING, G., LIU,
 L. & DING, Z. 2011. Essential role of ERK activation in neurite outgrowth induced by
 α-lipoic acid. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Cell Research*, 1813, 827-838.
- WARDILL, H. R., BOWEN, J. M., AL-DASOOQI, N., SULTANI, M., BATEMAN, E., STANSBOROUGH, R., SHIRREN, J. & GIBSON, R. J. 2014. Irinotecan disrupts tight junction proteins within the gut : implications for chemotherapy-induced gut toxicity. *Cancer Biology & Therapy*, 15, 236-244.
- WATT, G. & KARL, T. 2017. In vivo Evidence for Therapeutic Properties of Cannabidiol (CBD) for Alzheimer's Disease. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 8, 20.
- WERZ, O., SEEGERS, J., SCHAIBLE, A. M., WEINIGEL, C., BARZ, D., KOEBERLE, A., ALLEGRONE, G., POLLASTRO, F., ZAMPIERI, L., GRASSI, G. & APPENDINO, G. 2014. Cannflavins from hemp sprouts, a novel cannabinoid-free hemp food product, target microsomal prostaglandin E2 synthase-1 and 5-lipoxygenase. *PharmaNutrition*, 2, 53-60.
- WESTON-GREEN, K. 2019. The United Chemicals of Cannabis: Beneficial Effects of Cannabis Phytochemicals on the Brain and Cognition. *In:* COSTAIN, W. J. & LAPRAIRIE, R. B. (eds.) *Recent Advances in Cannabinoid Research*. IntechOpen.
- WEYDT, P., HONG, S., WITTING, A., MÖLLER, T., STELLA, N. & KLIOT, M. 2005. Cannabinol delays symptom onset in SOD1 (G93A) transgenic mice without affecting survival. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis*, 6, 182-184.
- WIMO, A., GUERCHET, M., ALI, G.-C., WU, Y.-T., PRINA, A. M., WINBLAD, B., JÖNSSON, L., LIU, Z. & PRINCE, M. 2017. The worldwide costs of dementia 2015 and comparisons with 2010. *Alzheimer's & Dementia : the Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 13, 1-7.

WIRGUIN, I., MECHOULAM, R., BREUER, A., SCHEZEN, E., WEIDENFELD, J. & BRENNER, T. 1994. Suppression of experimetal autoimmune encephalomyelitis by

cannabinoids. *Immunopharmacology*, 28, 209-214.

- WIRTH, P. W., SUE WATSON, E., ELSOHLY, M., TURNER, C. E. & MURPHY, J. C. 1980. Anti-inflammatory properties of cannabichromene. *Life Sciences*, 26, 1991-1995.
- WOLFF, V., SCHLAGOWSKI, A.-I., ROUYER, O., CHARLES, A.-L., SINGH, F.,
 AUGER, C., SCHINI-KERTH, V., MARESCAUX, C., RAUL, J.-S., ZOLL, J. &
 GENY, B. 2015. Tetrahydrocannabinol Induces Brain Mitochondrial Respiratory
 Chain Dysfunction and Increases Oxidative Stress: A Potential Mechanism Involved
 in Cannabis-Related Stroke. *BioMed Research International*, 2015, 323706.
- WONG, Y. C. & KRAINC, D. 2017. α-synuclein toxicity in neurodegeneration: mechanism and therapeutic strategies. *Nature Medicine*, 23, 1-13.
- WOOD, T. B., SPIVEY, W. T. N. & EASTERFIELD, T. H. 1896. XL.—Charas. The resin of Indian hemp. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Transactions*, 69, 539-546.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2017. Global action plan on the public health response to dementia 2017–2025.
- WU, H.-Y., HUDRY, E., HASHIMOTO, T., KUCHIBHOTLA, K., ROZKALNE, A., FAN,
 Z., SPIRES-JONES, T., XIE, H., ARBEL-ORNATH, M., GROSSKREUTZ, C. L.,
 BACSKAI, B. J. & HYMAN, B. T. 2010. Amyloid beta induces the morphological
 neurodegenerative triad of spine loss, dendritic simplification, and neuritic dystrophies
 through calcineurin activation. *The Journal of Neuroscience : the Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 30, 2636-2649.
- WU, J., BIE, B., YANG, H., XU, J. J., BROWN, D. L. & NAGUIB, M. 2013. Activation of the CB2 receptor system reverses amyloid-induced memory deficiency. *Neurobiology* of Aging, 34, 791-804.

- WU, Y.-T., BEISER, A. S., BRETELER, M. M. B., FRATIGLIONI, L., HELMER, C., HENDRIE, H. C., HONDA, H., IKRAM, M. A., LANGA, K. M., LOBO, A., MATTHEWS, F. E., OHARA, T., PÉRÈS, K., QIU, C., SESHADRI, S., SJÖLUND, B.-M., SKOOG, I. & BRAYNE, C. 2017. The changing prevalence and incidence of dementia over time — current evidence. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 13, 327-339.
- XAVIER, R. J. & PODOLSKY, D. K. 2007. Unravelling the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature*, 448, 427-434.
- XIAOAI, W., HUAWEI, C., LILI, P., GANG, C., FENG, Q., YUNCHUN, L. & ZHENGXIN, C. 2019. Small Molecule Natural Products and Alzheimer's Disease. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, 19, 187-204.
- XU, B., GAO, S., WU, B., YIN, T. & HU, M. 2014. Absolute quantification of UGT1A1 in various tissues and cell lines using isotope label-free UPLC-MS/MS method determines its turnover number and correlates with its glucuronidation activities. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, 88, 180-190.
- YAMAMOTO, I., GOHDA, H., NARIMATSU, S. & YOSHIMURA, H. 1988. Identification of cannabielsoin, a new metabolite of cannabidiol formed by guinea-pig hepatic microsomal enzymes, and its pharmacological activity in mice. *Journal of Pharmacobio-Dynamics*, 11, 833-838.
- YANG, F., DE VILLIERS, W. J. S., MCCLAIN, C. J. & VARILEK, G. W. 1998. Green Tea Polyphenols Block Endotoxin-Induced Tumor Necrosis Factor-Production and Lethality in a Murine Model. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 128, 2334-2340.

YANG, F., LIM, G. P., BEGUM, A. N., UBEDA, O. J., SIMMONS, M. R.,

AMBEGAOKAR, S. S., CHEN, P. P., KAYED, R., GLABE, C. G., FRAUTSCHY, S.
A. & COLE, G. M. 2005. Curcumin Inhibits Formation of Amyloid β Oligomers and
Fibrils, Binds Plaques, and Reduces Amyloid in Vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280, 5892-5901.

YANG, X. X., HU, Z. P., XU, A. L., DUAN, W., ZHU, Y. Z., HUANG, M., SHEU, F. S., ZHANG, Q., BIAN, J. S., CHAN, E., LI, X., WANG, J. C. & ZHOU, S. F. 2006. A mechanistic study on reduced toxicity of irinotecan by coadministered thalidomide, a tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitor. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 319, 82-104.

- YESHI, K., RUSCHER, R., HUNTER, L., DALY, N. L., LOUKAS, A. & WANGCHUK, P. 2020. Revisiting Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Pathology, Treatments, Challenges and Emerging Therapeutics Including Drug Leads from Natural Products. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9, 1273.
- YIANNOPOULOU, K. G. & PAPAGEORGIOU, S. G. 2020. Current and Future Treatments in Alzheimer Disease: An Update. *Journal of Central Nervous System Disease*, 12, 1179573520907397.
- YOKOMIZO, A. & MORIWAKI, M. 2006. Effects of Uptake of Flavonoids on Oxidative Stress Induced by Hydrogen Peroxide in Human Intestinal Caco-2 Cells. *Bioscience*, *Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 70, 1317-1324.
- YUAN, T., MA, H., LIU, W., NIESEN, D. B., SHAH, N., CREWS, R., ROSE, K. N., VATTEM, D. A. & SEERAM, N. P. 2016. Pomegranate's Neuroprotective Effects against Alzheimer's Disease Are Mediated by Urolithins, Its Ellagitannin-Gut Microbial Derived Metabolites. ACS Chemical Neuroscience, 7, 26-33.
- YÜCEL, M., SOLOWIJ, N., RESPONDEK, C., WHITTLE, S., FORNITO, A., PANTELIS,
 C. & LUBMAN, D. I. 2008. Regional Brain Abnormalities Associated With Longterm Heavy Cannabis Use. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65, 694-701.
- YUE, B., GAO, R., LV, C., YU, Z., WANG, H., GENG, X., WANG, Z. & DOU, W. 2021a.
 Berberine Improves Irinotecan-Induced Intestinal Mucositis Without Impairing the
 Anti-colorectal Cancer Efficacy of Irinotecan by Inhibiting Bacterial β-glucuronidase.
 Frontiers in Pharmacology, 12, 774560.

- YUE, B., GAO, R., WANG, Z. & DOU, W. 2021b. Microbiota-Host-Irinotecan Axis: A New Insight Toward Irinotecan Chemotherapy. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 11, 710945.
- ZEISSLER, M.-L., EASTWOOD, J., MCCORRY, K., HANEMANN, C. O., ZAJICEK, J. P. & CARROLL, C. B. 2016. Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol protects against MPP+ toxicity in SH-SY5Y cells by restoring proteins involved in mitochondrial biogenesis. *Oncotarget*, 7, 46603-46614.
- ZHAO, Y. & ZHAO, B. 2013. Oxidative Stress and the Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2013, 316523.
- ZONG, X., CAO, X., WANG, H., XIAO, X., WANG, Y. & LU, Z. 2019. Cathelicidin-WA Facilitated Intestinal Fatty Acid Absorption Through Enhancing PPAR-γ Dependent Barrier Function. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10, 1674.
- ZOU, S. & KUMAR, U. 2018. Cannabinoid Receptors and the Endocannabinoid System: Signaling and Function in the Central Nervous System. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19, 833.
- ZUARDI, A. W. 2006. History of cannabis as a medicine: a review. *Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry*, 28, 153-157.
- ZUO, T., LI, X., CHANG, Y., DUAN, G., YU, L., ZHENG, R., XUE, C. & TANG, Q. 2015. Dietary fucoidan of Acaudina molpadioides and its enzymatically degraded fragments could prevent intestinal mucositis induced by chemotherapy in mice. *Food & Function*, 6, 415-422.
- ZUO, T. & NG, S. C. 2018. The Gut Microbiota in the Pathogenesis and Therapeutics of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9, 2247.